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PRE-LISTING STATEMENT

The definitions and interpretations commencing on page 6 of this Pre-listing Statement apply mutatis mutandis to this cover 
page.

This Pre-listing Statement has been prepared and issued in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements for purposes of providing information 
to the public and potential investors in respect of Avior Holdings and the Group. This Pre-listing Statement is not an invitation to the public 
to subscribe for Shares in Avior Holdings.
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400 000 000 ordinary no par value Shares was approved by Shareholders on 18 January 2016 and filed with and registered by the 
Commission on 25 January 2016.

On the Listing Date, the Issued Share Capital of Avior Holdings will be 146 285 100 ordinary no par value Shares, while the stated capital 
of Avior Holdings will amount to R14 206. As at the Listing Date, no Shares will be held as treasury Shares.

On the Listing Date all Shares in issue shall rank pari passu with each other in all respects, including in respect of voting rights and 
dividends.

Shareholders are advised that their Shares may only be traded on the JSE in Dematerialised Form and accordingly all Shareholders who 
hold their Shares in Certificated Form will have to Dematerialise their Shares in order to trade their Shares on the JSE. Such Shareholders 
must accordingly contact their CSDP or Broker in order to Dematerialise their Shares and are referred to Strate (www.strate.co.za) or the 
JSE (www.jse.co.za) for more detailed information.

The Directors, whose names are set out in paragraph 7.1.1 of this Pre-listing Statement, collectively and individually accept full responsibility 
for the accuracy of the information contained in this Pre-listing Statement which relates to Avior Holdings and, in this regard, certify that, 
to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading, 
and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that this Pre-listing Statement contains all information 
required by the JSE Listings Requirements.

The Independent Reporting Accountants, Transfer Secretaries, Corporarate and Transaction Advisor, Designated Advisor and Legal Advisor, 
whose names appear in the “Corporate Information” section of this Pre-listing Statement, have given and have not, prior to the date of 
this Pre-listing Statement, withdrawn their written consents to the inclusion of their names, and acting in the capacities stated and, where 
applicable, to their reports, being included in this Pre-listing Statement.

An abridged version of this Pre-listing Statement will be published by Avior Holdings on SENS on Tuesday, 30 May 2017.

Designated Advisor Corporate and Transaction Advisor

Auditors and Independent Reporting Accountants Transfer Secretaries Legal Advisor

                   

Date of issue: Tuesday, 30 May 2017

Copies of this Pre-listing Statement are available in English only and may be obtained during normal business hours from Tuesday, 
30 May 2017, until Tuesday, 13 June 2017,  (inclusive) from the registered office of Avior Holdings and from the offices of the Designated 
Adviser at the addresses set out in the “Corporate Information” section. A copy of this Pre-listing Statement has also been made available 
on the Avior Holdings’ website (www.avior.co.za).
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT

This Pre-Listing Statement contains statements about the Group that are or may be forward-looking statements. 
All statements, other than statements of historical fact are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking 
statements, including, without limitation, those concerning: strategy; the economic outlook for the Group; 
growth prospects and outlook for operations, individually or in the aggregate; and liquidity and capital resources 
and expenditure. These forward-looking statements are not based on historical facts, but rather reflect current 
expectations concerning future results and events and generally may be identified by the use of forward-
looking words or phrases such as “believe”, “aim”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “foresee”, “forecast”, 
“likely”, “should”, “budget”, “planned”, “may”, “estimated”, “potential”, or similar words and phrases.

Examples of forward-looking statements include statements regarding a future financial position or future 
profits, cash flows, corporate strategy, estimates of capital expenditures, acquisition strategy, future capital 
expenditure levels, and other economic factors, such as, inter alia, interest rates.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and 
depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. The Group cautions that forward-looking 
statements are not guarantees of future performance. Actual results, financial and operating conditions, 
liquidity and the developments within the industry in which the Group operates may differ materially from 
those made in, or suggested by, the forward-looking statements contained in this Pre-Listing Statement.

All these forward-looking statements are based on estimates and assumptions made by the Group, all of 
which estimates and assumptions, although the Group believes them to be reasonable, are inherently 
uncertain. Such estimates, assumptions or statements may not eventuate. Many factors (including factors not 
yet known to the Group, or not currently considered material) could cause the actual results, performance or 
achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or 
implied in those estimates, statements or assumptions.

Potential investors should keep in mind that any forward-looking statement made in this Pre-Listing Statement 
or elsewhere is applicable only at the date on which such forward-looking statement is made. New factors that 
could cause the business of the Group not to develop as expected may emerge from time to time and it is not 
possible to predict all of them. Further, the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause 
actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement are not known. The 
Group has no duty to, and does not intend to, update or revise the forward-looking statements contained in 
this Pre-Listing Statement after the date of this Pre-Listing Statement, except as may be required by law.
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SALIENT DATES AND TIMES

The definitions and interpretations commencing on page 6 of this Pre-Listing Statement apply mutatis 
mutandis to the following salient dates and times relating to the Listing:

2017

Abridged Pre-Listing Statement published on SENS on Tuesday, 30 May 
Pre-Listing Statement distributed to Shareholders (and published on the Company’s 
website www.avior.co.za) on Tuesday, 30 May 
Listing of Shares on the AltX expected at commencement of trade on Tuesday, 06 June

Notes:

1. The salient dates and times set out above are subject to amendment. Any such amendment will be announced on SENS.

2. All dates and times quoted in this Pre-Listing Statement are local dates and times in South Africa on a 24-hour basis, unless 
specified otherwise.
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DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS

In this Pre-Listing Statement and annexures hereto, unless the context specifically indicates otherwise, a 
word or an expression which denotes any gender includes the other genders, a natural person includes a 
juristic person and vice versa, the singular includes the plural and vice versa and the following words and 
expressions bear the meanings assigned to them below:

“AltX” the Alternative Exchange operated by the JSE;

“Associate” means an “associate” as contemplated in terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements;

“Authorised Share Capital” the authorised Share capital of the Avior Holdings, comprising 400 000 000 
ordinary no par value Shares;

“Avior Capital Markets” or 
“the Company”

Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited (Registration number 
2007/017236/07), a limited liability private company duly incorporated 
under the company laws of South Africa and a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Avior Holdings;

“Avior ETF Funds” Avior ETF Funds Proprietary Limited (Registration number 
2016/397742/07) (FSP 47545) (previously Avior Asset Manager 
Proprietary Limited), a limited liability private company duly incorporated 
under the company laws of South Africa and a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Avior Capital Markets;

“Avior Group” or “the Group” means Avior Holdings and all of its Subsidiaries;

“Avior Group Restructuring” the corporate restructuring undertaken by the Group during 2016 and 
2017 to facilitate the Listing, details of which have been included in 
paragraph 3.2 of the Pre-Listing Statement;

“Avior Holdings” Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited (Registration number 
2015/086358/06) (previously Jamispan Proprietary Limited), a limited 
liability public company duly incorporated under the company laws of 
South Africa, which was converted during the Corporate Restructuring 
from a private company to a public company on 25 January 2016;

“Avior International” Avior Capital Markets International Limited (Registration number 
SC194085) (previously Noah Capital Markets EMEA Limited), a private 
company duly incorporated under the company laws of Scotland and a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Avior Capital Markets;

“Avior Investments” Avior Capital Investments (RF) Proprietary Limited (Registration number 
2005/006914/07), (previously Avior 2 Proprietary Limited) a limited liability 
private company duly incorporated under the company laws of South 
Africa and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Avior Capital Markets;

“B-BBEE” Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment as defined in the Broad-
Based Black Economic Empowerment Act, No. 53 of 2003, as amended 
from time to time;

“Board” or “Directors” the board of directors of Avior Holdings, as constituted from time to time;

“Broker” a “stockbroker” as defined in the Financial Markets Act, or its duly 
authorised nominee;

“Business Day” any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or a day which has been gazetted 
as an official public holiday in South Africa;

“Certificated Shareholders” Shareholders who hold Certificated Shares;
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“Certificated Shares” Shares that have not been Dematerialised, title to which is evidenced by 
a Share certificate or other Document of Title;

“CIS” Collective Investment Scheme in securities;

“Commission” the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission established 
pursuant to section 185 of the Companies Act;

“Common Monetary Area” the geographical regions comprising South Africa, the Republic of 
Namibia and the Kingdoms of Lesotho and Swaziland;

“Companies Act” the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended from time to time;

“CSDP” a Central Securities Depository Participant, accepted as a “participant” in 
terms of the Financial Markets Act, with whom a Shareholder holds a 
Dematerialised Share account;

“Custody Agreement” a custody mandate agreement between a Dematerialised Shareholder 
and a CSDP or Broker, regulating their relationship in respect of 
Dematerialised Shares held in Avior Holdings’ Dematerialised Share 
register, as administered by a CSDP or Broker on behalf of that 
Dematerialised Shareholder;

“Dematerialise” or 
“Dematerialisation”

the process by which Certificated Shares are converted into an electronic 
format as Dematerialised Shares (resulting in such Shares no longer 
being evidenced by a Share certificate or other Document of Title) and 
recorded in Avior Holdings’ Dematerialised Share register administered 
by a CSDP;

“Dematerialised Shareholders Shareholders who hold Dematerialised Shares;

“Dematerialised Shares” Shares which have been incorporated into the Strate system and which 
are no longer evidenced by Share certificates or other physical Documents 
of Title;

“Designated Advisor” or 
“Pallidus Capital”

Pallidus Capital Proprietary Limited (Registration number: 
2015/030782/07), a limited liability private company duly incorporated 
under the company laws of South Africa and registered as an approved 
Designated Advisor of the JSE;

“Documents of Title” Share certificates, certified transfer deeds, balance receipts or any other 
physical documents of title pertaining to in each case in a form acceptable 
to the Board;

“ED” means equity derivitaves;

“Exchange Agreement” the Share exchange agreement entered into by and between the 
Shareholders of Avior Capital Markets and Avior Holdings on  or about  
15 May 2017, in terms of which the aforementioned Shareholders agreed 
to exchange each of their respective Shareholdings in the Company for 
Shares in Avior Holdings, which Share exchange will be done in an  
exchange ratio of 100 Shares in Avior Holdings for every one Share held 
in Avior Capital Markets;

“Exchange Control Regulations” the Exchange Control Regulations, 1961, as amended from time to time, 
issued in terms of section 9 of the Currency and Exchanges Act, No. 9 of 
1933, as amended from time to time;

“Financial Markets Act” the Financial Markets Act, No. 19 of 2012, as amended from time to time;

“FSB” Financial Services Board;

“Grant Thornton” Grant Thornton Incorporated (practice number 903426E), a personal 
liability company incorporated under the laws of South Africa;



8

“Groombridge” Groombridge Nominees Proprietary Limited (Registration number 
2011/136008/07), a limited liability private company duly incorporated 
under the company laws of South Africa and a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Avior Capital Markets;

“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards;

“Income Tax Act” the Income Tax Act, No. 58 of 1962, as amended from time to time;

“ Independent Reporting 
Accountants”

collectively, Grant Thornton and PKF;

“Issued Share Capital” the issued Share capital of Avior Holdings, which on the Listing Date, will 
comprise of 146 285 100 Shares;

“Invited Investors” those specifically identified Persons, including but not limited to financial 
institutions, selected retail investors and/or selected private Persons, to 
whom the Private Placement was made available for participation by 
Avior Capital  Markets, it being specifically recorded that all of the Invited 
Investors who participated in the Private Placement were entitled to do 
so due to each of them falling under one or more of the categories 
envisaged in terms of section 96(1) of the Companies Act (i.e. offers that 
are not offers to the public);

“JSE” the stock exchange, licensed under the Financial Markets Act, operated 
by the JSE Limited (Registration Number: 2005/022939/06), a public 
company duly incorporated under the company laws of South Africa;

“JSE Listings Requirements” the Listings Requirements of the JSE, as amended from time to time;

“JSE Rules” the JSE Equities Rules, Directives and Related Legislation, as amended 
from time to time;

“King Code” the King Code on Corporate Governance for South Africa, as amended or 
replaced from time to time;

“Last Practicable Date” the last practicable date prior to the finalisation of this Pre-Listing 
Statement, being  Monday, 29 May 2017;

“Legal Advisor” or 
“Werksmans”

Werksmans Incorporated (Registration number: 1990/007215/21), 
a personal liability company incorporated under the laws of South Africa;

“Listing” the listing of the entire Issued Share Capital of Avior Holdings on the AltX, 
which Listing is expected to occur at the commencement of trade on the 
Listing Date, being  Tueday, 06 June 2017;

“Listing Date” the expected date of the Listing, being  Tueday, 06 June 2017;

“Major Subsidiary(ies)” Avior Capital Markets, a major subsidiary of the Group as defined in terms 
of the JSE Listings Requirements;

“ Memorandum of 
Incorporation” or “MOI”

the memorandum of incorporation of Avior Holdings and/or its 
Subsidiaries, as applicable;

“ Original Shareholder’s 
Agreement”

the Shareholder agreement dated 28 January 2008, entered into between 
P  Koutromanos and SL Burrell setting out the basis by, and which 
P Koutromanos and SL Burrell will participate as Shareholders of Avior;

“Person” a person as contemplated in terms of the Companies Act;

“PKF” PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants (practice number 951727), a personal 
liability company incorporated under the laws of South Africa and a 
member firm of PKF International Limited;

“Pre-Listing Statement” this bound document dated Tuesday, 30 May 2017, including all 
annexures hereto;
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“Private Placement” the private placement (as contemplated in terms of section 96 of the 
Companies Act) under taken by Avior Capital Markets prior to the Listing 
of Avior Holdings, in terms of which the Private Placement Shares were 
offered to the Invited Investors for a purchase price of R150 per share, full 
details of which have been included in paragraph 3.3; 

“Private Placement Shares” up to a maximum of 57 558 B ordinary no par value shares offered for 
purchase by Avior Capital Markets to the Invited Investors in terms of the 
Private Placement, which B ordinary no par value shares will be exchanged 
for Ordinary Shares in terms of the Exchange Agreement;

“Rand” or “R” South African Rand, the official currency of South Africa;

“Register” or “Share Register” the register of Certificated Shareholders maintained by the Transfer 
Secretaries and the Sub-Register of Dematerialised Shareholders 
maintained by the relevant CSDPs;

“SENS” the Stock Exchange News Service of the JSE;

“ Shareholders” or “Ordinary 
Shareholders”

registered beneficial holders of Shares;

“Shares” or “Ordinary Shares” ordinary no par value Shares in the Authorised Share Capital of Avior 
Holdings;

“South Africa” the Republic of South Africa;

“Stately Horse” Stately Horse Properties Proprietary Limited (Registration number 
2008/029554/07), a limited liability private company duly incorporated 
under the company laws of South Africa, of which P Koutromanos is the 
sole director and which is 100% owned by the Zazomia Trust, being an 
Associate of P Koutromanos;

“Strate” Strate Proprietary Limited (Registration number 1998/022242/07), 
a limited liability private company duly incorporated under the company 
laws of South Africa, licensed and registered as a central securities 
depository in terms of the Financial Markets Act and responsible for the 
electronic clearing and settlement system provided to the JSE;

“Subsidiary” or “Subsidiaries” a “subsidiary” as defined in terms of the Companies Act and for purposes 
of this Pre-Listing Statement specifically includes Avior Capital Markets 
(also a Major Subsidiary as contemplated in terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements), Avior International and Avior Investments;

“Transfer Secretaries” or 
“Terbium”

Terbium Financial Services Proprietary Limited (Registration number 
2009/018890/07), a limited liability private company incorporated under 
the company laws of South Africa and acting as Transfer Secretaries to 
Avior Holdings;

“Voting Pool Agreement” the voting pool agreement entered into by and between P Koutromanos 
(via the Zazomia Trust) and KS Mattison, in their capacities as Shareholders 
of the Company on 9 February 2016, and the subsequent addenda thereto 
dated, 8 April 2016 and 28 March 2017, respectively, the salient terms of 
which have been set out in paragraph 7.10 of this Pre-Listing Statement; 
and

“Zazomia Trust” the trustees for the time being of the Zazomia Trust (Masters reference 
number IT9725/06), an inter vivos trust created and registered under the 
trust laws of South Africa, the: 
 – trustees of which are: P Koutromanos, Louis Venter and 

M Koutromanos; and
 – beneficiaries of which are P Koutromanos, his descendent’s and 

M Koutromanos, 
being an Associate of P Koutromanos.
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PRE-LISTING STATEMENT

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Avior Holdings is the ultimate holding company of a capital markets Group that provides investment 
research, stockbroking, corporate finance, derivatives and fixed income, and transition management 
services to institutional clients in South Africa and abroad. Avior commenced business in 2005 and 
has offices in Johannesburg, Cape Town and London.

1.2 The Group structure on Listing will be as follows:

Avior Capital Markets Holdings 
Limited (“Avior Holdings”)

Registered office JHB, RSA 
Operations JHB/ CPT, RSA

Avior Capital Markets Proprietary 
Limited (“Avior Capital Markets”)

Registered office JHB, RSA 
Operations JHB/ CPT, RSA

Groombridge Nominees 
Proprietary Limited
(Nominee company)

Registered office JHB, RSA 
Operations JHB/CPT, RSA

Avior Capital Investments 
(RF) Proprietary Limited 
(“Avior Investments”)*

Registered office JHB, RSA 
Operations JHB/CPT, RSA

Avior ETF Funds  
Proprietary Limited
(“Avior ETF Funds”)

Registered office JHB, RSA 
Operations JHB/ CPT, RSA

Avior Capital Markets
lnternationaI Limited 
(“Avior International”)

Registered office Airdrie, 
Scotland

Operations London, UK

100%

100% 100% 100% 100%

*  Avior ETF Funds and Avior Investments are currently not operational, but will be pending the FSB approval for the CIS 
Manager.
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1.3 Avior Capital Markets is the major operating Subsidiary of Avior Holdings. Avior Investments and 
Avior ETF Funds are currently not operational, but will be, subject to the FSB approving its application 
to be admitted as a CIS. Groombridge is an approved JSE nominee company, whose sole objective 
is to act as the registered holder of securities on behalf of Avior Capital Markets’ controlled clients. 
Avior International (the UK operations, acquired in January 2015) contributes less than 25% of total 
assets or revenue (on a consolidated basis) to the Group and was not material to the Group at the 
date of acquisition. The majority of the Group’s operations are held within Avior Capital Markets.

2. RATIONALE FOR THE LISTING

2.1 Avior Holdings intends to have a primary listing on the AltX in order to:

2.1.1 enhance the Group’s public profile by creating Rand equity and visibility;

2.1.2 enhance relations with existing stakeholders such as banks, suppliers, distributors and 
customers;

2.1.3 improve the quality of information available for decision-making by stakeholders; and

2.1.4 increase liquidity for existing Shareholders of Avior Holdings and enable such Shareholders 
to, the extent they wish to do so, to realise the value of their investments in Avior Holdings 
through a public trading platform.

2.2 Notwithstanding the fact that the Listing will be on the AltX, Avior Holdings complies with all the 
Main Board listing criteria in terms of paragraph 4.28 of the JSE Listings Requirements, with the 
exception of paragraph 4.28(e) (which requires that 20% of each class of equity securities of a 
company must be held by public Shareholders, as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements, to 
ensure reasonable liquidity) (“spread requirements”) and paragraph 3.84 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements relating to Corporate Governance.

2.3 Accordingly, as a result of the aforementioned, Avior Holdings does not qualify for a listing on 
the Main board of the JSE at this point in time, but qualifies for a listing on the AltX as 10% of the 
Shares will be held by public Shareholders prior to the Listing. However, Avior Holdings will consider 
transferring its listing to the Main Board after the spread requirements have been met.

3. OVERVIEW OF AVIOR HOLDINGS

3.1 History

3.1.1 March 2005: Avior Research is established by two entrepreneurs.

3.1.2 August 2007: Groombridge Securities is established as a separate entity, offering 
stockbroking services.

3.1.3 May 2008: Avior Research covers 10 Shares, as well as corporate governance research.

3.1.4 June 2010: Africa research and stockbroking is added. Avior Research ranked #9 by 
Financial Mail for equity research.

3.1.5 August 2012: Avior Research merges with Groombridge Securities.

3.1.6 June 2013: Avior Research ranked #8 by Financial Mail.

3.1.7 June 2014: Avior Research changes its name to Avior Capital Markets.

3.1.8 August 2014: Derivatives and fixed income trading services added.

3.1.9 January 2015: Offices in London established.

3.1.10 September 2015: Corporate finance is added to the service offering.

3.1.11 Present: 74 members of staff. 100+ local stocks under coverage. Dealing in equities, 
derivatives, and fixed income. Financial Mail ranking the analyst rankings (unweighted) 
include 13 equity research sectors and one equity research rank in five sectors. Listing on 
the AltX board of the Stock Exchange operated by the JSE.
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3.2 Avior Group Restructuring

Avior Holdings was initially incorporated in South Africa as a shelf company under the name 
“Jamispan Proprietary Limited” on 19 March 2015, and has been dormant since this date.

3.2.1 Avior Holdings converted from a private company to a public company under registration 
number: 2015/086358/06 and changed its name to “Avior Capital Markets Holdings 
Limited” on 25 January 2016.

3.2.2 The Avior Group Restructuring was undertaken to facilitate the Listing and, in addition to the 
above, included the following restructuring steps:

3.2.2.1 adoption of the Memorandum of Incorporation;

3.2.2.2 increase in the Authorised Share Capital;

3.2.2.3 Shareholders of Avior Capital Markets entering into the Exchange Agreement, in 
terms of which each such Shareholder will exchange each of their Shares in Avior 
Capital Markets for 100 Shares in Avior Holdings;

3.2.2.4 pursuant to the implementation of the Exchange Agreement, Avior Capital Markets 
becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of Avior Holdings; and

3.2.2.5 The unbundling of Avior ETF Funds, Avior Investments, Avior International 
becoming from Avior Capital Markets becoming wholly-owned subsidiaries of 
Avior Holdings.

3.3 Private Placement

3.3.1 In order to ensure that Avior Holdings had the minimum number of public Shareholders upon 
Listing (as is required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements), Avior Capital Markets 
successfully undertook the Private Placement prior to the Listing.

3.3.2 The Private Placement was open for participation by the Invited Investors, in terms of which 
the Private Placement Shares were offered for purchase by Avior Capital Markets to the 
Invited Investors.

3.3.3 Notwithstanding the fact that the Private Placement Shares were Avior Capital Markets B 
ordinary Shares, the Shares acquired by the Invited Investors in the Private Placement were 
exchanged for Shares in Avior Holdings upon the Exchange Agreement becoming effective.

3.3.4 The results of the Private Placement is set out in the table below:

Maximum number of B ordinary Shares made available for purchase to the 
Invited Investors 57 558
Number of Shares purchased by the Invited Investors 57 558
Purchase price per Private Placement Share R150
Capital raised in terms of the Private Placement R8 633 700
Number of public Shareholders gained as a result of the Private Placement 30

3.4 General Overview

Avior Capital Markets, originally incorporated as Avior Research in March 2005 by P Koutromanos 
and KS Mattison, is an unlisted research and trading firm that provides investment research across 
South Africa and sub-Saharan Africa. Avior Capital Markets’ primary client base comprises primarily  
of institutional investors. Avior Capital Markets places a high emphasis on ethics and seeks to 
minimise conflicts with its clients. Avior services institutional clients and hedge funds both locally 
and abroad. The Company has added Corporate Finance, Derivatives Trading, Fixed Income Trading 
and Transition Management to its service offering during the past three years.

3.5 Research Division

Avior Capital Markets provides research on over 100 companies listed in South Africa and 
15 companies listed in Africa. Avior employs a team of 27 analysts, of which 19 were rated by 
the Financial Mail Top Analyst Awards 2016. Avior Capital Markets is one of the top 10 research 
companies in the Financial Mail equity research ratings, and achieved an overall unweighted ranking 
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of #5 in the recent Financial Mail rankings, comprising of 13 equity research rated sectors and 
ranked #1 in five of those sectors.

The current coverage universe consist of is: investment strategy; quantitative analysis; banks; basic 
resources; beverages; construction; electronics; food producers; general financials; healthcare and 
pharmaceuticals; hotel, gaming and leisure; industrials; insurance; listed property; luxury goods 
and tobacco; media; oil, chemicals and gas; platinum; retail; technology; telecommunications; 
SA investment holdings and corporate governance.

A list of the sectors and companies under coverage can be found on the Company’s website  
(www.avior.co.za).

3.6 Derivatives and Fixed Income Division

Avior Capital Markets is a derivatives market member of the JSE and also has a Debt Market 
membership. The division employs five individuals covering derivatives, quantitative analysis and 
fixed income. The team has expertise in both research and trading and took second place in the 
2013 Spire Awards for best research team – quantitative research. They have also been top rated as 
individuals in the Financial Mail rankings since 2005.

Research products include:

 – single stock option trades via integration of fundamentals and quantitative research;
 – four to five formal research roadshows per year covering derivatives, fixed income, and 

quantitative research topics;
 – bespoke research pieces; and
 – fixed income trade ideas based on quantitative research.

Dealing capabilities:

 – The team consists of three dealers with a combined total of 41 years experience.

Trade across all JSE derivatives markets:

 – equity derivatives (EDM);
 – Yield-X interest rate derivatives; and
 – Yield-X currency derivatives (IRC).

Spot bond market – market intelligence:

 – implied volatility monitor and trade report for EDM and Yield-X currency markets;
 – inflation-linked bond trade and breakeven analysis price;
 – the impact of foreign trade flow on the South African bond market; and
 – quarterly closeout analysis research covering both ED markets and IRC markets.

3.7 Stockbroking division

Avior Capital Markets has a JSE Equity Market membership, offering electronic routing, direct 
market access (DMA) and algorithmic trading.

Avior serves the interests of all clients in executing “agency only” trades and offers a low-cost 
implementation of illiquid trades. For trades outside of South Africa (except London), the Company 
uses partnership networks.

Avior Capital Markets expanded its footprint into the European market by acquiring a stockbroking 
business in London. As a result of this expansion, the distribution network access to its international 
client base and reach has increased in these jurisdictions.

Trading reach: South Africa; Botswana; Bourse Régionale Des Valeurs Mobilières SA (BRVM or the 
Regional Securities Exchange SA, serving Benin, Burkina Faso, Guinea Bissau, Côte d’Ivoire, Mali, 
Niger Senegal and Togo); Egypt; Ghana; Kenya; Mauritius; Morocco; Nigeria; Rwanda; Tanzania; 
Tunisia; Uganda; Zambia and Zimbabwe.

3.8 Corporate Finance division

The corporate finance division consists of four full-time members of staff, including two JSE 
Approved Executives.
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The corporate finance division’s service offering includes:

 – corporate advisory services;
 – capital raising/book builds/buy backs/investor roadshows; and
 – JSE Sponsor services and designated advisor.

In less than two years of operating, the corporate finance team has raised over R1.6bn in capital.

3.9 New business ventures

The intended new CIS license to provide ETFs submitted to the FSB, will assist in forming a new 
ETF division within the Group. The CIS license will be housed in Avior Capital Investments. The 
goal of these ETFs will be to passively track selected FTSE/JSE (or similar service providers) indices 
using available in-house resources. The Avior CIS Manager will extend its services in offering the 
ETF products to its current client base.

Avior ETF Funds is appointed as the Investment Manager and has an FSP Category I and II license. 
The objective of the Discretionary FSP will be to manage the ETF products in a cost-effective 
manner that closely corresponds to the performance of selected FTSE/JSE indices.

3.10 International operations

Avior Capital Markets has established an office in London, United Kingdom, which focuses on 
stockbroking in London and Africa.

3.11 B-BBEE

Avior Capital Markets is currently rated as a level 6 B-BBEE contributor, which rating will be reviewed 
post the Listing. The Group’s rating is expected to improve due to the following, inter alia:

 – representation at Board level, following which 50% of the Directors will comprise of historically 
disadvantaged individuals (“HDI”);

 – a HDI internship program which occurs twice a year, during which second year students are 
mentored by senior staff members, providing the interns with valuable skills required to grow 
their careers; and

 – a 12 month HDI graduate program, during which participants are mentored by senior analysts.

3.12 Major Subsidiaries

The Group has only one Major Subsidiary, namely Avior Capital Markets.

4. PROSPECTS

Avior Holdings intends to enhance its service offerings, primarily via organic growth, by:

4.1 expanding its research coverage to include more companies and more sectors;

4.2 partnering with the new stock exchanges, offering stockbroking and research services;

4.3 positioning Avior Capital Markets as one of the top 10 JSE stockbrokers in terms of value traded;

4.4 expanding its corporate finance offering, including Designated Advisory and 4 Africa Exchange 
Proprietary Limited (“4AX”) issuer agent services to companies; and

4.5 offering exchange traded fund products to its institutional client base.

5. DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group does not have a formal dividend policy in place, and there are no fixed dates on which 
Shareholders are entitled to dividends. The Directors will declare dividends as appropriate to the operating 
conditions and the growth prospects of the Group, subject to satisfying the solvency and liquidity test as 
defined in the Companies Act.
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6. MANAGEMENT OF AVIOR HOLDINGS

6.1 Avior Holdings is governed by the Board, which is responsible for ensuring that the Group 
complies with all of its statutory and regulatory obligations, as specified in the Companies Act, its 
Memorandum of Incorporation and, pursuant to the Listing the JSE Listings Requirements (to the 
extent applicable).

6.2 The Avior Capital Markets Executive Committee is a sub-committee of the Board which meets 
bi-weekly and acts as a consolidating oversight committee for the Group. The Executive Committee 
has the following members:

Name Position in Group

P Koutromanos Chief Executive Officer

KS Mattison Executive Director of Avior Holdings and 
Managing Director of Avior Capital Markets

N Tilly Financial Director

6.3 The Executive Committee’s functions includes, inter alia, the following:

6.3.1 responsible for determining and implementing the Avior Holdings strategy, as approved by 
the Board;

6.3.2 monitoring the Group’s performance and provides strategic input and direction; and

6.3.3 determining the remuneration payable for employees within the Group.

6.4 Profiles of the Executive Committee members, detailing their experience, appear in Annexure 13.

6.5 The Board will appoint additional sub-committees to assist the Board in discharging its duties.

6.6 No part of the business of Avior Holdings or any of its Subsidiaries is managed, or is proposed to be 
managed, by a third party under a contract or arrangement.

7. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

7.1 Composition of the Board

7.1.1 The full names, ages, nationalities, business address and capacities of the Directors of Avior 
Holdings are provided below:

Full Name Age Capacity Business Address

P Koutromanos
(South African)

48 Chief Executive Officer Suite 1003, 1st Floor, 82 on 
Maude, 82 Maude Street, 
Sandton, 2196

KS Mattison 
(South African)

47 Executive Director and  
Managing Director of Avior 
Capital Markets

3rd Floor, The Hudson,

28 Hudson Street,
Cape Town, 8001

N Tilly
(South African)

34 Financial Director Suite 1003, 1st Floor, 82 on 
Maude, 82 Maude Street, 
Sandton, 2196

M Ramplin
(South African)

41 Independent Non-Executive 
Director and Chairman

102 11th Street, Parkmore, 
Sandton, 2196

E Masilela
(South African)

51 Independent Non-Executive 
Director

3rd Floor, South Office Tower, 
Hatfield Plaza, Pretoria, 0083

MD Collier
(United Kingdom)

62 Independent Non-Executive 
Director

Puckden Poundsbridge 
Penshurst Kent TN118AR 
United Kingdom
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7.1.2 The following changes occurred to the Board during the preceding 12 months:

7.1.2.1 M Ramplin was appointed as an independent Non-Executive Director with effect 
from Monday, 24 April 2017;

7.1.2.2 E Masilela was appointed as an independent Non-Executive Director with effect 
from Monday, 24 April 2017; and

7.1.2.3 MD Collier was appointed as an independent Non-Executive Director with effect 
from Monday, 24 April 2017.

7.1.3 Profiles of the Directors, detailing their experience and qualifications, appear in Annexure 13.

7.2 Directors of Major Subsidiaries

The full names, ages, business address and capacities of the Directors of the Group’s Capital Major 
Subsidiaries, Avior Capital Markets, appear in Annexure 17.

7.3 Additional information

7.3.1 A list of other Directorships, the Directors of Avior Holdings and the Directors of its Major 
Subsidiary is set out in Annexure 14.

7.3.2 All Executive Directors of Avior Holdings and all Directors of its Major Subsidiary, Avior 
Capital Markets, are South Africans, with P Koutromanos, KS Mattison also having Greek 
and Canadian citizenship, respectively. All Independent Non-Executive Directors of Avior 
Holdings are South Africans, with the exception of MD Collier who is a British national.

7.3.3 No Director of Avior Holdings or its Major Subsidiary is a partner with unlimited liability.

7.3.4 P Koutromanos was a Director of Tauri Investments Proprietary Limited which is in the 
process of being voluntarily wound up. The process was commenced on 17 February 2017, 
by means of a creditors voluntary winding-up in terms of section 349 read with section 
351 of the Companies Act. The board of directors and shareholders of Tauri Investments 
Proprietary Limited could not agree on the strategic direction of the company. As a result 
of the aforementioned, it was accordingly resolved to voluntary liquidate and wind up the 
company.

7.3.5 Save for paragraph 7.3.4, none of the Directors of Avior Holdings or its Major Subsidiary:

7.3.5.1 have been declared bankrupt, insolvent or have entered into any individual voluntary 
compromise of arrangements with his creditors;

7.3.5.2 have been Directors with an Executive function of any company put under, 
or proposed to be put under, any business rescue proceedings, or that is or 
was the subject of an application for business rescue, any notices in terms of 
section 129(7) of the Companies Act, receiverships, compulsory liquidations, 
creditors voluntary liquidations, administrations, company voluntary arrangements 
or any compromise or arrangements with creditors generally or any class of 
creditors, at the time of such event or within the 12 months preceding any such 
event;

7.3.5.3 have been partners in a partnership that was the subject of any compulsory 
liquidation, administration or partnership voluntary arrangement, at the time of 
such event or within the 12 months preceding any such event;

7.3.5.4 have entered into any receiverships of any asset(s) or of a partnership where such 
Directors are or were partners during the preceding 12 months;

7.3.5.5 have been publicly criticised by a statutory or regulatory authority, including 
recognised professional bodies, or been disqualified by a competent court from 
acting as a Director of a company or from acting in the management or conduct of 
the affairs of any company;

7.3.5.6 have been involved in any offence of dishonesty;

7.3.5.7 have been removed from an office of trust, on the grounds of misconduct, involving 
dishonesty; or
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7.3.5.8 have been the subject of any court order declaring him delinquent or placing him 
under probation in terms of section 162 of the Companies Act and/or section 47 of 
the Close Corporations Act, No 69 of 1984, as amended, or been disqualified by a 
competent court to act as a Director in terms of the Companies Act.

7.4 Financial Director

N Tilly CA(SA), CFA is the Financial Director of Avior Holdings and oversees the accounting, 
auditing, human resources and operational matters of the Group. The Audit and Risk Committee 
has considered and satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the 
Financial Director.

7.5 Directors borrowing powers

7.5.1 The provisions of the Memorandum of Incorporation regarding the borrowing powers 
exercisable by Directors are set out in Annexure 11 to this Pre-Listing Statement together 
with the extracts from the Memorandum of Incorporation of Avior Holdings, regarding 
the borrowing powers exercisable by the Directors of Avior Holdings. The Memoranda of 
Incorporation of Avior Holdings and Avior Capital Markets do not provide for the borrowing 
powers of the Directors of Avior Holdings and/or Avior Capital Markets to be varied and any 
variation of such borrowing powers would accordingly require the approval by Shareholders 
by way of a special resolution amending the Memoranda of Incorporation of Avior Holdings 
and/or Avior Capital Markets.

7.5.2 The borrowing powers of Avior Holdings Directors or the Directors of any of its Subsidiaries 
have not been exceeded during the three years preceding the Last Practicable Date and 
no exchange control or other restrictions have been imposed on Avior Holdings or its 
Subsidiaries’ borrowing powers in that period.

7.6 Appointment and qualification of Directors

7.6.1 The relevant provisions of the Memorandum of Incorporation regarding the term of office 
of Directors, the manner and process of their appointment and retirement by rotation are 
set out in Annexure 11. No person has the right in terms of any agreement in respect 
of the appointment of any Director or any number of Directors. The relevant provisions 
of the Memorandum of Incorporation relating to the qualifications of Directors appear in 
Annexure  11. Apart from satisfying the qualification and eligibility criteria as set out in 
section 69 of the Companies Act and the applicable provisions set out in clause 34.10 of 
the Memorandum of Incorporation (an extract of which appears in Annexure 11), a person 
need not satisfy any other eligibility requirements or qualifications to become or remain a 
Director of Avior Holdings.

7.7 Remuneration of Directors

7.7.1 Avior Holdings may remunerate its Non-Executive Directors for their services as Directors 
in accordance with a special resolution approved by Shareholders within the previous two 
years, as set out in section 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act, and the power of Avior 
Holdings in this regard is not limited or restricted by the Memorandum of Incorporation.

7.7.2 Any Director who serves on any Executive or other Board committee; or devotes special 
attention to the business of Avior Holdings; or goes or resides outside South Africa for the 
purpose of Avior Holdings; or otherwise performs or binds himself to perform services 
which, in the opinion of the Board, are outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director, 
may be paid such extra remuneration or allowances in addition to or in substitution of the 
remuneration to which he may be entitled as a Director, as a disinterested quorum of the 
Board may from time to time determine.

7.7.3 Directors may also be paid all their travelling and other expenses necessarily incurred by 
them in connection with the business of Avior Holdings and attending meetings of the 
Directors or of Board committees of Avior Holdings.

7.7.4 The remuneration paid to the Directors by Avior Capital Markets for the financial year ended 
30 April 2016 is set out below:
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7.7.4.1 Directors remuneration

Director
Salary
R’000

Directors’ 
fees

R’000

Bonuses and
 performance-

 related 
payments

R’000

Expense
 Allowance

R’000
Total2

R’000

P Koutromanos 4 550 – 1 410 – 5 960
KS Mattison 2 976 – 1 303 24 4 303
N Tilly 1 900 – 1 631 3 531
S Burrell1 1 440 – 200 – 1 640
M Ramplin – – – – –
E Masilela – – – – –
MD Collier – – – – –

Total 10 866 – 4 544 24 15 434

1. S Burrell resigned as an Executive Director effective 31 October 2015.

2. No other material benefits are received by the Directors.

7.7.5 The anticipated salary and Directors’ fees for the financial year ending 30 April 2017 are set 
out below:

7.7.5.1 Directors’ remuneration

Director
Salary
R’000

Directors’ 
fees

R’000

Bonuses and
 performance-

 related 
payments

R’000

Expense
 Allowance

R’000
Total2

R’000

P Koutromanos  5 921 579 –  1 470 000  7 391 579 
KS Mattison  3 976 257 –  1 447 000  24 000  5 447 257 
N Tilly  2 720 281 –  1 352 000  4 072 281 
M Ramplin – – – – –
E Masilela – – – – –
MD Collier – – – – –

Total  12 618 117 –  4 269 000  24 000  16 911 117 

7.7.6 Directors are not entitled to any commission and are not party to any gain or profit-sharing 
arrangements with Avior Holdings. Save for the emoluments set out in the table in paragraph 
7.7.4 above, no other material benefits were received by Directors for the financial year 
ended 30 April 2016.

7.7.7 No fees have been paid to any third party in lieu of Directors’ fees.

7.7.8 There will be no variation in the remuneration receivable by any of the Directors as a 
consequence of the Listing.

7.7.9 Neither Avior Holdings nor any of its Subsidiaries have, in the three years preceding the 
date of this Pre-Listing Statement, paid (or agreed to pay) any amounts (whether in cash or 
in Shares or otherwise) or given any benefits to any Director or to any company in which 
the Director is beneficially interested, directly or indirectly, or of which he is a Director 
(“the associate company”) or to any partnership, syndicate or other association of which 
he is a member (“the associate entity”), to induce him to become, or to qualify him as 
a Director or otherwise for services rendered by him or by the associate company or the 
associate entity in connection with the promotion or formation of Avior Holdings or any of 
its Subsidiaries.

7.7.10 None of the Directors have received any Share options or any other right which has had the 
same or a similar effect in respect of providing a right to subscribe for Shares, nor were any 
Shares issued or allotted to the Directors in terms of a Share purchase/option scheme for 
employees during the financial year ended 30 April 2015.
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7.7.11 The Directors’ remuneration will continue to be paid by Avior Capital Markets on behalf of 
Avior Holdings. The Non-Executive Directors’ fees will remain subject to the authority set 
out in paragraph 7.7.1 above.

7.8 Interests of Directors

7.8.1 Save for the interests of the Directors in the Avior Group Restructuring, no Director of 
Avior Holdings or of any of its Subsidiaries (including any person who may have resigned 
as a Director within the preceding 18 months) has any material beneficial interest, directly 
or indirectly, in any transactions that were effected by Avior Holdings during the current or 
immediately preceding financial year, or during an earlier financial year and remain in any 
respect outstanding or unperformed.

7.8.2 Save for being a Shareholder of Avior Holdings, no Director has had any material beneficial 
interest, either direct or indirect, in the Listing and no promoter or Director of Avior Holdings 
is or was a member of a partnership, syndicate or other association of persons that has or 
had such an interest. Save for being a Shareholder of Avior Holdings, no Director has had 
any material beneficial interest, either direct or indirect, in the promotion of Avior Holdings 
or any subsidiary within the Group. No cash or securities have been paid and no benefit has 
been given to any promoter within the preceding three years.

7.8.3 As at the Last Practicable Date, the direct and indirect beneficial interests of the Directors 
(including any Directors who have resigned during the 18 months preceding the Last 
Practicable Date) and their associates in the Issued Share Capital of Avior Holdings, shall be 
as follows:

Director

Number of 
Shares held 

directly

Number of 
Shares held 

indirectly

% of 
Shares in

 issue held

P Koutromanos – 85 898 200 58.72%
KS Mattison 45 758 400 – 31.28%

Total 45 575 100 86 081 500 90.00%

Notes:
•	 Save for the Directors mentioned in the table above, no other Director of Avior Holdings holds a direct and/or 

indirect interest in the Issued Share Capital of Avior Holdings.
•	 There have been no changes to the abovementioned Directors’ interests between the financial year ended 

30 April 2017 and the date of this Pre-Listing Statement, except for an acquisition of 1 833 Shares by 
KS Mattison from P Koutromanos for a total value of R135 246.95.

•	 In terms of paragraph 21.3(g) of the JSE Listings Requirements, 50% of each of the abovementioned Directors’ 
Shareholding will be held in escrow of which 50% will be released from escrow on the publication of the 
Group’s financial results for the year ended 30 April 2018, and the balance thereof released on publication of 
the financial results for the year ended 30 April 2019.

7.9 Service contracts of Directors

7.9.1 Employment agreements have been concluded with P Koutromanos, KS Mattison and N Tilly 
as the Executive Directors of Avior Holdings. The employment agreements concluded with 
them include terms and conditions which are standard for agreements of this nature.

7.9.2 In accordance with King III, service letters have been concluded between Avior Holdings 
and each of the Non-Executive Directors. The aforementioned service letters contain terms 
and conditions which are standard for documents of this nature.

7.9.3 No restraint of trade payments have been paid or are payable to any of the Directors.

7.10 Voting Pool Agreement

The Zazomia Trust (being an Associate of P Koutromanos) and KS Mattison (collectively the “Pool 
Members”), in their capacities as Shareholders of Avior Holdings, have entered into the Voting Pool 
Agreement with each other. A summary of the salient terms of the voting rights as set out in the 
Voting Pool Agreement is set out below:

7.10.1 each of the Pool Members shall exercise their voting rights, in an agreed upon manner, 
in respect of the appointment, removal, and replacement of Directors (including alternate 
Directors), as well as any other Shareholders’ resolution/s;
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 – the Pool Members shall agree on the manner in which they will exercise their voting rights by 
way of a meeting of the Pool Members (“Pool Meeting”), which will be determined by the 
majority in number of the Shares voted at the Pool Meeting;

 – neither of the Pool Members shall vote any of their Shares in respect of any Shareholders 
resolution/s, unless authorised to do so at a Pool Meeting; and

 – if a Pool Member is precluded or prohibited by the Companies Act or the JSE Listings 
Requirements from voting on any Shareholders resolution/s, that Pool Member will, in relation 
to that resolution only, not form part of the quorum at any Pool Meeting and his vote/s will not 
be counted at the Pool Meeting.

8. SHARE CAPITAL

8.1 Authorised Share Capital and Issued Share Capital

8.1.1 As at the Listing Date, the Authorised Share Capital and Issued Share Capital of Avior 
Holdings will be as set out below:

Description
Number of

 Shares

Authorised Share capital
Ordinary no par value Shares1 400 000 000

Issued Share capital
Ordinary no par value Shares2 146 285 100

Notes:

1. A special resolution of the Shareholders, to increase the authorised Share capital of Avior Holdings to 
400 000 000 ordinary no par value Shares, was filed at the Commission on 19 January 2016.

2. On the Listing Date and following the issue of Shares by Avior Holdings, as listed in paragraph 8.8, the Issued 
Share Capital of Avior Holdings will comprise a maximum of 146 285 100 Shares.

8.1.2 As at the Listing Date:

8.1.2.1 the stated capital of Avior Holdings will amount to R14 206;

8.1.2.2 no Shares will be held as treasury Shares;

8.1.2.3 no debentures will have been created or issued by Avior Holdings; and

8.1.2.4 all Shares in issue will be fully paid up and freely transferable.

8.1.3 On the Listing Date all Shares in issue shall rank pari passu with each other in all respects, 
including in respect of voting rights and dividends.

8.2 Major and controlling Shareholders

8.2.1 The table below lists those Shareholders who shall, as far as Avior Holdings is aware, be 
beneficially interested, as at the Last Practicable Date, directly or indirectly, in 5% or more 
of the Shares in issue.

Shareholder
Number of

 Shares held
% of Shares 

in issue held

Zazomia Trust 85 898 200 58.72
KS Mattison 45 758 400 31.28

Total 131 656 600 90.00

8.2.2 There has been no change in the controlling Shareholder of Avior Holdings since its 
incorporation on 19 March 2015, or of Avior Capital Markets since its incorporation, save 
for in terms of the Avior Group Restructuring. Furthermore there has been no change in the 
controlling Shareholder of any of the other subsidiaries of Avior Holdings in the preceding 
five years, save for in terms of the Avior Group Restructuring and the acquisition of all of the 
issued Share capital of Avior International by Avior Capital Markets in January 2015.
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8.2.3 Notwithstanding the fact that upon Listing the Zazomia Trust will be the beneficial holder as 
detailed in the table above, the trustees of the Zazomia Trust have indicated their intention 
that the Shareholding held by the Zazomia Trust will, subsequent to the Listing, be transferred 
to Stately Horse (“’the Share Transfer”). The deemed value (price per Share) at which the 
Share Transfer will be implemented will be the prevailing market price of Avior Holdings 
Shares for the 30 trading days immediately preceding the date of the Share Transfer.

8.2.4 As a result of P Koutromanos being a Director of Avior Holdings and the Zazomia Trust and 
Stately Horse being Associates of P Koutromanos the share transfer will be announced on 
SENS by Avior Holdings upon same being implemented (to the extent applicable).

8.3 Rights attaching to Shares

Salient provisions in the Memorandum of Incorporation relating to the rights attaching to the Shares 
appear in Annexure 11.

8.4 Alterations to Share Capital

There have been no changes to Avior Holding’s Authorised Share Capital (including no Share 
consolidations and/or subdivisions) over the three years preceding the date of this Pre-Listing 
Statement, save for as set out below:

8.4.1 Avior Holdings was incorporated with an Authorised Share Capital of 4 000 (four thousand) 
Shares of no par value on 19 March 2015;

8.4.2 Avior Holdings increased its Authorised Share Capital to 400 000 000 (four hundred million) 
Shares of no par value on 19 January 2016; and

8.4.3 a special resolution of the Shareholders, to increase the Authorised Share Capital of Avior 
Holdings to 400 000 000 ordinary no par value Shares, was filed at the Commission on 
19 January 2016.

8.5 Options and preferential rights in respect of Shares

There is no contract or arrangement, either actual or proposed, whereby any option or preferential 
right of any kind has been or will be given to any person to subscribe for any Shares.

8.6 Dividends

8.6.1 In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation all unclaimed monies that are due to any 
Shareholder pursuant to the declaration of a dividend or any other distribution shall be held by 
Avior Holdings in trust until lawfully claimed by such Shareholder, or until the Shareholder’s 
claim to such money has prescribed in terms of the applicable laws of prescription.

8.6.2 No arrangements exist under which future dividends are waived or are agreed to be waived.

8.7 Rights offer

Save for the Private Placement detailed in paragraph 3.3 during the three years preceding the date 
of this Pre-Listing Statement the Avior Holdings has not undertaken any rights offers.

8.8 Shares issued

Save as set out below or in terms of the Avior Group Restructuring, neither Avior Holdings nor 
any of its Subsidiaries has issued any Shares within the three years preceding the date of this Pre-
Listing Statement:

2017:  Avior Capital Markets issued 57 558 B ordinary Shares at R150 to public Shareholders in 
order to comply with the JSE Listings Requirements spread requirements of 10% for AltX on 
Monday, 15 May 2017, being the Private Placement; and

2014:  Avior Capital Markets issued 37 058 B ordinary Shares to certain staff members for a total 
consideration of R2 179 010 on Tuesday, 16 October 2014; which ordinary Shares were issued 
at the prevailing net asset value of the Company at the time in terms of an employee Share 
incentive scheme (which scheme has since been cancelled), and therefore not in proportion 
to each Shareholders’ interest in Avior Capital Markets.
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8.9 Shares repurchased

Save as set out below, neither Avior Holdings nor any of its Subsidiaries has repurchased and 
cancelled any Shares within the three years preceding the date of this Pre-Listing Statement:

2017:  Avior Capital Markets repurchased 301 249 B ordinary Shares and 17 586 B ordinary Shares 
for a total consideration of R30 261 266 on 7 April 2017 and 4 May 2017 respectively;

2016:  Avior Capital Markets repurchased 13 000 B ordinary Shares and 6 000 B ordinary Shares 
for a total consideration of R764 270 on 7 January 2016 and 3 October 2016 respectively; 
and

2014:  Avior Capital Markets repurchased 3 411 B ordinary Shares for a total consideration of 
R80 002.06 on 28 July 2014,

which Shares has been repurchased in terms of the Original Shareholder’s Agreement when the 
Group was founded.

8.10 No other listings

As at the date of this Pre-Listing Statement, no Shares of Avior Holdings are listed on the JSE or 
on any other regulated stock exchange. Upon the Listing, all of Avior Holding’s issued ordinary 
Shares will be listed on the AltX under the abbreviated name “Avior”, Share code “AVR” and 
ISIN ZAE000211637. As at the Listing Date, no Shares of Avior Holdings will be listed on any other 
stock exchange.

8.11 Listing criteria

On the Listing:

8.11.1 Avior shall have a stated capital of R14 206;

8.11.2 Avior shall have an Issued Share Capital of 146 285 100 Shares; and

8.11.3 10% of the Issued Share Capital of Avior Holdings will be held by the public, as defined in 
the JSE Listings Requirements.

9. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

9.1 Historical financial information of Avior Holdings

The reports on the audited and reviewed historical financial information of Avior Holdings and Avior 
Capital Markets, showing the interim financial results for the six months ended 31 October 2016 
is presented in Annexure 1 and Annexure 3, respectively, and the audited historical financial 
information of Avior Capital Markets showing the financial results of Avior Capital Markets 
for the financial years ended 30 April 2016, 30 April 2015 and 30 April 2014 are presented in 
Annexure 5 and Annexure 7, and is the responsibility of the Directors, while the Independent 
Reporting Accountants’ report thereon is included as Annexure 2, Annexure 4, Annexure 6 and 
Annexure 8, respectively.

9.2 Pro forma financial information of Avior Holdings

A report on the pro forma financial information of Avior Holdings, showing the pro forma 
financial position of the Avior Holdings for the six months ended 31 October 2016 is presented 
in Annexure 9 and is the responsibility of the Directors, while the Independent Reporting 
Accountants’ report thereon is included as Annexure 10 to this Pre-Listing Statement.

9.3 Material changes

9.3.1 There have been no material changes in the financial or trading position of Avior Holdings 
and its Subsidiaries since the end of its last interim period 31 October 2016 save for the 
following:

Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited repurchased all the Shares of a material Shareholder 
for a total consideration of R28 789 347 and funded the repurchase through the issue of 
Shares of a total amount of R8 633 700, Shareholder loans of R9 194 200 and existing cash 
resources of R10 931 447.
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9.3.2 There have been no material changes in the business of Avior Holding, and no changes in 
the trading objects of Avior Holdings, within the past five years preceding the date of this 
Pre-Listing Statement.

9.4 Material commitments, lease payments and contingent liabilities

As at the Last Practicable Date, Avior Holdings had no material commitments, lease payments or 
contingent liabilities.

9.5 Borrowings

9.5.1 As at the Last Practicable Date, no debentures have been issued by Avior Holdings or any 
of its Subsidiaries and no material loans have been advanced to them.

9.5.2 No loan capital is currently outstanding as Avior Holdings has not drawn down on any of its 
available facilities.

9.5.3 No debentures have been created in terms of a trust deed and no replacement debentures 
have been issued by Avior Holdings.

9.6 Loans receivable

As at the Last Practicable Date, no material loans have been made by Avior Holdings or by any of 
its Subsidiaries.

9.7 Loan to Directors or managers

Avior Holdings has not made any loans to, or furnished any security for the benefit of, any Director 
or manager of Avior Holdings (or of any associate of any such Director or manager).

10. GROUP ACTIVITIES

10.1 Principal immovable property owned and leased

The situation, area and tenure, including, in the case of leasehold property, the rental and unexpired 
term of the leases, of the principal immovable properties occupied by Avior Holdings, are detailed 
in Annexure 16.

10.2 Inter-company financial and other transactions

10.2.1 All inter-company balances between Avior Holding’s Group of companies, before elimination 
on consolidation, are disclosed in Annexure 15.

10.2.2 There are no material inter-company financial and other transactions.

10.3 Material acquisitions

The Group has not undertaken any material acquisitions within the preceding three years and is not 
currently contemplating any potential material acquisitions.

10.4 Property disposed of or to be disposed of

Avior Holdings has not disposed of any material property during the last three years and is not 
currently contemplating any material disposals.

10.5 Adequacy of working capital

The Directors are of the opinion that the working capital available to Avior Holdings and its 
Subsidiaries is adequate for the present requirements of the Group, for a period of 12 months from 
the date of issue of this Pre-Listing Statement.

10.6 Royalties

No royalties or items of a similar nature are payable by Avior Holdings.



24

11. KING CODE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Shareholders are referred to Annexure 12, which concerns the application of the King Code and other 
corporate governance principles to Avior Holdings.

12. LISTING ON ALTX

The JSE has granted Avior Holdings a listing by way of introduction of all its Issued Share Capital on the 
AltX of the JSE under the abbreviated name “Avior”, Share code “AVR” and ISIN ZAE000211637 with 
effect from the commencement of trade on Tuesday, 06 June 2017.

13. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

13.1 Promoters’ and other interests

13.1.1 No amounts have been paid or have accrued as payable and no benefit was given or 
proposed to be given within the last three years to any promoter or to any partnership, 
syndicate or other association of which a Director of Avior Holdings is or was a member.

13.1.2 No Director or promoter has any material beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in the 
promotion of Avior Holdings.

13.1.3 No commissions were paid, or accrued as payable, by Avior Holdings within the three years 
preceding the date of this Pre-Listing Statement in respect of any underwriting.

13.1.4 No commissions, discounts, brokerages or other special terms have been granted by 
Avior Holdings within the three years preceding the date of this Pre-Listing Statement in 
connection with the issue or sale of any securities, stock or debentures in the capital of 
Avior Holdings.

13.2 Government protection and investment encouragement law

There is no Government protection or investment encouragement law affecting Avior Holdings or 
its Subsidiaries.

13.3 Exchange control

13.3.1 This Pre-Listing Statement is not an invitation to the public to subscribe for Shares in Avior 
Holdings and accordingly is not a prospectus as contemplated in the Companies Act. Should 
Avior Holdings in future issue Shares to Shareholders, Shareholders should ensure that they 
comply with the Exchange Control Regulations, to the extent that those regulations may be 
applicable to them. In this regard, the Exchange Control Regulations currently provide that:

13.3.1.1 a former resident of the Common Monetary Area who has emigrated, may use 
emigrant blocked funds to subscribe for Shares;

13.3.1.2 all payments in respect of subscriptions for Shares by an emigrant, using emigrant 
blocked funds, must be made through the authorised dealer in foreign exchange 
controlling the blocked assets;

13.3.1.3 any Shares issued pursuant to the use of emigrant blocked funds, will be credited 
to their blocked Share accounts at the CSDP controlling their blocked portfolios;

13.3.1.4 any Shares subsequently re-materialised and issued in certificated form, will be 
endorsed “Non-Resident” and will be sent to the authorised dealer in foreign 
exchange through whom the payment was made;

13.3.1.5 if applicable, refund monies payable in respect of unsuccessful applications 
or partly successful applications, as the case may be, for Shares in terms of a 
prospectus, emanating from emigrant blocked accounts, will be returned to the 
authorised dealer in foreign exchange through whom the payments were made, 
for credit to such applicants’ blocked accounts; and

13.3.1.6 Shareholders resident outside the Common Monetary Area should note that, 
where any future Shares issued by Avior Holdings are subsequently re-materialised 
and issued in certificated form, such Share certificates will need to be endorsed 
“Non-Resident” in terms of the Exchange Control Regulations.
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13.4 Litigation statement

There are no legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings that are pending 
or threatened) of which Avior Holdings is aware, which may have, or have during the 12 months 
preceding the Last Practicable Date had, a material effect on the financial position of the Group.

13.5 Material contracts

No material contracts have been entered into either verbally or in writing by Avior Holdings or Avior 
Capital Markets, being restrictive funding arrangements and/or a contract entered into other than 
in the ordinary course of business or to give effect to the Avior Group Restructuring and within the 
two years prior to the date of this Pre-Listing Statement or, at any other time where such agreement 
contains an obligation or settlement that is material to Avior Holdings or Avior Capital Markets as at 
the date of this Pre-Listing Statement.

13.6 Additional disclosure regarding JSE Capital Adequacy Requirements relating to member 
firms trading on behalf of their clients

13.6.1 The JSE Rules require all JSE member firms to maintain adequate regulatory capital to cover 
their specific risk requirements when trading on behalf of their clients (“Capital Adequacy 
Requirement”).

13.6.2 On the 8th September 2016, Avior Capital Markets executed out-of-the-ordinary high 
volume trading on behalf of clients, which resulted in a shortfall in Avior Capital Markets’ 
Capital Adequacy Requirement (“Shortfall Event”).

13.6.3 Subsequent to the Shortfall Event (which is the subject of this paragraph 13.6), the JSE’s 
Market Regulation Division (“JSE’s MRD”) commenced a formal investigation which has 
been ongoing since October 2016. Avior Capital Markets has provided its full support and 
has cooperated fully with the JSE throughout this process to conclude same.

13.6.4 In addition, since the occurrence of the Shortfall Event, Avior Holdings has implemented 
stringent preventative measures and controls throughout the Group.

13.6.5 The disclosure contained in this paragraph 13.6 has been made by Avior Holdings on a 
voluntary basis to ensure good corporate governance within the Group and in order to 
promote pro-active, transparent communication to all Group stakeholders.

13.7 Experts’ consents

The Independent Reporting Accountants Transfer Secretaries, Corporate and Transaction Advisor, 
Designated Advisor and Legal Advisor, whose names appear in the “Corporate Information” 
section of this Pre-Listing Statement, have given and have not, prior to the date of this Pre-Listing 
Statement, withdrawn their written consents to the inclusion of their names and capacities stated, 
and where applicable, to their reports, being included in this Pre-Listing Statement.

13.8 Expenses and listing fees

The estimated costs of the Listing and for preparing and distributing this Pre-Listing Statement to 
Shareholders, including the fees payable to professional advisers for the three years preceding the 
date of the Pre-Listing Statement, are approximately R1 800 000, excluding VAT, and include the 
following:

R

Designated Advisor Pallidus Capital 450 000
Legal Advisors Werksmans 430 000
Independent Reporting Accountant Grant Thornton 300 000
Independent Reporting Accountant PKF 200 000
JSE documentation fees JSE 141 462
JSE listing fees JSE 25 582
Printing, publication, distribution and advertising expenses Ince 64 950
Administration Strate 19 313
Contingency 168 693

TOTAL 1 800 000
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13.9 Responsibility statement

The Directors of Avior Holdings, whose names are set out in paragraph 7.1.1 of this Pre-Listing 
Statement, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information 
contained in this Pre-Listing Statement which relates to Avior Holdings and, in this regard, certify 
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which 
would make any statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such 
facts have been made and that this Pre-Listing Statement contains all information required by the 
JSE Listings Requirements.

13.10 Documents available for inspection

The following documents, or copies thereof, will be available for inspection at the registered office 
of Avior Holdings at the address referred to in the “Corporate Information” section of this Pre-
Listing Statement, during normal office hours from the date of issue of this Pre-Listing Statement 
up to the Listing Date:

13.10.1 the Memoranda of Incorporation of Avior Holdings and its Subsidiaries;

13.10.2 the audited historical financial information of Avior Holdings for the six months ended 
31 October 2016, as reproduced at Annexure 1;

13.10.3 the Independent Reporting Accountants’ reports on the audited historical financial 
information of Avior Holdings, as reproduced at Annexure 2;

13.10.4 the reviewed historical financial information of Avior for the six months ended 31 October 
2016, reproduced as Annexure 3;

13.10.5 the Independent Reporting Accountants’ report on the reviewed historical financial 
information of Avior, as reproduced at Annexure 4;

13.10.6 the audited historical financial information of Avior Capital Markets for the financial years 
ended 30 April 2016, 30 April 2015, 30 April 2014 and 30 April 2013, as reproduced at 
Annexure 5 and Annexure 7;

13.10.7 the Independent Reporting Accountants’ reports on the audited historical financial 
information of Avior Capital Markets, as reproduced at Annexure 6 and Annexure 8;

13.10.8 the pro forma financial information of Avior Holdings for the six months ended 31 October 
2016, as reproduced at Annexure 9;

13.10.9 the Independent Reporting Accountants’ report on the pro forma financial information of 
Avior Holdings, as reproduced at Annexure 10;

13.10.10 the Exchange Agreement;

13.10.11 the Shareholders’ Agreement;

13.10.12 the employment agreements of P Koutromanos, KS Stirling and N Tilly referred to in 
paragraph 7.9.1;

13.10.13 the service letters of the Non-Executive Directors referred to in paragraph 7.9.2;

13.10.14 written consent letters by experts and advisers, as referred to in paragraph 13.7 above; 
and

13.10.15 a copy of this Pre-Listing Statement.
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SIGNED AT SANDTON ON 30 MAY 2017 BY P KOUTROMANOS ON BEHALF OF ALL THE DIRECTORS 
OF THE COMPANY, AS LISTED BELOW, IN TERMS OF POWERS OF ATTORNEY SIGNED BY SUCH 
DIRECTORS

P Koutromanos
Chief Executive Officer

P Koutromanos
KS Mattison
N Tilly
M Ramplin
E Masilela
MD Collier 
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ANNEXURE 1

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AVIOR HOLDINGS FOR THE SIX MONTHS 
ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2016

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 October 2016

Notes 
2016

 R
2015

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 120 120

Total assets 120 120

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 5 120 120

Total equity 120 120

Notes to the annual financial statements

Accounting policies

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, IAS 34 Interim financial reporting and the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The interim financial 
statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and are presented in South African Rand.

The accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

At the date of approval of these annual financial statements, certain new accounting standards, 
amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and 
have not been adopted early by the entity.

Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the entity’s accounting policies 
for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, 
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the entity’s financial statements is 
provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected 
to have a material impact on the entity’s annual financial statements.

2. STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE AND ADOPTED IN THE CURRENT PERIOD

The company has adopted the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and 
are mandatory for the company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 or later periods:

Standard/interpretation:
Effective date: 
Years beginning on or after Expected impact

– IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 1 January 2016
The impact of the amendment is 
not material.

–  IAS 27 Separate Financial 
Statements 1 January 2016

The impact of the amendment is 
not material.

–  IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements 1 January 2016

The impact of the amendment is 
not material.
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3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2016

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand 120

4. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised 2016

400 000 000 Ordinary Shares of no par value 400 000 000 

Reconciliation of number of Shares issued:
Authorised as at 31 October 2016 400 000 000 
Issue of Shares – ordinary Shares (120)

399 999 880

399 999 880 unissued ordinary Shares are under the control of the Directors in terms of a 
resolution of members passed at the last annual general meeting. This authority remains in 
force until the next annual general meeting.

Issued
120 Ordinary Shares of no par values 120

5. RELATED PARTIES

Relationships

Members of key management    Koutromanos, P
        Mattison, KS
        Tilly, N

6. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

No emoluments were paid to the Directors or any individuals holding a prescribed office during the period.

7. STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, STATEMENT IN CHANGES IN EQUITY AND 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

No statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows has 
been prepared as the company did not trade during the period.

8. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any material subsequent events as at the date of the report.

9. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

The Directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting 
records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the interim financial statements and related 
financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the interim financial 
statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the financial period and the 
results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial 
Reporting Standard (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting, and the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

The interim financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standard (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting, and the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates.
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The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the Group and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. 
To enable the Directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal control aimed 
at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation 
of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate 
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the 
Group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Group’s 
business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of 
risk management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of 
risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and 
managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that 
the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on 
for the preparation of the interim financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control 
can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the period to 31 October 2017 and, in 
light of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has or had access 
to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The independent reviewers are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the Group’s 
interim financial statements. The interim financial statements have been examined by the Group’s 
independent reviewers and their report is presented in Annexure 2.

The interim financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.
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ANNEXURE 2

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORTS ON THE AUDITED 
HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AVIOR HOLDINGS

The Directors
Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited
Suite 1003, 1st Floor
82 on Maude
82 Maude Street
Sandton
2196

23 May 2017

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
OF AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS HOLDINGS LIMITED FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2016.

We have audited the interim financial statements of Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries, 
as set out on pages 28 to 30, which comprise the statement of financial position as at as at 31 October 2016, 
and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Annual Financial Statements

The company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these annual financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting 
and requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, and for such internal control as the Directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial statements that are free from material misstatements, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the annual financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
annual financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the annual financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the interim financial statements presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Avior Capital Markets Holdings and its subsidiaries as at 31 October 2016 and its financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard, 
(IAS) 34 Interim financial reporting and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.
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Other reports required by Companies Act 71 of 2008

As part of our audit of the annual financial statements for the for the period ended 31 October 2016, we have 
read the Directors’ report for the purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between 
that report and the audited annual financial statements. The Directors’ report is the responsibility of the 
Directors. Based on reading that report we have not identified material inconsistencies between it and the 
audited annual financial statements. However, we have not audited the Directors’ report and accordingly do 
not express an opinion thereon.

Consent

We consent to the inclusion of:

(a) the reporting accountant’s report in the Pre-Listing Statement; and

(b) references to, or extracts from, the reporting accountant’s report(s) included in the Pre-Listing Statement.

PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants
Chartered Accountants (S.A.)

Herman Nieuwoudt
Partner
Registered Auditor
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ANNEXURE 3

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS FOR THE 
SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2016

Commentary:

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited and its subsidiaries was incorporated in South Africa with 
interests in the financial services industry. The activities of the Group are undertaken through the company 
and its principal subsidiaries. The Group operates in South Africa, Africa and the United Kingdom.

The Group trades as a provider of financial services and other directly and indirectly related services as a 
member of the JSE Limited.

There have been no material changes to the nature of the Group’s business from the prior period.

2. REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND ACTIVITIES

The consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standard (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting, and the requirements of the Companies 
Act, 71 of 2008. The accounting policies have been applied consistently compared to the prior period.

Full details of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Group are set out in these 
consolidated interim financial statements.

3. SHARE CAPITAL

31 October 
2016

31 October 
2015

Authorised Number of Shares

Class A ordinary Shares 400 000 400 000
Class B ordinary Shares 3 600 000 3 600 000

31 October 
2016

31 October 
2015

31 October 
2016

31 October 
2015

Issued R R Number of Shares

Class A ordinary Shares 2 000 2 000 200 000 200 000
Class B ordinary Shares 15 156 15 216 1 515 628 1 521 628

17 156 17 216 1 715 628 1 721 628

4. CONTROL OVER UNISSUED SHARES

The unissued ordinary Shares are the subject of a general authority granted to the Directors in terms of 
section 38 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008. As this general authority remains valid only until the next 
AGM, the Shareholders will be asked at that meeting to consider a special resolution to renew the general 
authority until the next AGM.

5. DIVIDENDS

The company’s dividend policy is to consider an interim and a final dividend in respect of each financial 
period. At its discretion, the Board may consider a special dividend, where appropriate. Depending on the 
perceived need to retain funds for expansion or operating purposes, the Board may pass on the payment 
of dividends.
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Given the current state of the global economic environment, the Board believes that it would be more 
appropriate for the Group to conserve cash and maintain adequate debt headroom to ensure that the 
Group is best placed to withstand any prolonged adverse economic conditions. Therefore the Board has 
resolved not to declare a dividend for the financial period ended 31 October 2016.

6. DIRECTORATE

The Directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Directors Designation
Koutromanos P Executive
Mattison KS Executive
Tilly N Executive

7. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

Interests in Shares

Directors

31 October 
2016 

Direct

30 April 
2016 

Direct

31 October 
2016 

Indirect

30 April 
2016 

Indirect

Koutromanos P – –  860 815 860 815
Mattison KS 455 751 455 751 – –

455 751 455 751 860 815 860 815

8. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The interest of the Group in the profits and losses of its subsidiaries for the period ended 31 October 2016 
are as follows:

Subsidiaries:

Avior Capital Markets International Limited (Scotland, United Kingdom)

Total profits before income tax 13 283 641 1 943 096
Total profits after income tax 22 034 983 11 410 552

Avior Capital Markets International Limited operates in the financial services industry.

9. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited repurchased all the Shares of a material Shareholder for a 
total consideration of R28 789 347 and funded the repurchase through the net issue of Shares of a total 
amount of R8 633 700, Shareholder loans of R9 194 200 and existing cash resources of R10 931 447.

10. GOING CONCERN

The Directors believe that the Group has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and accordingly the consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis. The Directors have satisfied themselves that the Group is in a sound financial 
position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its foreseeable cash requirements. 
The Directors are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely impact the Group. The 
Directors are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or 
of any pending changes to legislation which may affect the Group.

11. AUDITORS

PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants continued in office as auditors for the company and its subsidiaries 
for 2017.
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The financial statements are subject to an independent review and have been reviewed by PKF (VGA) 
Chartered Accountants.

12. DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

The Directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting 
records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the interim financial statements and related 
financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the interim financial 
statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the financial period and the 
results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial 
Reporting Standard (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting, and the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

The interim financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standard (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting, and the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates.

The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the Group and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. 
To enable the Directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal control aimed 
at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation 
of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate 
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the 
Group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Group’s 
business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of 
risk management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of 
risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and 
managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that 
the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on 
for the preparation of the interim financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control 
can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the period to 31 October 2017 and, in 
light of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has or had access 
to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The independent reviewers are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the Group’s 
interim financial statements. The interim financial statements have been examined by the Group’s 
independent reviewers and their report is presented in Annexure 4.

The interim financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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13. SECRETARY

The company secretary is Corporate and Merchant Administrators Proprietary Limited.

Condensed statement of financial position as at 31 October 2016 Group

Figures in Rand Notes
31 October 

2016
30 April 

2016

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 785 579 3 509 268
Investments in subsidiaries – –
Deferred tax 17 690 667 11 069 818

21 476 246 14 579 086

Current assets
Loans to Directors, managers and employees 3 342 749 3 546 059
Margin and collateral accounts 3 18 629 096 7 366 215
Trade and other receivables 4 349 155 2 937 517
Financial assets 4, 5 750 000 750 000
Operating lease asset 404 046 193 008
Current tax receivable 889 707 268 146
Amounts receivable in respect of stockbroking activities 5 141 638 974 426 425 896
Financial assets held for trading 5 1 277 138 6 447 459
Cash and cash equivalents 5 71 202 616 59 904 723

242 483 481 507 839 023

Total assets 263 959 727 522 418 109

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 17 156 17 216
Reserves (8 263 462) (1 616 448)
Retained income 107 530 531 84 289 805

99 284 225 82 690 573

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 6 20 698 983 16 055 688
Loans from Group companies 6 – –
Financial liabilities held for trading 6 1 211 881 4 452 879
Current tax payable – 131 791
Provisions 2 964 042 2 383 928
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities 6 139 800 596 416 703 250

164 675 502 439 727 536

Total equity and liabilities 263 959 727 522 418 109

Total number of Shares in issue 1 715 628 1 721 628
Net asset value per Share (cents) 5 787.05 3 519.76
Tangible net asset value per Share (cents) 4 755.90 3 453.55
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Condensed statement of comprehensive income for the 
year ended 31 October 2016 Group

Figures in Rand Note

Six months 
ended 

31 October 
2016

Six months 
ended 

31 October 
2015

Revenue 7 100 371 191 86 553 169
Cost of sales (24 659 564) (21 186 875)

Gross profit 75 711 627 65 366 294
Other operating income 354 386 77 500
Other operating losses (874 566) –
Other operating expenses (58 476 333) (56 501 354)

Operating profit 16 715 114 8 942 440
Investment income 1 259 025 1 228 905
Finance costs (27 586) (40 918)

Profit before taxation 17 946 553 10 130 427
Taxation 7 902 495 7 119 922

Profit for the period 25 849 048 17 250 349
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (8 263 462) 2 102 171
Other comprehensive income for the period net of 
taxation – –

Total comprehensive income for the period 17 585 586 19 352 520

Weighted average number of Shares 1 715 628 1 734 628
Earnings per Share (cents) 1 025.02 1 115.66
Headline earnings per Share (cents) 1 025.02 1 115.66
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Condensed Statement Of Changes In Equity for the year ended 31 October 2016

Figures in Rand
Share 

capital

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Treasury 
Shares 
reserve

Total 
reserves

Retained 
income

Total 
equity

Group
Balance at 1 May 2015 3 526 704 – (1 493 831) (1 493 831) 58 483 527 60 516 400
Profit for the period – – – – 17 250 349 17 250 349
Other comprehensive 
income – 2 102 171 – 2 102 171 – 2 102 171

Total comprehensive 
income for the period – 2 102 171 – 2 102 171 17 250 349 19 352 520

Distribution of Share 
premium (3 509 358) – – – – (3 509 358)
Dividends – (3 509 358) – – – –
Total contributions by 
and distributions to 
owners of the 
company recognised 
directly in equity – – (6 490 642) (6 490 642) (6 490 642) (10 000 000)

Balance at 31 October 
2015 17 346 2 102 171 (1 493 831) 608 340 71 148 936 71 774 622

Balance at 1 May 2016 17 216 646 753 (2 263 201) (1 616 448) 84 289 805 82 690 573

Profit for the period – – – – 25 849 047 25 849 047
Other comprehensive 
income – (8 910 215) – (8 910 215) – (8 910 215)

Total comprehensive 
income for the period – (8 910 215) – (8 910 215) 25 849 047 16 938 832

Proceeds of Shares 
issued – – (345 120) (345 120) – (345 120)
Buy-back of Shares (60) – – – – (60)
Transfer between 
reserves – – 2 608 321 2 608 321 (2 608 321) –

Total contributions by 
and distributions to 
owners of the 
company recognised 
directly in equity (60) – 2 263 201 2 263 201 (2 608 321) (345 180)

Balance at 31 October 
2016 17 156 (8 263 462) – (8 263 462) 107 530 531 99 284 225
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Condensed statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 October 2016  Group

Figures in Rand

Six months
ended

31 October
2016

Six months
ended

31 October
2015

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers 91 873 535 81 869 514
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (77 874 383) (58 115 962)

Cash generated from operations 13 999 152 23 753 552
Interest income 1 259 025 1 228 905
Finance costs (27 586) (41 391)
Tax paid (2 657 157) (2 143 900)

Net cash from operating activities 12 573 434 22 797 166

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 37 381 (999 684)
Repayment of loans from Group companies – –

Net cash from investing activities 37 381 (999 684)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid – (9 581 324)

Total cash movement for the period 12 610 815 12 216 158
Cash at the beginning of the period 58 591 801 14 883 449

Total cash at end of the period 71 202 616 27 099 607
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Notes To The Interim Financial Statements

1. PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standard (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting, and the Companies Act, 71 of 2008. The financial statements 
have been prepared on the historical basis. They are presented in South African Rand.

The accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

2.1 Standards and Interpretations Effective and Not Yet Adopted

The Group has chosen to early adopt the following standards and interpretations:

Standard/Interpretation

Effective date:
Years beginning

on or after Expected impact

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 
Investment Entities: Applying the consolidation 
expectation

1 January 2016 The impact of the 
standard is not material

Amendments to IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures: Annual Improvements project

1 January 2016 The impact of the 
standard is not material

Disclosure Initiative: Amendment to IAS 1: 
Presentation of Financial Statements

1 January 2016 The impact of the 
standard is not material

Amendment to IAS 34: Interim Financial Reporting. 
Annual Improvements project

1 July 2016 The impact of the 
standard is not material

2.2 Standards and Interpretations Effective and Not Yet Effective

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which 
have been published and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 
1 November 2016 or later periods:

Standard/Interpretation

Effective date:
Years beginning

on or after Expected impact

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 Unable to reliably 
estimate the impact

IFRS 9 (AC 146) Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 Unlikely there will be a 
material impact

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 Unable to reliably 
estimate the impact

Amendments to IFRS 15: Clarifications to IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers

1 January 2018 Unlikely there will be a 
material impact

Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and 
Measurement of Share-Based Payment Transactions

1 January 2018 Unlikely there will be a 
material impact

Amendments to IFRS 4: Applying IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

1 January 2018 Unlikely there will be a 
material impact

Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure initiative 1 January 2017 Unlikely there will be a 
material impact

Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax 
Assets for Unrealised Losses

1 January 2017 Unlikely there will be a 
material impact
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3. MARGIN AND COLLATERAL ACCOUNTS

Group
Figures in Rand 2016 2015

Gilt margin 22 238 (1 328)
JSE – Margin call 392 166 456 981
Nedbank – CFD margin 78 850 100
Standard Bank – Collateral 9 892 327 6 852 155
Society Generate Security Services – Securities Lending 18 166 58 307
RMB – Collateral 8 215 000 –
Sanlam – Collateral 10 349 –

18 629 096 7 366 215

4. FINANCIAL ASSETS

Group
Figures in Rand 2016 2015

At fair value through profit or loss – held for trading
Stock accounts 1 277 138 6 447 459
The balance relates to the stock accounts in the company’s records reflecting 
the company’s proprietary positions in securities and financial instruments.
Loans and receivables
ASISA Enterprise Development Fund 750 000 750 000
The loan is unsecured and interest free. The loan is repayable within seven 
years after the initial loan was granted on 25 April 2014.

Total other financial assets 2 027 138 7 197 459

Non-current assets
Held for trading (fair value through income) 1 277 138 6 447 459

Current assets
Loans and receivables 750 000 750 000

2 027 138 7 197 459

Fair value information

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at fair value, which is therefore equal to 
their carrying amounts.

The carrying amount of the loan approximates fair value.

Fair value hierarchy of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

For financial assets recognised at fair value, disclosure is required of a fair value hierarchy which reflects 
the significance of the inputs used to make the measurements.

Level 1 represents those assets which are measured using unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets.

Level 3 applies inputs which are not based on observable market data.
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Group
Figures in Rand 2016 2015

Level 1
Stock accounts 1 277 138 6 447 459
Level 3
Loans and receivables 750 000 750 000

2 027 138 7 197 459

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the held to maturity 
financial assets.

5. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Loans and
receivables

Fair value
through
profit or

loss – held
for trading Total

Group – 31 October 2016
Other financial assets 750 000 – 750 000
Amounts receivable in respect of stockbroking 
activities 141 638 974 – 141 638 974
Stock accounts – 1 277 138 1 277 138
Trade and other receivables 4 349 155 – 4 349 155
Loans to Directors, managers and employees 3 342 749 – 3 342 749
Margin and collateral accounts 18 629 096 – 18 629 096
Cash and cash equivalents 71 202 616 – 71 202 616

239 912 590 1 277 138 241 189 728

Group – 30 April 2016
Other financial assets 750 000 – 750 000
Stock accounts – 6 447 459 6 447 459
Amounts receivable in respect of stockbroking 
activities 426 425 896 – 426 425 896
Trade and other receivables 2 937 517 – 2 937 517
Margin and collateral accounts 7 366 215 – 7 366 215
Cash and cash equivalents 59 904 723 – 59 904 723

497 384 351 6 447 459 503 831 810

6. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Financial
liabilities at

amortised
cost

Fair value
through
profit or

loss – held
for trading Total

Group – 31 October 2016
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities 139 800 596 – 139 800 596
Trade and other payables 20 698 983 – 20 698 983
Other financial liabilities – 1 211 881 1 211 881
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Financial
liabilities at

amortised
cost

Fair value
through
profit or

loss – held
for trading Total

160 499 579 1 211 881 161 711 460

Group – 30 April 2016
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities 416 703 250 – 416 703 250
Trade and other payables 16 055 688 – 16 055 688
Other financial liabilities – 4 452 879 4 452 879

432 758 938 4 452 879 437 211 817

7. REVENUE

Group
Figures in Rand 2016 2016

Trading income 17 168 752 1 676 785
Research services 7 122 519 13 925 461
Corporate finance – 849 068
Commission trading income 14 958 267 22 303 659
Basic brokerage 61 052 153 47 649 649
JSE Trustees fees 69 500 148 547

100 371 191 86 553 169

8. RELATED PARTIES

Relationships

Holding company Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited
Subsidiaries Avior Capital Markets International Limited

Avior Number 2 Proprietary Limited
Groombridge Nominees Proprietary Limited

Joint controlled entity CheetahFIX Limited

Group
Figures in Rand 2016 2015

Related party balances
Loans – owing (to)/by related parties
Avior Number 2 Proprietary Limited – –
Loans to Directors, managers and employees 2 310 540 2 513 849
Amounts included in trade receivable/(trade payable) regarding 
related parties
Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited – –
Related party transactions
Interest paid to/(received from) related parties
Loans to Directors, managers and employers (136 942) –
Purchases from/(sales to) related parties
CheetahFIX Limited 404 292 512 884
Commission fees paid to/(received from) related parties
Avior Capital Markets International Limited – –
Compensation to Directors and other key management
Short-term employee benefits 8 649 913 20 284 282



44

9. DIRECTOR’S EMOLUMENTS

Figures in Rand Emoluments
Travel

allowance
Annual
bonus Total

Executive
October 2016
Koutromanos P 2 707 648 – 880 000 3 587 648
Mattison KS 1 800 132 12 000 857 000 2 669 132
Tilly N 1 210 794 – 762 000 1 972 794

5 718 574 12 000 2 499 000 8 229 574

April 2016
Burrell SL 1 440 000 – 200 000 1 640 000
Koutromanos P 4 550 000 – 1 410 476 5 960 476
Mattison KS 2 976 000 24 000 1 303 477 4 303 477
Tilly N 1 900 000 – 1 631 000 3 531 000

10 866 000 24 000 4 544 953 15 434 953



45

ANNEXURE 4

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORTS ON THE REVIEWED 
HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS

The Directors
Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited
Suite 1003, 1st Floor
82 on Maude
82 Maude Street
Sandton
2196

19 May 2017

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
OF AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS PROPRIETARY LIMITED FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 OCTOBER 
2016.

We have reviewed the condensed interim financial statements of Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited 
and its subsidiaries, contained in the accompanying interim report, which comprise the condensed statement 
of financial position as at 31 October 2016, the condensed statement of comprehensive income, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the six months then ended, and selected explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Interim Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of these condensed interim financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting, 
the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides, as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial 
Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council and the requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of interim financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

Independent Reviewer’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on these condensed interim financial statements. We conducted 
our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements (ISRE) 2410, Review of Interim 
Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity. ISRE 2410 requires us to conclude 
whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the interim financial statements are 
not prepared in all material respects in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. 
This standard also requires us to comply with relevant ethical requirements.

A review of interim financial statements in accordance with ISRE 2410 is a limited assurance engagement. 
We perform procedures, primarily consisting of making inquiries of management and others within the entity, 
as appropriate, and applying analytical procedures, and evaluate the evidence obtained.

The procedures performed in a review are substantially less than and differ in nature from those performed in 
an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Accordingly, we do not express an 
audit opinion on these financial statements.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying 
condensed interim financial statements do not fairly present, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited and its subsidiaries, for the six months ended 31 October 2016, and 
it’s financial performance and cash flow for the period then ended in accordance with IAS 34, Interim Financial 
Reporting, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and 
Financial Pronouncements as issued by Financial Reporting Standards Council and the requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa.
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Other reports required by the Companies Act

As part of our independent review of the condensed interim financial statements for the period ended 
31 October 2016, we have read the Directors’ Report for the purpose of identifying whether there are material 
inconsistencies between these reports and the reviewed condensed interim financial statements. The 
Directors’ Report is the responsibility of the Director. Based on reading these reports we have not identified 
material inconsistencies between it and the reviewed condensed interim financial statements. However, we 
have not reviewed the Directors’ Report and accordingly do not express a conclusion thereon.

Consent

We consent to the inclusion of:

(a) the reporting accountant’s report in the Pre-Listing Statement; and
(b) references to, or extracts from, the reporting accountant’s report(s) included in the Pre-Listing Statement.

PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants
Chartered Accountants (S.A.)

Herman Nieuwoudt
Partner
Registered Auditor
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ANNEXURE 5

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2016

COMMENTARY:

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited and its subsidiaries was incorporated in South Africa with 
interests in the financial services industry. The activities of the Group are undertaken through the company 
and its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements. The Group operates in South Africa, 
Africa and the United Kingdom.

The Group trades as a provider of financial services and other directly and indirectly related services as a 
member of the JSE Limited.

There have been no material changes to the nature of the Group’s business from the prior year.

2. REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND ACTIVITIES

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The accounting 
policies have been applied consistently compared to the prior year.

The Group recorded a net profit after tax for the year ended 30 April 2016 of R32 296 920. This represented 
an increase of 28% from the net profit after tax of the prior year of R23 927 527.

Group revenue increased by 31% from R139 223 305 in the prior year to R181 775 953 for the year ended 
30 April 2016.

Group cash flows from operating activities increased by 66% from R8 850 478 in the prior year to 
R57 143 624 for the year ended 30 April 2016.

3. SHARE CAPITAL

2016 2015

Number of Shares

Authorised

Class A ordinary Shares 400 000 400 000
Class B ordinary Shares 3 600 000 3 600 000

2016 2015 2016 2015

R R Number of Shares

Issued
Class A ordinary Shares 2 000 2 000 200 000 200 000
Class B ordinary Shares 15 216 15 346 1 521 628 1 534 628

17 216 17 346 1 721 628 1 734 628

Refer to note 14 of the consolidated annual financial statements for detail of the movement in authorised 
and issued Share capital.

4. AUTHORITY TO BUY BACK SHARES

At the last AGM held on 15 September 2015, Shareholders gave the company or any of its subsidiaries 
a general approval in terms of section 48 of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, by way of special resolution, 
for the acquisition of its own Shares. As this general approval remains valid only until the next AGM is 
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held, the Shareholders will be asked at the next meeting to consider a special resolution to renew this 
general authority until the next AGM.

13 000 Shares were repurchased at an average price of R59,18 per Share during the current year in terms 
of this general authority. These Shares are held as treasury Shares.

5. CONTROL OVER UNISSUED SHARES

The unissued ordinary Shares are the subject of a general authority granted to the Directors in terms of 
section 38 of the Companies Act. As this general authority remains valid only until the next AGM, the 
Shareholders will be asked at that meeting to consider an ordinary resolution placing the said unissued 
ordinary Shares under the control of the Directors until the next AGM.

6. DIVIDENDS

The company’s dividend policy is to consider an interim and a final dividend in respect of each financial 
year. At its discretion, the Board may consider a special dividend, where appropriate. Depending on the 
perceived need to retain funds for expansion or operating purposes, the Board may pass on the payment 
of dividends.

An interim dividend of 374 cents per Share was approved by the Board on 6 August 2015 in South African 
currency in respect of the year ended 30 April 2016. The dividend payment date is 7 August 2015 to 
Shareholders recorded on the register of the company at close of business on 6 August 2015.

Share premium distribution to the Shareholders recorded on the register of the company at 202 cents 
per Share was approved by the Board on 6 August 2015 in South African currency in respect of the year 
ended 30 April 2016. The distribution payment date is 7 August to the Shareholders recorded on the 
register of the company at close of business on 6 August 2015.

The local dividends tax rate is 15%.

7. INSURANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group follows a policy of reviewing the risks relating to assets and possible liabilities arising from 
business transactions with its insurers on an annual basis. Wherever possible assets are automatically 
included. There is also a continuous asset risk control programme which is carried out in conjunction with 
the Group’s insurance brokers. All risks are considered to be adequately covered, except for political risks, 
in the case of which as much cover as is reasonably available has been arranged.

8. DIRECTORATE

The Directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Directors Office Designation Changes

Burrell SL Other Executive Resigned 31 October 2015
Koutromanos P Chairperson Executive
Mattison KS Other Executive
Tilly N Other Executive

Mr SL Burrell resigned as an Executive Director effective 31 October 2015. The Board expressed its 
sincere appreciation to the outgoing Director for his contributions during his respective period of office.
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9. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

Interests in Shares

Directors
2016

Direct
2015

Direct
2016

Indirect
2015

Indirect

Burrell SL 301 049 301 049 – –
Koutromanos P – – 860 815 858 982
Mattison KS 455 751 457 584 – –

756 800 758 633 860 815 858 982

10. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of material interests in subsidiary companies are presented in the consolidated annual financial 
statements in notes 4.

The interest of the Group in the profits and losses of its subsidiaries for the year ended 30 April 2016 are 
as follows:

Subsidiaries
Total profits before income tax 12 831 693 3 237 121
Total profits after income tax 23 774 317 3 237 121

There were no significant acquisitions or divestitures during the year ended 30 April 2016.

11. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

These financials were reissued on the 15th of December 2016 as the first published financials were 
misstated. There was a miscalculation in bonus payouts to the Directors, but this was subsequently 
corrected. The effect on the financial statements was an increase in Directors’ loans receivable and a 
decrease in employee costs of R1 019 047. The adjustment had an impact on the current year taxation, 
increasing the taxation expense and the current tax liability with R289 018. Interest was raised on the 
additional Directors’ loan and this increased investment revenue with R13 163.

12. GOING CONCERN

The Directors believe that the Group has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and accordingly the consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis. The Directors have satisfied themselves that the Group is in a sound financial position 
and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its foreseeable cash requirements. The 
Directors are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely impact the Group. The Directors 
are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any 
pending changes to legislation which may affect the Group.

13. AUDITORS

PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants were appointed as auditors for the company and its subsidiaries for 
2016.

14. SECRETARY

The company secretary is Corporate and Merchant Administrators (Proprietary) Limited.

15. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

The Directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting 
records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the consolidated annual financial statements 
and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the 
consolidated annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the 
financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with 
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International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the consolidated annual financial statements.

The consolidated annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the Group and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. 
To enable the Directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal control aimed 
at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation 
of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate 
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the 
Group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Group’s 
business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of 
risk management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of 
risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and 
managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that 
the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied 
on for the preparation of the consolidated annual financial statements. However, any system of internal 
financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement 
or loss.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the year to 30 April 2017 and, in light 
of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has or had access to 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Group’s consolidated 
annual financial statements. The consolidated annual financial statements have been examined by the 
Group’s external auditors and their report is presented in Annexure 6.

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 April 2016

Figures in Rand Notes

Group

2016 2015

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 3 509 268 3 110 488
Investments in subsidiaries 4 – –
Deferred tax 5 11 069 818 1 139 860

14 579 086 4 250 348

Current assets
Loans to Directors, managers and employees 7 3 546 059 3 255 821
Margin and collateral accounts 8 7 366 215 69 202 085
Trade and other receivables 9 2 937 517 6 818 222
Financial assets 10 7 197 459 750 000
Operating lease asset 11 193 008 –
Current tax receivable 268 146 306 176
Amounts receivable in respect of stockbroking activities 12 426 425 896 197 340 630
Cash and cash equivalents 13 59 904 723 17 155 910

507 839 023 294 828 844

Total assets 522 418 109 299 079 192

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share capital 14 17 216 3 526 704
Reserves (1 616 448) (1 413 123)
Retained income 84 289 805 58 483 527

82 690 573 60 597 108

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 16 055 688 18 356 678
Loans from Group companies 6 – –
Financial liabilities held for trading 16 4 452 879 –
Operating lease liability 11 – 571 925
Current tax payable 131 791 126 510
Provisions 17 2 383 928 2 401 768
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities 416 703 250 214 752 746
Bank overdraft 13 – 2 272 457

439 727 536 238 482 084

Total equity and liabilities 522 418 109 299 079 192
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2016

Figures in Rand Notes

 Group

2016 2015

Revenue 20 181 775 953 139 223 305
Cost of sales 21 (45 006 820) (29 325 471)

Gross profit 136 769 133 109 897 834
Other income 22 103 928 1 226 146
Operating expenses (116 226 650) (80 778 404)

Operating profit 23 20 646 411 30 345 576
Investment revenue 24 2 679 110 2 440 350
Fair value adjustments 25 1 770 478 (378 836)
Finance costs 26 (398 951) (38 702)

Profit before taxation 24 697 048 32 368 388
Taxation 27 7 599 872 (8 440 861)

Profit for the year 32 296 920 23 927 527
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 646 753 80 708

Other comprehensive income for the year net of taxation 646 753 80 708

Total comprehensive income for the year 32 943 673 24 008 235
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 30 April 2016

Figures in Rand Notes

Group

2016 2015

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers 159 136 413 135 327 306
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (101 877 386) (119 292 111)

Cash generated from operations 28 57 259 027 16 035 195
Interest income 2 679 110 2 440 350
Finance costs (398 951) (38 702)
Tax paid 31 (2 395 562) (9 586 365)

Net cash from operating activities 57 143 624 8 850 478

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (2 541 030) (2 638 552)
Business combinations – –
Proceeds from loans from Group companies – 1 019 854
Movement in Group loans – –

Net cash from investing activities (2 541 030) (1 618 698)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid and reduction in Share premium 32 (9 581 324) (2 000 000)

Total cash movement for the year 45 021 270 5 231 780
Cash at the beginning of the year 14 883 453 9 651 673

Total cash at end of the year 13 59 904 723 14 883 453
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Accounting Policies

1. PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”) Listings Requirements, the requirements of the South African 
Companies Act and the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices 
Committee and Financial Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council. 
The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for 
the measurement of certain financial instruments at fair value, and incorporate the principal accounting 
policies set out below. They are presented in South African Rand.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Consolidation

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the consolidated annual financial 
statements of the Group and all investees which are controlled by the Group.

The Group has control of an investee when it has power over the investee; it is exposed to or has 
rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and it has the ability to use its power 
over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated annual financial statements from the 
effective date of acquisition to the effective date of disposal.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full-on consolidation.

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. 
The cost of the business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of assets 
given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued. Costs directly attributable to 
the business combination are expensed as incurred, except the costs to issue debt which are 
amortised as part of the effective interest and costs to issue equity which are included in equity.

Contingent consideration is included in the cost of the combination at fair value as at the date of 
acquisition. Subsequent changes to the assets, liability or equity which arise as a result of the 
contingent consideration are not affected against goodwill, unless they are valid measurement 
period adjustments.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities which meet the recognition 
conditions of IFRS 3 Business combinations are recognised at their fair values at acquisition date, 
except for non-current assets (or disposal Group) that are classified as held-for-sale in accordance 
with IFRS 5 Non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued operations, which are recognised at 
fair value less costs to sell.

Contingent liabilities are only included in the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree where 
there is a present obligation at acquisition date.

On acquisition, the Group assesses the classification of the acquiree’s assets and liabilities and 
reclassifies them where the classification is inappropriate for Group purposes. This excludes lease 
agreements and insurance contracts, whose classification remains as per their inception date.

Goodwill is determined as the consideration paid, plus the fair value of any Shareholding held prior 
to obtaining control, plus non-controlling interest and less the fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the acquiree.

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested on an annual basis for impairment. If goodwill is assessed to 
be impaired, that impairment is not subsequently reversed.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of foreign entities is considered an asset of the foreign entity. In such 
cases the goodwill is translated to the functional currency of the Group at the end of each reporting 
period with the adjustment recognised in equity through to other comprehensive income.
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1.2 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the consolidated annual financial statements, management is required to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts represented in the consolidated annual financial 
statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement is 
inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates 
which may be material to the consolidated annual financial statements. Significant judgements 
include:

Trade receivables and loans and receivables

The Group assesses its trade receivables, held to maturity investments and loans and receivables 
for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment loss 
should be recorded in profit or loss, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is observable 
data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at 
the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the 
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of 
methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the end of 
each reporting period. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for 
long-term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine 
fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated 
as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. The fair value of forward foreign exchange 
contracts is determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated 
by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available 
to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. 
Additional disclosure of these estimates of provisions are included in note 17 – Provisions.

Taxation

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of 
legislation. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination 
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated 
tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences 
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is 
made.

The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the 
extent that it is probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the Group to make 
significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable 
income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws 
in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from 
estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the 
reporting period could be impacted.

1.3 Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure 
which is directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses.
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Depreciation is charged to write off the asset’s carrying amount over its estimated useful life to 
its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern in which the asset’s 
economic benefits are consumed by the Group. Leased assets are depreciated in a consistent 
manner over the shorter of their expected useful lives and the lease term.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Computer equipment Straight line 3 years
Computer software Straight line 2 years
Furniture and fixtures Straight line 6 years
Leasehold improvements Straight line Duration of the lease
Motor vehicles Straight line 3 years
Office equipment Straight line 6 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for 
prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the 
carrying amount of another asset. Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment 
when there is an indicator that they may be impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with 
the recoverable amount. An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal 
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or 
loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit 
or loss when the item is derecognised. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, 
if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.4 Interests in subsidiaries

Company annual financial statements

In the company’s separate consolidated annual financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are 
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment.

The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:

•	 the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity 
instruments issued by the company; plus

•	 any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.

1.5 Financial Instruments

Financial instruments, as reflected on the statement of financial position, include all financial 
assets, financial liabilities, and equity instruments. They exclude prepayments, deferred income, 
investments in subsidiaries, investments in associates, property and equipment, deferred taxation, 
taxation receivable/payable, and provisions.

The Group has the following financial instruments:

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value. Appropriate allowances for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence 
that the asset is impaired.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest rate method.
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Bank overdraft and borrowings

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured 
at fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other 
short-term, highly liquid investments maturing within 90 days from the date of acquisition that are 
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost which approximates fair value due 
to the short-term nature of these instruments.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments.

All purchases of financial assets that require delivery within the timeframe established by regulation 
or market convention (“regular way’ purchases) are recognised at the trade date, which is the date 
on which the Group commits to purchase the financial asset. The liability to pay for ‘regular way’ 
purchases of financial assets is recognised on the trade date, which is when the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a 
financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which 
a fair value is not determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale 
financial assets.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit 
or loss.

Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured 
at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the 
financial instruments.

Classification

The Group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

•	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – held for trading
•	 Loans and receivables
•	 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred 
and takes place at initial recognition. Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis.

Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss include items that are either classified as held 
for trading or that meet certain conditions and are designated at fair value through profit or loss upon 
initial recognition.

The following have been designated as financial assets measured at fair value through profit and 
loss:

•	 Other financial assets

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market, other than:

•	 Those that the Group intends to sell immediately or in the short-term, which are categorised 
as held for trading, and those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as at fair value 
through profit or loss;
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•	 Those that the Group upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or
•	 Those which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than 

because of credit deterioration.

They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention 
of trading the advance.

The following are classified as loans and receivable when they have fixed or determinable payments 
or when payments have been estimated because the contractual repayment terms have not been 
agreed upon:

•	 Trade and other receivables
•	 Other financial assets
•	 Amounts receivable in respect of stockbroking activities
•	 Margin and collateral accounts
•	 Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through profit and loss, are classified as in this 
category. The following are included in this category:

•	 Trade and other payables
•	 Bank overdraft and borrowings

Subsequent measurement

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value, 
with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value being included in profit or loss for the period.

Net gains or losses on the financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss exclude dividends 
and interest.

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income when the Group’s right to 
receive payment is established.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method, less accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or Group of financial assets has been impaired.

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its loans and receivables to determine whether there 
is any indication that those loans and receivables have become impaired, using objective evidence 
at a loan level. A loan or receivable is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after initial 
recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event(s) has an adverse impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or Group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 
Losses expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised.

Objective evidence that a financial asset or Group of assets is impaired includes observable data 
that comes to the attention of the Group about the following loss events:

•	 Significant financial difficulty of the debtor.
•	 A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in the payment of interest or principal.

The recoverable amount is the sum of the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present 
value using a discount rate that reflects the original effective interest rate relating to the loan. 
The estimate of the cash flows is assessed on a loan-by-loan basis.

If the recoverable amount of the loan is estimated to be less than the carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the loan is reduced to its recoverable amount by raising an impairment provision 
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(through the use of a separate allowance account), which is recognised as an expense is profit 
or loss. Loans are written off, either partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of full or 
partial recovery. A write-off is effected against the allowance account.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the loan is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the loan in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is immediately recognised 
in profit or loss.

Impairment provisions raised during the year are charged to profit or loss.

Loans that would otherwise be past due or impaired and whose terms have been re-negotiated and 
exhibit the characteristics of a performing loan status. Loans whose terms have been re-negotiated 
are subject to ongoing review to determine whether they are considered to be impaired or past due.

Collateral

Generally no collateral is held in respect of recognised financial assets. In the event that collateral 
is held, it is not recognised by the Group, as the Group does not retain the risks and rewards of 
ownership, and is obliged to return such collateral to counterparties on settlement of the related 
obligations. Should a counterparty be unable to settle its obligations, the Group takes possession of 
collateral or calls on other credit enhancements as full or part settlement of such amounts. These 
assets are recognised when the applicable recognition criteria under IFRS are met, and the Group’s 
according policies are applied from the date of recognition.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Deferred loan 
income reduces the outstanding.

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Ordinary Share capital and any financial instrument issued by the Group is classified as equity when:

•	 Payment of cash, in the form of a dividend or redemption, is at the discretion of the Group;
•	 The instrument does not provide for the exchange of financial instruments under conditions that 

are potentially unfavourable to the Group;
•	 Settlement in the Group’s own equity instruments is for a fixed number of equity instruments 

at a fixed price; and
•	 The instrument represents a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all its 

liabilities.

Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Transactions that affect equity

Share capital and Share premium and transaction costs

Shares issued by the company are recorded at the value of the proceeds received less external 
costs directly attributable to the issue of Shares. All transactions relating to the acquisition and sale 
or issue of Shares in the company, together with their associated costs, are accounted for in equity.

Treasury Shares

Where the company or any other member of the Group purchases the company’s equity Share 
capital, such Shares are classified as treasury Shares and the par value of these treasury Shares 
is deducted from the Share capital, whereas the remainder of the cost price is deducted from the 
Share premium until the treasury Shares are cancelled.

Where such Shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in 
Shareholder’s equity.



61

Treasury Shares are deducted from the issued and weighted average number of Shares on 
consolidation. All dividends received on treasury Shares are eliminated on consolidation.

The Group does not recognise any gains or losses through profit or loss when its own Shares are 
repurchased.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards 
of ownership.

1.6 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the 
amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those 
periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities/(assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be paid to/(recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that 
the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can 
be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor 
taxable profit/(tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be 
utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for 
the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:

•	 a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other 
comprehensive income; or

•	 a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax 
relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive 
income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items 
that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.7 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
The difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are 
recognised as an operating lease asset.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.8 Impairment of Assets

The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an 
asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount 
of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for 
the individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs 
to sell and its value-in-use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment 
loss recognised in prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an 
impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or 
amortisation other than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an 
impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.9 Employee Benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is 
rendered, such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as 
medical care), are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the 
absence occurs.

1.10 Provisions and Contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

•	 the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
•	 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation; and
•	 a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle 
the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by 
another party, the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain 
that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall 
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be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the 
amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 
are not recognised.

1.11 Revenue

Revenue is derived from the business of stockbroking and related activities and comprises equity 
brokerage, commissions, dividends, initial charges on disposal of units and fees and CSA income, 
commission trading income and proprietary trading income. Brokerage, commissions and fee 
income is recognised when costs can be measured and the receipts of the future economic benefits 
are probable.

Research service fees and corporate financing fees are recognised when the service is rendered.

Service fees included in the price of the product are recognised as revenue over the period during 
which the service is performed and this comprises JSE trustee fees.

1.12 Cost of sales

The related cost of providing services recognised as revenue in the current period is included in 
cost of sales.

1.13 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until such time as the asset is ready 
for its intended use. The amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined as 
follows:

•	 Actual borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying 
asset less any temporary investment of those borrowings.

•	 Weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the entity on funds generally borrowed 
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. The borrowing costs capitalised do not exceed 
the total borrowing costs incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:

•	 expenditures for the asset have occurred;
•	 borrowing costs have been incurred; and
•	 activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.

Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset 
for its intended use or sale are complete.

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.14 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign 
currency amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency 
at the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:

•	 foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
•	 non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
•	 non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.



64

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items 
at rates different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period 
or in previous consolidated annual financial statements are recognised in profit or loss in the period 
in which they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised to other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised to other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is 
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the 
foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date 
of the cash flow.

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

The results and financial position of a foreign operation are translated into the functional currency 
using the following procedures:

•	 assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the 
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

•	 income and expenses for each item of profit or loss are translated at exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions; and

•	 all resulting exchange differences are recognised to other comprehensive income and 
accumulated as a separate component of equity.

Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of a net investment in a foreign 
operation are recognised initially to other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation 
reserve. They are recognised in profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment through to other 
comprehensive income on disposal of net investment.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition of that foreign operation are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation.

The cash flows of a foreign subsidiary are translated at the exchange rates between the functional 
currency and the foreign currency at the dates of the cash flows.

1.15 Reporting segments

The Group has two main reportable segments that compromise the structure used by the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) to make key operating decisions and assess performance. The Group’s 
reportable segments are operating segments that are differentiated by the activities that each 
undertakes and the products the market (referred to as business segments). Each business utilises 
different technology and marketing strategies.

The measurement policies the Group uses for segment reporting under IFRS 8 are the same as 
those used in its financial statements, except that certain items are not included in arriving at the 
operating profit of the operating segments (post employment benefit expenses, expenses relating 
to Share-based payments, research costs and items relating to investment property). In addition, 
corporate assets which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating 
segment are not allocated to a segment.

The Group evaluates the performance of its reportable segments based on revenue from operations. 
The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales and transfers were entered 
into under the same terms and conditions as would have been entered into in a market related 
transaction. The financial information of the Group’s reportable segments is reported to the CEO 
for purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to the segment and assessing its 
performance.
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Notes to The Consolidated Annual Financial Statements

2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have 
been published and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 May 
2016 or later periods:

Standard/Interpretation
Effective date: Years 
beginning on or after Expected impact

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
its Associate or Joint Venture

1 January 2016 Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 Unable to reliably 
estimate the impact

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 Unable to reliably 
estimate the impact

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers 

1 January 2018 Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

Amendments to IFRS 15: Clarifications to 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers

1 January 2018 Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

Measurement of Share-Based Payment 
Transactions

1 January 2018 Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure initiative 1 January 2017 Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of Deferred 
Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

1 January 2017 Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

Amendments to IFRS 10, 12 and IAS 28: 
Investment Entities. Applying the consolidation 
exemption

1 January 2016 Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

Amendment to IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures: Annual Improvements project

1 January 2016 Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

Amendment to IAS 19: Employee Benefits: 
Annual Improvements project

1 January 2016 Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

Disclosure Initiative: Amendment to IAS 1: 
Presentation of Financial Statements

1 January 2016 Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

Amendment to IAS 34: Interim Financial 
Reporting. Annual Improvements project

1 January 2016 Unlikely there will be 
a material impact
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4. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES INCLUDING CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

The following table lists the entities which are controlled by the Group, either directly or indirectly through 
subsidiaries:

Name of company Held by
% Holding

2016
% Holding

2015

Carrying
amount

2016

Carrying
amount

2015

Avior Capital Markets International Limited 100.00 100.00 1 749 174 1 749 174
Avior Number 2 Proprietary Limited 100.00 100.00 153 153
Groombridge Nominees Proprietary 
Limited 100.00 100.00 1 000 1 000

1 153 1 153

1 750 327 1 750 327

5. DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax asset 2016 2015

Provisions and allowances 85 997 1 088 079
Property, plant and equipment 150 254 51 781

Deferred tax balance from temporary differences other than unused tax 
losses 236 251 1 139 860
Tax losses available for set-off against future taxable income 10 833 567 –

11 069 818 1 139 860

Total deferred tax asset 11 069 818 1 139 860

Deferred tax asset 11 069 818 1 139 860
Reconciliation of deferred tax asset/(liability)
At beginning of year 1 139 860 445 388
Increases in tax loss available for set-off against future taxable income 10 833 567 –
Differences on provisions and allowances – 596 000
Differences on property, plant and equipment (903 609) 98 472

11 069 818 1 139 860

6. LOANS TO/(FROM) GROUP COMPANIES

Subsidiaries

Avior Number 2 Proprietary Limited – –

These loans are unsecured and interest free, with no fixed terms of repayment.
Fair value of loans to and from Group companies
Loans from Group companies – –

7. LOANS TO DIRECTORS, MANAGERS AND EMPLOYEES

Loans to Directors, managers and employees

At beginning of the year 3 255 821 1 296 889
Advances 1 032 210 1 972 875
Interest 641 995 168 724
Repayments (918 418) (132 405)
Dividends declared (465 549) (50 262)

3 546 059 3 255 821
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The loans to Directors, managers and employees bear interest at 9% p.a., secured by ordinary Shares in 
the company and are repayable over three years.

Loans to Directors, managers and employees

The Shares in the hands of the employees will vest in accordance with Section 8C of the Income Tax Act 
as follows:

2016 2015

31 October 2015 1 245 722 1 245 722
31 October 2017 1 268 127 2 010 100

8. MARGIN AND COLLATERAL ACCOUNTS

Gilt margin (1 328) 3 703
JSE – Margin Call 456 981 6 421 536
Nedbank – CFD margin 100 100
Standard Bank – Securities lending deposit 6 852 155 10 524 746
Societe Generale Security Services – Securities lending deposit 58 307 52 252 000

7 366 215 69 202 085

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 1 838 365 5 232 138
Prepayments 684 797 696 468
Deposits 3 500 3 500
Other receivables 410 855 886 116

2 937 517 6 818 222

Credit quality of trade and other receivables

The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past nor due nor impaired can be assessed 
by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default 
rates:

Trade receivables

Counterparties without external credit rating

Group 1 – 2 663 499
Group 2 445 489 136 191

445 489 2 799 690

Group 1 – new customer (less six months).

Group 2 – existing customer (more than six months) with no defaults in the past.

Fair value of trade and other receivables

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate its fair value.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

Trade and other receivables which are less than three months past due are not considered to be impaired. 
At 30 April 2016, R445 489 (2015: R182 754) were past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

1 month past due – 19 245
2 months past due – 27 318
3 months past due 445 489 182 754
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10. FINANCIAL ASSETS

At fair value through profit or loss – held for trading

2016 2015

Stock account 6 447 459 –

The balance relates to the stock account in the company’s records reflecting the company’s proprietary 
positions in securities and financial instruments.

Loans and receivables

ASISA Enterprise Development Fund 750 000 750 000
The loan is unsecured and interest free. The loan is repayable within seven 
years after the initial loan was granted on 25 April 2014.

Total other financial assets 7 197 459 750 000

Current assets
Held for trading (fair value through income) 6 447 459 –
Loans and receivables 750 000 750 000

7 197 459 750 000

Fair value information

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at fair value, which is therefore equal to 
their carrying amounts.

The carrying amount of the loan approximates fair value.

Fair value hierarchy of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

For financial assets recognised at fair value, disclosure is required of a fair value hierarchy which reflects 
the significance of the inputs used to make the measurements.

Level 1 represents those assets which are measured using unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets.

Level 3 applies inputs which are not based on observable market data.

Level 1
Stock account 6 447 459 –
Level 3
Loans and receivables 750 000 750 000

7 197 459 750 000

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of loan mentioned 
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

11. OPERATING LEASE ASSET (ACCRUAL)

Straight lining of leases – asset 193 008 –
Straight lining of leases – liability – (571 925)

193 008 (571 925)
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12. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE IN RESPECT OF STOCKBROKING ACTIVITIES

2016 2015

Futures daily balance 3 520 088 14 180 769
Gilt clearing house (46 557) 60 378
JSE Trustees 16 299 040 17 075 848
Non-controlled substitution 398 893 013 166 016 266
Proprietary loan 91 7 369
JSE Trustees financial Rand 1 170 792 –
Broker netting account 6 589 520 –

426 425 987 197 340 630

13. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 10 922 5 722
Bank balances 44 683 264 2 940 422
Short-term deposits 15 210 537 14 209 766
Bank overdraft – (2 272 457)

59 904 723 14 883 453

Current assets 59 904 723 17 155 910
Current liabilities – (2 272 457)

59 904 723 14 883 453

Credit quality of cash at bank and short-term deposits, excluding 
cash on hand
The credit quality of cash at bank and short-term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past 
due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or historical 
information about counterparty default rates:

Credit rating
A 58 580 879 14 877 731
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14. SHARE CAPITAL

2016 2015

Authorised

400 000 “A” Ordinary Shares of R0.01 each 4 000 4 000
3 600 000 “B” Ordinary Shares of R0.01 each 36 000 36 000

40 000 40 000

Reconciliation of number of Shares issued:
Reported as at 1 May 2015 1 734 628 1 700 981
Cancellation Shares – (3 411)
Share buy back (13 000) –
Issue of Shares – ordinary Shares – 37 058

1 721 628 1 734 628

2 278 372 (2015: 2 265 372) unissued ordinary Shares are under the 
control of the Directors in terms of a resolution of members passed at 
the last annual general meeting. This authority remains in force until the 
next annual general meeting.
Issued
Ordinary 17 216 17 346
Share premium – 3 509 358

17 216 3 526 704

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 343 264 443 982
Value Added Tax 889 985 856 374
Other payables 14 500 110 17 036 322
Accrued expenses 322 329 20 000

16 055 688 18 356 678

Fair value of trade and other payables

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate its fair value.

16. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING

At fair value through profit or loss
Stock account 4 452 879 –

Current liabilities
Fair value through profit or loss 4 452 879 –

The balance relates to the stock account in the company’s records reflecting the company’s proprietary 
positions in securities and financial instruments.
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17. PROVISIONS

Opening
balance

Utilised
during

the year Total

Reconciliation of provisions – 
Group – 2016
Leave pay 2 401 768 (17 840) 2 383 928

Opening
balance Additions

Utilised
during

the year Total

Reconciliation of provisions – 
Group – 2015
Leave pay 1 532 011 1 108 018 (238 261) 2 401 768

The leave pay provision represents management’s best estimate of the Group’s liability of the amount 
that would be payable to all employees were they not to take leave as at year-end date, but were instead 
to be paid out their leave entitlement in cash.

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of financial assets presented in the statement of financial position relate to the 
following measurement categories as defined in IAS 39:

Loans and
receivables

Financial
instruments

held for
trading Total

Group – 2016
Other financial assets 750 000 – 750 000
Amounts receivable in respect of stockbroking activities 426 425 896 – 426 425 896
Stock accounts – 6 447 459 6 447 459
Margin and collateral accounts 7 366 215 – 7 366 215
Cash and cash equivalents 59 904 723 – 59 904 723
Trade and other receivables 2 937 517 – 2 937 517

497 384 351 6 447 459 503 831 810

Loans and
receivables Total

Group – 2015
Other financial assets 750 000 750 000
Amounts receivable in respect of stockbroking activities 197 340 630 197 340 630
Margin and collateral accounts 69 202 085 69 202 085
Cash and cash equivalents 17 155 906 17 155 906
Trade and other receivables 6 818 222 6 818 222

291 266 843 291 266 843
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19. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Financial
liabilities at

amortised
cost

Fair value
through
profit or

loss – held
for trading Total

Group – 2016
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities 416 703 250 – 416 703 250
Trade and other payables 16 055 688 – 16 055 688
Other financial liabilities – 4 452 879 4 452 879

432 758 938 4 452 879 437 211 817

Financial
liabilities at

amortised
cost Total

Group – 2015
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities 214 752 746 214 752 746
Trade and other payables 18 356 678 18 356 678
Bank overdraft 2 272 457 2 272 457

235 381 881 235 381 881

20. REVENUE

Basic brokerage 102 088 067 82 841 934
CSA Income – 10 146 054
Commission trading income 40 070 431 18 504 772
Corporate finance 956 068 956 068
JSE Trustees fees 243 301 275 964
Other income 27 333 504 7 006 884
Research services 11 084 582 15 105 573

181 775 953 139 223 305

21. COST OF SALES

Sale of goods

Brokerage fees 9 490 214 5 535 066
FNB settlement and custody charges 1 296 247 978 092
JSE and other related charges 21 752 960 16 987 493
Software expenses 163 636 223 009
Subscriptions 5 573 430 3 296 630
Telephone and data charges 1 179 738 699 437
Technical support 5 550 595 1 605 744
UK Commission – –

45 006 820 29 325 471
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22. OTHER INCOME

Profit and loss on sale of assets and liabilities – 1 118 053
Profit and loss on exchange differences 20 436 96 523
Administration and management fee received 17 492 6 890
Other income 66 000 4 680

103 928 1 226 146

23. OPERATING PROFIT

Operating profit for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Operating lease charges
Premises:
Contractual amounts 4 005 506 3 335 289
Property, plant and equipment (829) 33 026
Gain on bargain purchase – 1 085 027
Profit/(Loss) on exchange differences 1 795 873 (96 523)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 1 823 483 1 410 593
Employee costs 91 726 616 63 284 833
Research and development costs 103 735 267 286

24. INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest revenue

Bank 519 141 835 795
Interest on margin 248 434 251 485
Standard Bank collateral 1 567 966 1 144 589
Other 21 244 14 933
Share scheme 322 325 193 548

2 679 110 2 440 350

25. FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

Other financial assets 1 770 478 (378 836)

26. FINANCE COSTS

Shareholders 32 129 3 063
Trade and other payables 366 822 35 639

398 951 38 702
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27. TAXATION

Major components of the tax (income) expense

Current
Local income tax – current period 2 438 873 9 135 333

Deferred
Arising from previously unrecognised tax loss/tax credit/temporary 
difference (10 942 354) –
Deferred tax 903 729 (694 472)

(10 038 625) (694 472)

(7 599 752) 8 440 861

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense
Accounting profit 24 697 048 32 368 388
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2015: 28%) 6 915 173 9 063 149
Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Non-deductable expenses 263 085 341 793
Non-taxable income – (57 687)
Tax losses carried forward or utilised (14 778 010) (906 394)

(7 599 752) 8 440 861

28. CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS

Profit before taxation 24 697 048 32 368 387
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 1 823 483 1 410 593
Net profit/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 829 (33 026)
Gain on bargain purchase – (1 085 027)
Foreign exchange translation 566 045 80 708
Interest received – investment (2 679 110) (2 440 350)
Finance costs 398 951 38 702
Fair value adjustments (1 770 478) 378 836
Movements in operating lease assets and accruals (764 933) 571 925
Movements in provisions (17 840) 504 199
Movement in loans to Directors, managers and employees (290 238) (1 958 933)
Foreign differences on translation of cash flow items 108 785 –
Non-cash movements in cash flows from investing activities 
(Refer to note 29) 317 938 102 100
Non-cash movements in cash flows from financing activities 
(Refer to note 30) (1 188 175) 2 100 046
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables 3 880 705 (1 018 028)
Margin and collateral accounts 61 835 871 144 951 005
Amounts receivable in respect of stockbroking activities (233 762 247) (161 696 886)
Trade and other payables (2 300 990) 1 760 944
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities 206 403 383 –

57 259 027 16 035 195
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29. OTHER NON-CASH ITEMS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Sale of property, plant and equipment 317 938 102 100
Proceeds on loans from Group companies – –

317 938 102 100

30. OTHER NON-CASH ITEMS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid and reduction in Share premium (418 676) (78 964)
Reduction of the treasury Shares reserve (769 369) –
Movement in Share capital (130) 2 179 010

(1 188 175) 2 100 046

31. TAX PAID

Balance at beginning of the year 179 666 (271 366)
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (2 438 873) (9 135 333)
Balance at the end of the year (136 355) (179 666)

(2 395 562) (9 586 365)

32. DIVIDENDS PAID

Dividends (6 490 642) (2 000 000)

33. COMMITMENTS

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)

Minimum lease payments due
– within one year 4 235 278 3 295 058
– in second to fifth year inclusive 2 393 632 5 460 364

6 628 910 8 755 422

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties. 
Leases are negotiated for an average term of seven years and rentals are fixed for an average of three 
years. No contingent rent is payable.

34. RELATED PARTIES

Relationships
Holding company Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited
Subsidiaries Refer to note 4
Shareholders with significant influence Burrell SL

Mattison KS
Zazomia Trust

Company controlled directly or indirectly by Directors CheetahFIX Limited
Tauri Proprietary Limited

Members of key management Koutromanos P
Mattison KS
Tilly N
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Related party balances
Loan accounts – owing (to)/by parties
Avior Number 2 (Proprietary) Limited – –
Loans to Directors, managers and employees 2 513 849 3 255 822
Related party transactions
Interest paid to/(received from) related parties
Loans to Directors, managers and employees – (168 724)
Purchases from/(Sales to) related parties
CheetahFIX Limited 512 884 422 370
Commission fees paid to/(received from) related parties
Avior Capital Markets International Limited – –
Management fees paid to/(received from) related parties
Avior Number 2 (Proprietary) Limited – –
Compensation to Directors and other key management
Short-term employee benefits 20 284 282 16 512 036

35. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Executive Emoluments
Travel

allowance
Annual
bonus Total

2016
Burrell SL 1 440 000 – 200 000 1 640 000
Koutromanos P 4 550 000 – 1 410 476 5 960 476
Mattison KS 2 976 000 24 000 1 303 477 4 303 477
Tilly N 1 900 000 – 1 631 000 3 531 000

10 866 000 24 000 4 544 953 15 434 953

2015
Burrell SL 2 480 000 – 1 082 000 3 562 000
Koutromanos P 3 770 000 – 1 817 000 5 587 000
Mattison KS 2 456 000 24 000 1 640 000 4 120 000
Tilly N 1 500 000 – 1 580 000 3 080 000

10 206 000 24 000 6 119 000 16 349 000

36. RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for Shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings (excluding derivative 
financial liabilities) disclosed in notes 6 and 16, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 13, and equity 
as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

JSE Limited Financial Resources Requirements Rule 4.55, read with directives DC, requires a minimum 
capital resource of 13/52 weeks annual expenditure. The Group monitors its capital adequacy requirements 
on a daily basis.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance 
or externally imposed capital requirements from the previous year.

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value 
interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
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The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Group 
manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequate utilised borrowing facilities are monitored.

Group

At 30 April 2016 Less than 1 year
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities 416 703 250
Trade and payables 16 055 688
At 30 April 2015 Less than 1 year
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities 214 752 746
Trade and payables 18 356 678
Bank overdraft 2 272 457

Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are 
substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

At 30 April 2016, the interest rates on Rand-denominated borrowings had been 0.1% higher/lower with all 
the other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R17 320 (2015: R24 255) 
higher, mainly as a result of higher interest expenses on floating rate borrowings.

At 30 April 2016, if interest rates on Pound-denominated borrowings had been 0.1% higher/lower with all 
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R17 532 (2015: R2 281) higher, 
mainly as a result of higher interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

Market risk

Market risk is managed on a Group basis.

Market risk includes price risk, which is the risk of securities price movements that the Group is exposed 
to as a result of trading on the stock market. The Group’s conservative approach has mitigated its exposure 
to market risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis.

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade 
debtors. The company only deposits cash with major banks with high-quality credit standing and limits 
exposure to any one counter-party.

The company is exposed to credit risk in its trading activities, brokering activities, portfolio management 
activities, research activities, as well as when it acts as an intermediary on behalf of clients and third 
parties. In these activities, credit risk arises because of the possibility that a counterparty will default 
either prior to settlement or will fail to settle in terms of previously contracted transactions.

The company mitigates this risk by requiring all clients to sign legally binding mandates prior to trading on 
behalf of such client, and performing credit inquiries on all new client accounts.

No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period, and management does not expect any losses 
from non-performance by these counterparties.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar and the UK Pound. Foreign exchange risk arises from 
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.

The Group does not have hedged foreign exchange fluctuations.
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At 20 April 2016, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the UK Pound with all 
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R1 695 986 (2015: R117 517) 
lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of UK Pound denominated 
trade receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit of loss, foreign exchange losses or gains on 
translation of UK Pound denominated borrowings.

Foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period

Current assets
Trade debtors, GBP120 675 2 506 983 –
Cash and cash equivalents, GBP1 513 034 31 430 838 16 683 445
Liabilities
Other creditors, GBP16 524 (2015: GBP40 142) 343 263 732 090
Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were: GBP 20.7735 18.2375

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis.

37. INFORMATION ABOUT REPORTABLE SEGMENT PROFIT OR LOSS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

SA Region UK Region Total

Segment revenue 158 059 766 26 382 134 184 441 900
Revenue from external customers 155 393 819 29 788 190 185 182 009
Intersegment revenues eliminated (3 406 056) (3 406 056)
Interest revenue 2 665 947 – 2 665 947
Segment expenses (146 331 782) (17 175 162) (163 506 944)
Cash expenses (146 774 738) (17 146 458) (163 921 196)
Interest expense (398 951) – (398 951)
Intersegment expenses eliminated 3 406 056 – 3 406 056
Depreciation and amortisation (2 564 149) (28 704) (2 592 853)
Income tax expense 3 119 417 (10 942 354) (7 822 937)

Segment profit 5 504 107 25 365 268 30 869 375

Non-cash items (not included in segment results)
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 20 436 (1 809 077) (1 788 641)
Profit/(Loss) on sale of tangible assets (37) (792) (829)
Fair value adjustments 1 770 478 – 1 770 478
Administration and management fees 17 492 – 17 492
Segment assets and liabilities
Segment assets 493 783 120 29 811 821 523 594 941
Segment liabilities 440 801 817 645 599 441 447 416
Investments
Investments in subsidiaries 1 750 327 – 1 750 327
Capital expenditure
Computer equipment 742 891 448 875 1 191 766
Leasehold improvements 99 033 – 99 033
Furniture and fixtures 137 427 – 137 427
Office equipment 734 811 – 734 811
Computer software 377 982 – 377 982
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Reconciliation between segment information

Revenue and other income 186 316 306
Total segment revenue 184 441 900
Other income 66 000
Foreign exchange gains 20 436
Fair value adjustments (non-cash) 1 770 478
Administration and management fees 17 492

Revenue as per statement of profit and loss 186 316 306

Expenses (163 493 897)
Total segment expenses (163 506 944)
Profit/(Loss) on sale of tangible assets (non-cash) (834)

Expenses as per statement of profit and loss (163 493 897)

Assets 520 524 458
Total segment assets 523 594 941
Loans to Group companies eliminated (1 320 156)
Investments in subsidiaries (1 750 327)

Total assets as per statement of financial position 520 524 458

Liabilities 438 729 132
Total segment liabilities 441 447 416
Loans from Group companies (2 870 075)
Accruals 20 000
Current tax payable 131 971

Total liabilities as per the statement of financial position 438 729 125

Segment information is presented per regions in which the Group operates:

SA Region – This includes all the South African-based companies (Avior Capital Markets (Proprietary) 
Limited, Avior Number 2 (Proprietary) Limited and Groombridge Nominees (Proprietary) Limited)

UK Region – This includes the Group’s foreign-based 100%-owned subsidiary operating in UK 
(Avior Capital Markets International Limited).

38. REISSUE OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financials were reissued on the 15th of December 2016 as the first published financials were 
misstated. There was a miscalculation in bonus pay-outs to the Directors, but this was subsequently 
corrected. The effect on the financial statements was an increase in Directors’ loans receivable and a 
decrease in employee costs of R1 019 047. The adjustment had an impact on the current year taxation, 
increasing the taxation expense and the current tax liability with R289 018. Interest was raised on 
the additional Directors’ loan and this increased Investment revenue with R13 163 for the year ended  
30 April 2016.
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ANNEXURE 6

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORTS ON THE AUDITED 
HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS

The Directors
Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited
Suite 1003, 1st Floor
82 on Maude
82 Maude Street
Sandton
2196

23 May 2017

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
OF AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS PROPRIETARY LIMITED FOR THE 12 MONTHS ENDED 30 APRIL 2016.

We have audited the annual financial statements of Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited and its 
subsidiaries, as set out on pages 47 to 81, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 April 
2016, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity 
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Interim Financial Statements

The company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these annual financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and requirements of the Companies 
Act 71 of 2008, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of annual financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the annual financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
annual financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the annual financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the annual financial statements presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited and its subsidiaries as at 30 April 2016 and its financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard and 
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Other reports required by Companies Act 71 of 2008

As part of our audit of the annual financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2016, we have read the 
Directors’ report for the purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between that report 
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and the audited annual financial statements. The Directors’ report is the responsibility of the Directors. 
Based on reading that report we have not identified material inconsistencies between it and the audited 
annual financial statements. However, we have not audited the Directors’ report and accordingly do not 
express an opinion thereon.

Other Matters

These financials were reissued on 23 January 2017 as the first published financials were misstated. There was 
a miscalculation in bonus pay-outs to the Directors, but this was subsequently corrected. The effect on the 
financial statements was an increase in Directors’ loans receivable and a decrease in employee costs. Refer 
to note 35.

Consent

We consent to the inclusion of:

(a) the reporting accountant’s report in the Pre-Listing Statement; and
(b) references to, or extracts from, the reporting accountant’s report(s) included in the Pre-Listing Statement.

PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants
Chartered Accountants (S.A.)

Herman Nieuwoudt
Partner
Registered Auditor
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ANNEXURE 7

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS FOR THE 
YEARS ENDED 30 APRIL 2015, 2014 AND 2013

Commentary

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited and its subsidiaries were incorporated in South Africa and have 
interests in the financial services industry. The activities of the Group are undertaken through the company 
and its principal subsidiaries. The Group operates in South Africa, Africa and the United Kingdom.

The Group trades as a provider of financial services and other directly and indirectly related services as a 
member of the JSE Limited.

There have been no material changes to the nature of the Group’s business from the prior year.

2. REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND ACTIVITIES

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. The accounting policies 
have been applied consistently compared to the prior year.

The Group recorded a net profit after tax for the year ended 30 April 2015 of R23 927 525 (2014: 
R21 260 617) (2013: R5 137 409). This represented an increase of 12% (2014: 313,8%) (2013: 58%) from 
the net profit after tax of the prior year of R21 260 617 (2013: R5 137 409).

Group revenue increased by 37% (2014: 79,8%) (2013: 74%) from R101 396 754 in the prior year (2013: 
R56 403 475) to R139 223 310 for the year ended 30 April 2015.

Group cash flows from operating activities increased by 69% (2014: 271%) (2013: 213%) from R21 565 738 
in the prior year (2013: R12 588 065) to R6 648 328 for the year ended 30 April 2015.

3. SHARE CAPITAL

2015 2014 2013

Authorised Number of Shares

Class A Ordinary Shares 400 000 400 000 400 000
Class B Ordinary Shares 3 600 000 3 600 000 3 600 000

Issued Number of Shares

Class A Ordinary Shares 200 000 200 000 300 000
Class B Ordinary Shares 1 534 628 1 500 981 3 299 315

1 734 628 1 700 981 3 599 315

R R R

Class A Ordinary Shares 2 000 2 000 3 000
Class B Ordinary Shares 15 346 15 010 32 993

17 346 17 010 35 993

Refer to note 15 for details of the movement in authorised and issued Share capital.



85

4. AUTHORITY TO BUY BACK SHARES

At the AGM held on Tuesday, 29 July 2014, Shareholders gave the company or any of its subsidiaries a 
general approval in terms of section 48 of the Companies Act of South Africa, by way of special resolution, 
for the acquisition of its own Shares. As this general approval remained valid only until the next AGM 
that was held on Friday, 31 July 2015, the Shareholders were asked at that meeting to consider a special 
resolution to renew this general authority until the next AGM.

A total of 3 411 Shares were repurchased at an average price of R23 per Share during the current year in 
terms of this general authority. This related to a cancellation of Shares with a value of R79 968 including 
Share premium of R79 449 resulting in a decrease in the treasury Share reserve of R519. In total 68 411 
treasury Shares are included in the issued ordinary Shares of the Group at the reporting date (2014: 65 
000; 2013: 65 000).

5. CONTROL OVER UNISSUED SHARES

The unissued ordinary Shares are the subject of a general authority granted to the Directors in terms of 
section 38 of the Companies Act. An ordinary resolution was passed by Shareholders at the AGM on 
31 July 2015 placing the said unissued ordinary Shares under the control of the Directors until the next 
AGM.

6. DIVIDENDS

The Group’s dividend policy is to consider a dividend in respect of each financial year. At its discretion, 
the Board may consider a special dividend, where appropriate. Depending on the perceived need to retain 
funds for expansion or operating purposes, the Board may decline to declare dividends.

A dividend of 374 cents per Share was approved by the Board on Thursday, 6 August 2015 in South 
African currency in respect of the year ended 30 April 2015. The dividend payment date was Friday, 
7 August 2015 to Shareholders recorded in the register of the company at close of business on Friday, 
31 July 2015.

A dividend of 118 cents per Share was approved by the Board on Friday, 1 August 2014 in South African 
currency in respect of the year ended 30 April 2015. The dividend payment date was Friday, 1 August 2014 
to Shareholders recorded in the register of the company at close of business on Thursday, 31 July 2014.

No dividends were declared or paid to Shareholders during the year ended 25 April 2014 and 25 April 
2013. The local dividends tax rate is 15%. The company has no STC credit available.

7. INSURANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group follows a policy of reviewing the risks relating to assets and possible liabilities arising from 
business transactions with its insurers on an annual basis. Wherever possible assets are automatically 
included. There is also a continuous asset risk control programme, which is carried out in conjunction with 
the Group’s insurance brokers. All risks are considered to be adequately covered, except for political risks, 
in the case of which as much cover as is reasonably available has been arranged.

8. DIRECTORATE

The Directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Directors Office Designation

Burrell, SL Other Executive
Koutromanos, P Chairperson Executive
Mattison, KS Other Executive
Tilly, N Other Executive

There have been no changes to the Directorate for the year under review.

Changes to the Directorate during the years ended 25 April 2014 and 26 April 2013: N Tilly was appointed 
as a Director on 5 March 2013.
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9. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

Interests in Shares

Direct Indirect

2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013

Directors
Burrell, SL 301 049 301 049 301 049 – – –
Koutromanos, P – – – 858 982 858 982 858 982
Mattison, KS 457 584 457 584 457 584 – – –

758 633 758 633 758 633 858 982 858 982 858 982

10. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of material interests in subsidiary companies are presented in note 4.

The interest of the Group in the profits and losses of its subsidiaries for the year ended 30 April 2015 are 
as follows:

Subsidiaries
2015

R
2014

R
2013

R

Total profits before income tax 2 125 339 – 2 694 051
Total profits after income tax 2 125 339 – (1 222 630)
Total losses before income tax – (8 585) –
Total losses after income tax – (8 585) –

The Group acquired 100% interest in Avior Capital Markets International Limited (formerly known as Noah 
Capital Markets (EMEA) Limited) during the current year for a consideration of R1 749 174. Avior Capital 
Markets International Limited operates in the financial services industry. Refer to note 37 for details of 
the acquisition.

11. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the reporting period, the company announced its intention to list on the JSE AltX within the 
first half of the 2016 calendar year. Per this decision, additional disclosure where requested by the JSE 
which resulted in the annual financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2015 issued on 28 July 2015 
being withdrawn to be re-issued.

The entity’s owners or Directors have the power to amend the financial statements after issue.

The Directors are not aware of any other material event which occurred after the reporting date and up 
to the date of this report.

12. GOING CONCERN

The Directors believe that the Group has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and accordingly the consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on 
a going-concern basis. The Directors have satisfied themselves that the Group is in a sound financial 
position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its foreseeable cash requirements. 
The Directors are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements 
or of any pending changes to legislation which may affect the Group.

13. AUDITORS

Grant Thornton Cape Town will continue in office as auditors for the company and its subsidiaries until 
the next AGM. At that stage the Board will recommend that PKF Johannesburg be appointed as auditors.

14. SECRETARY

The company secretary is Corporate and Merchant Administrators Proprietary Limited.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 April 2015

Note(s)
2015 2014 2013

Restated Restated

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 3 110 488 1 950 406 1 486 858
Investments in subsidiaries 4 – – –
Other financial assets 5 750 000 750 000 –
Deferred tax 6 1 139 860 445 388 249 373

5 000 348 3 145 794 1 736 231

Current assets
Amounts receivable in respect of stockbroking 
activities 8 197 340 630 342 291 636 31 685 591
Financial assets held for trading 9 13 973 564 – 7 945 829
Margin and collateral accounts 10 69 202 085 24 950 146 20 532 355
Cash and cash equivalents 11 17 155 906 9 651 673 3 799 178
Trade and other receivables 12 10 074 044 4 219 107 3 968 188
Current tax receivable 13 179 665 – 357 037

307 925 894 381 112 562 68 288 178

Total assets 312 926 242 384 258 356 70 024 409

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 14 3 526 704 1 427 177 1 446 160
Reserves 15

and 16
(1 413 123) (1 494 350) (18 333)

Retained income 58 483 525 36 556 000 15 295 383

60 597 106 36 488 827 16 723 210

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Loans from Shareholders 17 – – 9 952 296
Provisions 18 571 925 365 562 91 915

571 925 365 562 10 044 211

Current liabilities
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking 
activities 20 214 618 344 331 818 857 26 366 741
Financial liabilities held for trading 21 14 107 966 – 3 117 297
Bank overdraft 11 2 272 457 – –
Trade and other payables 22 18 356 676 13 781 733 10 344 686
Loans from Shareholders 17 – – 2 230 552
Current tax payable 13 – 271 366 97 876
Provisions 18 2 401 768 1 532 011 1 099 836

251 757 211 347 403 967 43 256 988

Total liabilities 252 329 136 347 769 529 53 301 199

Total equity and liabilities 312 926 242 384 258 356 70 024 409
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2015

Note(s)
2015 2014 2013

 R  R  R

Revenue 22 139 223 310 101 396 754 56 403 475
Cost of sales 23 (29 325 476) (19 279 445) (10 070 314)

Gross profit 109 897 834 82 117 309  46 333 161
Other income 24 1 226 146 14 224 187 884
Operating expenses (80 778 405) (53 990 169) (36 457 328)

Operating profit 25 30 345 575 28 141 364 10 063 717
Investment revenue 26 2 440 350 1 786 145 1 399 821
Fair value adjustments 27 (378 836) – (2 414 597)
Finance costs 28 (38 702) (337 004) (322 067)

Profit before taxation 32 368 387 29 590 505 8 726 874
Taxation 29 (8 440 862) (8 329 888) (3 589 465)

Profit for the year 23 927 525 21 260 617 5 137 409

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations 15 80 708 – –

Other comprehensive income for the year net 
of taxation 80 708 – –

Total comprehensive income for the year 24 008 233 21 260 617 5 137 409

Basic earnings per Shares (cents) 31 1 398,69 701,48 144,82
Diluted earnings per Shares (cents) 31 1 398,69 701,48 144,82
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 April 2015

Group

2015 2014 2013
Note(s)  R  R  R

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from (used in) operations 33 13 833 045 28 111 973 (9 411 265)
Investment revenue 2 440 350 1 650 313 1 355 084
Dividends received – 135 832 44 737
Finance costs (38 702) (337 004) (322 067)
Tax paid 34 (9 586 365) (7 995 376) (4 255 708)

Net cash from operating activities 6 648 328 21 565 738 (12 589 219)

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3 (2 638 552) (1 285 395) (1 391 340)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 3 102 100 – –
Business combinations 36 1 019 854 – –
Movement in investments (including subs, jvs and 
Associates) 37 – – 10 404 827
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – –
Loans advanced to Group companies – – –
Proceeds from loans from Group companies – – –
Acquisition of financial assets – (750 000) –

Net cash from investing activities (1 516 598) (2 035 395) 9 013 487

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds on Share issue 14 2 179 010 – 1 420 000
Reduction of Share premium and buy-back of 
Shares 14 (78 964) (1 495 000) (10 404 827)
Advance of Shareholders loans – (12 182 848) –
Repayment of Shareholders loans – – 2 184 543
Dividends paid 35 (2 000 000) – (5 026 000)

Net cash from financing activities 100 046 (13 677 848) (11 826 284)

Total cash movement for the year 5 231 776 5 852 495 (15 402 016)
Cash at the beginning of the year 9 651 673 3 799 178 19 201 194

Total cash at end of the year 11 14 883 449 9 651 673 3 799 178
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2015

Accounting Policies

1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, the Johannesburg Stock 
Exchange (“JSE”) Listings Requirements, the requirements of the South African Companies Act and 
the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial 
Pronouncements as issued by Financial Reporting Standards Council. The annual financial statements 
have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the measurement of investment properties 
and certain financial instruments at fair value, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out 
below. They are presented in South African Rands.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Consolidation

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the annual financial statements of the 
Group and all investees which are controlled by the Group.

The Group has control of an investee when it has power over the investee; it is exposed to or has 
rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and it has the ability to use its power 
over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated annual financial statements from the 
effective date of acquisition to the effective date of disposal.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The 
cost of the business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of assets given, 
liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued. Costs directly attributable to the 
business combination are expensed as incurred, except the costs to issue debt which are amortised 
as part of the effective interest and costs to issue equity which are included in equity.

Contingent consideration is included in the cost of the combination at fair value as at the date of 
acquisition. Subsequent changes to the assets, liability or equity which arise as a result of the 
contingent consideration are not affected against goodwill, unless they are valid measurement 
period adjustments.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities which meet the recognition 
conditions of IFRS 3 Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at acquisition date, 
except for non-current assets (or disposal Group) that are classified as held for sale in accordance 
with IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations, which are recognised at 
fair value less costs to sell.

Contingent liabilities are only included in the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree where 
there is a present obligation at acquisition date.

On acquisition, the Group assesses the classification of the acquiree’s assets and liabilities and 
reclassifies them where the classification is inappropriate for Group purposes. This excludes lease 
agreements and insurance contracts, whose classification remains as per their inception date.

Goodwill is determined as the consideration paid, plus the fair value of any Shareholding held prior 
to obtaining control, plus non-controlling interest and less the fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the acquiree.

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested on an annual basis for impairment. If goodwill is assessed to 
be impaired, that impairment is not subsequently reversed.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of foreign entities is considered an asset of the foreign entity. In such 
cases the goodwill is translated to the functional currency of the Group at the end of each reporting 
period with the adjustment recognised in equity through to other comprehensive income.
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1.2 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure 
which is directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is charged to write off the asset’s carrying amount over its estimated useful life to 
its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern in which the asset’s 
economic benefits are consumed by the Group. Leased assets are depreciated in a consistent 
manner over the shorter of their expected useful lives and the lease term.

The depreciation methods and useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been 
assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Computer equipment Straight line three years
Computer software Straight line two years
Furniture and fixtures Straight line six years
Leasehold improvements Straight line Duration of the lease
Motor vehicles Straight line three years
Office equipment Straight line six years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for 
prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the 
carrying amount of another asset.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that 
they may be impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
assessed to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when the 
item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the 
carrying amount of the item.

1.3 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts represented in the annual financial statements and related 
disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement are inherent in the 
formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be 
material to the annual financial statements. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables and loans and receivables

The Group assesses its trade receivables and loans and receivables for impairment at the end of 
each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or 
loss, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at 
the end of the reporting period.
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The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using 
valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based 
on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated 
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The 
fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward exchange rates 
at the end of the reporting period.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated 
by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available 
to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. 
Additional disclosure of these estimates of provisions are included in note 18 – Provisions.

Taxation

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of 
legislation. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination 
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated 
tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences 
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is 
made.

The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the 
extent that it is probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the Group to make 
significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable 
income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws 
in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from 
estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the 
reporting period could be impacted.

1.4 Interests in subsidiaries

Company annual financial statements

In the company’s separate annual financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at 
cost less any accumulated impairment.

The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:

 – the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity 
instruments issued by the company; plus

 – any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.

1.5 Financial instruments

Financial instruments, as reflected on the statement of financial position, include all financial 
assets, financial liabilities, and equity instruments. They exclude prepayments, deferred income, 
investments in subsidiaries, investments in associates, property and equipment, deferred taxation, 
taxation receivable/payable, provisions, intangible assets and goodwill.

Financial instruments are accounted for under IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation and 
IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures.

The Group has the following financial instruments:

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value. Appropriate allowances for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence 
that the asset is impaired.
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Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value.

Bank overdraft and borrowings

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured 
at fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other 
short-term, highly liquid investments maturing within 90 days from the date of acquisition that are 
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost which approximates fair value due 
to the short-term nature of these instruments.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments.

All purchases of financial assets that require delivery within the timeframe established by regulation 
or market convention (“regular way” purchases) are recognised at the trade date, which is the date 
on which the Group commits to purchase the financial asset. The liability to pay for “regular way” 
purchases of financial assets is recognised on the trade date, which is when the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a 
financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs, except for equity 
investments for which a fair value is not determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified 
as available for sale financial assets.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit 
or loss.

Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured 
at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the 
financial instruments.

Classification

The Group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

 – Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – held for trading
 – Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – designated
 – Loans and receivables
 – Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – held for trading
 – Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred 
and takes place at initial recognition. Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis.

Financial assets/Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include items that are either classified as held for 
trading or that meet certain conditions and are designated at fair value through profit or loss upon 
initial recognition.

The following have been designated as financial assets measured at fair value through profit and 
loss:

 – Other financial assets
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Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market, other than:

 – those that the Group intends to sell immediately or in the short-term, which are categorised 
as held for trading, and those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as at fair value 
through profit or loss;

 – those that the Group upon initial recognition designates as available for sale; or
 – those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than 

because of credit deterioration.

They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention 
of trading the advance.

The following are classified as loans and receivable when they have fixed or determinable payments 
or when payments have been estimated because the contractual repayment terms has not been 
agreed upon:

 – Trade and other receivables
 – Other financial assets
 – Amounts receivable in respect of stockbroking activities
 – Margin and collateral accounts
 – Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are classified as in this 
category. The following are included in this category:

 – Trade and other payables
 – Bank overdraft and borrowings

Subsequent measurement

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value, 
with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value being included in profit or loss for the period.

Net gains or losses on the financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss excludes dividends 
and interest.

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income when the Group’s right to 
receive payment is established.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method, less accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest method.

Impairment

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that an asset or 
Group of assets is impaired.

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its loans and receivables to determine whether there is 
any indication that those loans and receivables have become impaired, using objective evidence at 
a loan level. A loan or receivable is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there 
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event(s) has an adverse impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or Group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 
Losses expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised.
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Objective evidence that a financial asset or Group of assets is impaired includes observable data 
that comes to the attention of the Group about the following loss events:

 – Significant financial difficulty of the debtor.
 – A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in the payment of interest or principal.
 – The lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting 

to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider.
 – It becoming probable that the borrower is over-indebted.
 – Indication that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a Group 

of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet 
be identified with the individual financial assets in the Group, including:
•	 adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Group (e.g. an increased number 

of delayed payments);
or

•	 national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the Group 
(e.g. an increase in the unemployment rate in the geographical area of the borrowers or 
adverse changes in industry conditions that affect the borrowers in the Group).

The recoverable amount is the sum of the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present 
value using a discount rate that reflects the original effective interest rate relating to the loan. The 
estimate of the cash flows is assessed on a loan by loan basis.

If the recoverable amount of the loan is estimated to be less than the carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the loan is reduced to its recoverable amount by raising an impairment provision (through 
the use of a separate allowance account), which is recognised as an expense in profit or loss. Loans 
are written off, either partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of full or partial recovery. 
A write-off is effected against the allowance account.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the loan is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the loan in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is immediately recognised 
in profit or loss.

Impairment provisions raised during the year are charged to profit or loss.

Loans that would otherwise be past due or impaired and whose terms have been renegotiated 
and exhibit the characteristics of a performing loan are reset to performing loan status. Loans 
whose terms have been renegotiated are subject to ongoing review to determine whether they are 
considered to be impaired or past due.

Collateral

Generally no collateral is held in respect of recognised financial assets. In the event that collateral 
is held, it is not recognised by the Group, as the Group does not retain the risks and rewards of 
ownership, and is obliged to return such collateral to counterparties on settlement of the related 
obligations. Should a counterparty be unable to settle its obligations, the Group takes possession of 
collateral or calls on other credit enhancements as full or part settlement of such amounts. These 
assets are recognised when the applicable recognition criteria under IFRS are met, and the Group’s 
accounting policies are applied from the date of recognition.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Deferred loan 
income reduces the outstanding.

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangement.
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Ordinary Share capital and any financial instrument issued by the Group is classified as equity when:

 – payment of cash, in the form of a dividend or redemption, is at the discretion of the Group;
 – the instrument does not provide for the exchange of financial instruments under conditions that 

are potentially unfavourable to the Group;
 – settlement in the Group’s own equity instruments is for a fixed number of equity instruments at 

a fixed price; and
 – the instrument represents a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all its 

liabilities.

Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Transactions that affect equity

Share capital and Share premium and transaction costs

Shares issued by the company are recorded at the value of the proceeds received less the external 
costs directly attributable to the issue of the Shares. All transactions relating to the acquisition and 
sale or issue of Shares in the company, together with their associated costs, are accounted for in 
equity.

Treasury Shares

Where the company or any other member of the Group purchases the company’s equity Share 
capital, such Shares are classified as treasury Shares and the par value of these treasury Shares 
is deducted from the Share capital, whereas the remainder of the cost price is deducted from the 
Share premium until the treasury Shares are cancelled.

Where such Shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in 
Shareholders’ equity.

Treasury Shares are deducted from the issued and weighted average number of Shares on 
consolidation. All dividends received on treasury Shares are eliminated on consolidation.

The Group does not recognise any gains or losses through profit or loss when its own Shares are 
repurchased.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards 
of ownership.

1.6 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the 
amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those 
periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that 
the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can 
be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor 
taxable profit (tax loss).
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A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be 
utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for 
the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:

 – a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other 
comprehensive income, or

 – a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax 
relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive 
income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items 
that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.7 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
The difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are 
recognised as an operating lease liability. This liability is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.8 Impairment of assets

The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an 
asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount 
of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the 
individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs 
to sell and its value-in-use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment 
loss recognised in prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an 
impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or 
amortisation other than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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1.9 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities.

1.10 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is 
rendered, such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as 
medical care), are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the 
absence occurs.

1.11 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

 – the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
 – it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation; and
 – a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle 
the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by 
another party, the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain 
that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall 
be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the 
amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.

1.12 Revenue

Revenue is derived from the business of stockbroking and related activities and comprises equity 
brokerage, commissions, dividends, initial charges on disposal of units and fees and CSA income, 
commission trading income and proprietary trading income. Brokerage, commissions and fee 
income is recognised when costs can be measured and the receipts of the future economic benefits 
are probable.

Research service fees and corporate financing fees are recognised when the service is rendered.

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.

Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the company’s right to receive payment has been 
established.

Service fees included in the price of the product are recognised as revenue over the period during 
which the service is performed and this comprises JSE trustee fees.

1.13 Cost of sales

The related cost of providing services recognised as revenue in the current period is included in 
cost of sales.

1.14 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.15 Translation of foreign currencies
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Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign 
currency amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency 
at the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:

 – foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
 – non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
 – non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items 
at rates different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period 
or in previous annual financial statements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they 
arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised to other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised to other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is 
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the 
foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date 
of the cash flow.

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

The results and financial position of a foreign operation are translated into the functional currency 
using the following procedures:

 – Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the 
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position.

 – Income and expenses for each item of profit or loss are translated at exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions.

 – All resulting exchange differences are recognised to other comprehensive income and 
accumulated as a separate component of equity.

Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of a net investment in a foreign 
operation are recognised initially to other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation 
reserve. They are recognised in profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment through to other 
comprehensive income on disposal of net investment.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition of that foreign operation are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation.

The cash flows of a foreign subsidiary are translated at the exchange rates between the functional 
currency and the foreign currency at the dates of the cash flows.

1.16 Reporting segments

The Group has two main reportable segments that comprise the structure used by the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) to make key operating decisions and assess performance. The Group’s 
reportable segments are operating segments that are differentiated by activities that each undertakes 
and the products they market (referred to as business segments). Each business utilises different 
technology and marketing strategies.

The measurement policies the Group uses for segment reporting under IFRS 8 are the same as 
those used in its financial statements, except that certain items are not included in arriving at the 
operating profit of the operating segments (post-employment benefit expenses, expenses relating 
to Share-based payments, research costs and items relating to investment property). In addition, 
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corporate assets which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating 
segment are not allocated to a segment.

The Group evaluates the performance of its reportable segments based on revenue from operations. 
The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales and transfers were entered 
into under the same terms and conditions as would have been entered into in a market related 
transaction. The financial information of the Group’s reportable segments is reported to the CEO 
for purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to the segment and assessing its 
performance.

2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

At the date of approval of these annual financial statements, certain new accounting standards, 
amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, 
and have not been adopted early by the entity.

Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the entity’s accounting 
policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information 
on new standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the entity’s 
financial statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been 
issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the entity’s annual financial statements.

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are 
effective for the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/Interpretation:

Effective date: 
Years beginning 
on or after Expected impact:

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities

1 January 2014 The impact of the standard is 
not material.

Amendments to IAS 32: Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

1 January 2014 The impact of the amendment 
is not material.

Amendments to IAS 36: Recoverable 
Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial 
Assets

1 January 2014
The impact of the amendment 
is not material.

Amendments to IAS 39: Novation of 
Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge 
Accounting

1 January 2014
The impact of the amendment 
is not material.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 
27: Investment Entities

1 January 2014 The impact of the amendment 
is not material.

2.2 Standards and interpretations early adopted

The Group has chosen to early adopt the following standards and interpretations:

Standard/Interpretation:
Years beginning on or after

Effective date:
Expected impact:

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 July 2014 The impact of the standard is not 
material.

2.3 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have 
been published and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 May 
2015 or later periods:
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Standard/Interpretation:

Effective date: 
Years beginning 
on or after Expected impact:

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity method in 
separate financial statements

1 January 2016 The impact of the standard has 
not yet been assessed.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 
28 Investment entities: Applying the 
consolidation expectation

1 January 2016
The impact of the standard has 
not yet been assessed.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
1 January 2018 The impact of the standard has 

not yet been assessed.
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements

1 January 2016 The impact of the standard has 
not yet been assessed.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements

1 January 2016 The impact of the standard has 
not yet been assessed.

Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to 
IFRS 7)

1 July 2016
The impact of the standard has 
not yet been assessed.

Amendment to IFRS 2: Share-based 
Payment: Annual improvements project

1 July 2014 The impact of the standard has 
not yet been assessed.

Amendment to IFRS 3: Business 
Combinations: Annual improvements 
project

1 July 2014
The impact of the standard has 
not yet been assessed.

Amendment to IAS 16: Property, Plant 
and Equipment: Annual improvements 
project

1 January 2016
The impact of the standard has 
not yet been assessed.

Amendment to IAS 24: Related Party 
Disclosures: Annual improvements 
project

1 July 2014
The impact of the standard has 
not yet been assessed.

Amendment to IFRS 13: Fair Value 
Measurement: Annual improvements 
project

1 July 2014
The impact of the standard has 
not yet been assessed.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation

1 January 2016
The impact of the standard has 
not yet been assessed.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers

1 January 2018 The impact of the standard has 
not yet been assessed.

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2015

Cost or
 revaluation

Accumulated
 depreciation

Carrying
value

Computer equipment 3 622 977 (2 860 926) 762 051
Computer software 1 091 400 (556 049) 535 351
Furniture and fixtures 1 349 276 (780 688) 568 588
Leasehold improvements 1 107 213 (555 536) 551 677
Motor vehicles 609 200 (169 113) 440 087
Office equipment 803 458 (550 724) 252 734

Total 8 583 524 (5 473 036) 3 110 488
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2014

Cost or 
revaluation

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Computer equipment 2 522 226 (1 996 132) 526 094
Computer software 402 343 (277 471) 124 872
Furniture and fixtures 1 022 633 (591 475) 431 158
Leasehold improvements 913 442 (375 617) 537 825
Motor vehicles 146 000 (68 793) 77 207
Office equipment 665 908 (412 658) 253 250

Total 5 672 552 (3 722 146) 1 950 406

2013

Cost or
 revaluation

Accumulated
 depreciation

Carrying 
value

Computer equipment 2 063 896 (1 727 965) 335 931
Computer software 191 053 (147 918) 43 135
Furniture and fixtures 834 429 (472 566) 361 863
Leasehold improvements 734 034 (231 772) 502 262
Motor vehicles 146 000 (19 865) 126 135
Office equipment 417 743 (300 211) 117 532

Total 4 387 155 (2 900 297) 1 486 858

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group 2015

Opening
 balance Additions

Additions 
through

 business
 combinations

Computer equipment 526 094 682 297 1 198
Computer software 124 872 689 057 –
Furniture and fixture 431 158 326 643 –
Leasehold improvements 537 825 193 771 –
Motor vehicles 77 207 609 200 –
Office equipment 253 250 137 550 –

1 950 406 2 638 518 1 198

Disposals

Foreign
 exchange 

movements Depreciation Total

Computer equipment – 33 (447 571) 762 051
Computer software – – (278 578) 535 351
Furniture and fixture – – (189 213) 568 588
Leasehold improvements – – (179 919) 551 677
Motor vehicles (69 074) – (177 246) 440 087
Office equipment – – (138 066) 252 734

(69 074) 33 (1 410 593) 3 110 488
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group 2014

Opening 
balance Additions Transfers

Computer equipment 335 931 507 830 (49 500)
Computer software 43 135 161 790 49 500
Furniture and fixture 361 863 188 203
Leasehold improvements 502 262 179 408
Motor vehicles 126 135 –
Office equipment 117 532 248 164

1 486 858 1 285 395 –

Depreciation Total

Computer equipment (268 167) 526 094
Computer software (129 553) 124 872
Furniture and fixture (118 908) 431 158
Leasehold improvements (143 845) 537 825
Motor vehicles (48 928) 77 207
Office equipment (112 446) 253 250

(821 847) 1 950 406

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group 2013

Opening
 balance Additions Depreciation Total

Computer equipment 160 892 288 850 (113 811) 335 931
Computer software 7 545 105 445 (69 855) 43 135
Furniture and fixture 239 079 234 340 (111 556) 361 863
Leasehold improvements 1 570 998 (68 737) 502 262
Motor vehicles – 146 000 (19 865) 126 135
Office equipment 160 443 45 707 (88 608) 117 532

567 950 1 391 340 (472 432) 1 486 858

4. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following table lists the entities which are controlled by the Group, either directly or indirectly through 
subsidiaries.

Name of company 
% holding

 2015
% holding 

2014
% holding

 2013

Avior Capital Markets International Limited 100 0 0
Avior Number 2 Proprietary Limited 100 100 100
Groombridge Nominees Proprietary Limited 100 100 1000

Carrying
 amount

2015

Carrying
 amount

2014

Carrying
 amount 

2013

Avior Capital Markets International Limited 1 749 174 – –
Avior Number 2 Proprietary Limited 153 153 153
Groombridge Nominees Proprietary Limited 1 000 1 000 1 000

1 750 327 1 153 1 153
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5. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2015 2014 2013

Loans and receivables

ASISA Enterprise Development Fund 750 000 750 000 –

The loan is unsecured and interest free. The loan is 
repayable within seven years after the initial loan was 
granted on 25 April 2014.

Non-current assets

Loans and receivables 750 000 750 000 –

Credit quality of other financial assets

Credit quality of other financial assets The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair 
value of each class of loan mentioned above. The Group 
does not hold any collateral as security.

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past 
due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to 
historical information about counterparty default rates.

Loans and receivables

Credit rating

Other

6. DEFERRED TAX

2015 2014 2013

Deferred tax liability
Property plant and equipment – (46 691) (16 208)

Deferred tax asset
Property, plant and equipment 51 781 – –
Provisions and allowances 1 088 079 492 079 265 581

Deferred tax balance from temporary differences other 
than unused tax losses 1 139 860 492 079 265 581

Total deferred tax asset 1 139 860 492 079 265 581

The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liability 
relate to income tax in the same jurisdiction, and the law 
allows net settlement. Therefore, they have been offset 
in the statement of financial position as follows:

Deferred tax liability – (46 691) (16 208)
Deferred tax asset 1 139 860 492 079 265 581

Total net deferred tax asset 1 139 860 445 388 249 373

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset
At beginning of year 445 388 249 373 237 468
Increases in tax loss available for set-off against future 
taxable income – – 13 018
Difference on provisions and allowances 596 000 226 498 4 311
Difference on property, plant and equipment 98 472 (30 483) (5 424)

1 139 860 445 388 249 373
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Unrecognised deferred tax asset

Unprovided deferred tax balances have been measured using a rate of 20% as per the UK corporate 
tax rates. There are deferred tax assets in respect of trading losses of GBP1 190 741 (2014: GBP –) 
(2013: GBP –) that have not been recognised due to uncertainty of future taxable profits of future taxable 
gains.

7. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of financial assets presented in the statement of financial position relate to the 
following measurement categories as defined in IAS 39:

Loans and
 receivables

Non-
financial 

Instruments

Financial 
instruments –

held for 
trading Total

Group – 2015
Other financial assets 750 000 – – 750 000
Amounts receivable in respect of 
stockbroking activities 197 340 630 – – 197 340 630
Financial assets held for trading – – 13 973 564 13 973 564
Margin and collateral accounts 69 202 085 – – 69 202 085
Cash and cash equivalents 17 155 906 – – 17 155 906
Trade and other receivables 9 378 505 695 539 – 10 074 044

293 827 126 695 539 13 973 564 308 496 229

Group – 2014
Other financial assets 750 000 – – 750 000
Amounts receivable in respect of 
stockbroking activities 342 291 636 – – 342 291 636
Margin and collateral accounts 24 950 146 – – 24 950 146
Cash and cash equivalents 9 651 673 – – 9 651 673
Trade and other receivables 3 834 036 385 071 – 4 219 107

381 477 491 385 071 – 381 862 562

Group – 2013
Amounts receivable in respect of 
stockbroking activities 31 685 591 – – 31 685 591
Financial assets held for trading – – 7 945 829 7 945 829
Margin and collateral accounts 20 532 355 – – 20 532 355
Cash and cash equivalents 3 799 178 – – 3 799 178
Trade and other receivables 3 724 943 243 245 – 3 968 188

59 742 067 243 245 7 945 829 67 931 141

8. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE IN RESPECT OF STOCKBROKING ACTIVITIES

2015 2014 2013

Broker netting account – 11 086 323 9 581 723
Futures daily balance 14 180 769 – –
Gilt clearing house 60 378 – –
JSE Trustees 17 075 848 16 708 164 10 855 232
Non-controlled substitution 166 016 266 314 505 819 9 699 870
Proprietary loan 7 369 – –
Stock and margin account – (8 670) 1 548 766

197 340 630 342 291 636 31 685 591
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9. FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING

2015 2014 2013

Stock account 13 973 564 – 7 945 829

The balance relates to the stock account in the company’s records reflecting the company’s proprietary 
provisions in securities and financial instruments.

10. MARGIN AND COLLATERAL ACCOUNTS

2015 2014 2013

Margin accounts 6 425 339 2 679 624 3 366 817
Cash collateral for borrowed securities 62 776 746 22 270 522 17 165 538

69 202 085 24 950 146 20 532 355

Margin accounts represent cash deposits with banks, transferred as collateral against open derivative 
contracts. The company uses brokers to transact derivative transactions, including those with central 
counterparties.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2015 2014 2013

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand 5 722 – –
Bank balances 2 940 418 7 443 442 3 799 178
Short-term deposits 14 209 766 2 208 231 –
Bank overdraft (2 272 457) – –

14 883 449 9 651 673 3 799 178

Current assets 17 155 906 9 651 673 3 799 178
Current liabilities (2 272 457) – –

14 883 449 9 651 673 3 799 178

Credit quality of cash at bank and short-term deposits, excluding cash on hand

The credit quality of cash at bank and short-term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past 
due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or historical 
information about counterparty default rates:

The company used First National Bank, Rand Merchant Bank, JP Morgan and Societe Generale and these 
banks have an A credit rating.

Cash and cash equivalents pledged as collateral

A limited cession of credit balances by the company 
dated 13 September 2013 – 469 000 –
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12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2015 2014 2013

Trade receivables 5 214 482 2 359 077 1 095 414
Other receivables 904 701 174 570 1 389 350
CFD margins and collateral – – 3 204
Deposits 3 500 3 500 96 257
Prepayments 695 539 378 630 243 245
Loans to Directors, managers
and employees 3 255 822 1 296 889 1 140 718
VAT – 6 441 –

10 074 044 4 219 107 3 968 188

Credit quality of trade and other receivables

The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past nor due nor impaired can be assessed 
by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default 
rates:

Trade receivables

Counterparties without external credit rating

Group 1 5 078 291 2 279 974 1 095 414
Group 2 136 191 79 103 –

5 214 482 2 359 077 1 095 414

Group 1 – new customer (less than six months).

Group 2 – existing customer (more than six months) with no defaults in the past.

Trade and other receivables past due and impaired

The Group had no trade and other receivables that were past due and impaired in the year under review.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

Trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment.

Trade and other receivables which are less than three months past due are not considered to be impaired. 
At 30 April 2015, R182 754 (2014: R297 284; 2013: R –) were past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

One month past due 19 245 203 401 –
Two month past due 27 318 20 183 –
Three month past due 136 191 73 700 –
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13. CURRENT TAX PAYABLE/(RECEIVABLE)

2015 2014 2013

Opening balance (271 366) 259 161 395 176
Assessed tax refunded/(paid) 287 543 (518 322) (897 776)
Taxation expense 9 135 334 8 525 903 3 601 371
Provisional tax paid (9 185 154) (7 867 876) (3 357 932)
Section 6quat rebate (146 022) (127 500) –

Closing balance (179 665) 271 366 (259 161)

Current tax payable – 271 366 97 876
Current tax receivable (179 665) – (357 037)

(179 665) 271 366 (259 161)

14. SHARE CAPITAL

2015 2014 2013

Authorised
400 000 “A” Ordinary Shares of R0,01 each 4 000 4 000 4 000
3 600 000 “B” Ordinary Shares of R0,01 each 36 000 36 000 36 000

40 000 40 000 40 000

Issued
200 000 “A” Ordinary Shares of R0.01 each 2 000 2 000 3 000
1 534 628 (2014: 1 500 981) “B” Ordinary Shares of 
R0.01 each 15 346 15 010 32 993
Share premium 3 509 358 1 410 167 1 410 167

3 526 704 1 427 177 1 446 160

Reconciliation of number of Shares issued
Reported as at 1 May 1 700 981 3 599 315 3 538 772
Cancellation of Shares on 28 July 2014 (3 411) – –
Cancellation of Shares on 16 January 2014 – (1 898 334) –
Issue of Shares on 3 November 2014 37 058 – –
Issue of Shares on 19 March 2013 – – 60 543

1 734 628 1 700 981 3 599 315

Reconciliation of value of issued Shares
Reported as at 1 May 1 427 177 1 446 160 10 430 988
Cancellation of Shares on 28 July 2014 (79 483) – –
Cancellation of Shares on 16 January 2014 – (18 983) –
Issue of Shares on 3 November 2014 2 179 010 – –
Issue of Shares on 19 March 2013 – – 1 419 999
Repayment of Share capital on 24 January 2013 – – (10 404 827)

3 526 704 1 427 177 1 446 160

2 265 372 (2014: 2 299 019) unissued ordinary Shares are under the control of the Directors in terms of 
a resolution of members passed at the last annual general meeting. This authority remains in force until 
the next annual general meeting.

The A and B Shares rank parri passu in all matters except voting rights. There are 9 (nine) votes for every 
A class Share of the issued Share capital in the company, and 1 (one) vote for every B class Share of the 
issued Share capital in the company.
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15. TREASURY SHARE RESERVE

The reserve for the company’s treasury Shares comprises the cost of the company’s Shares held by the 
Group. At year end the Group held 68 411 (2014: 65 000; 2013: 65 000) treasury Shares.

2015 2014 2013

Balance beginning of year (1 494 350) (18 333) (18 333)
Acquisition of treasury Shares – (1 476 017) –
Cancellation of treasury Shares 79 968 – –
Cancellation of Share premium (79 449) – –

Balance end of year 1 493 831 1 494 350 18 333

16. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE

2015 2014 2013

The translation reserve comprises exchange differences on consolidation of foreign subsidiary

Movement during the year 80 708 – –

17. LOANS FROM SHAREHOLDERS

2015 2014 2013

Britz, C – – 382 224
Burrell, SL – – 1 770 280
Mattison, KS – – 3 767 837
Noeth, D – – 134 201
Zazomia Trust – – 6 128 306

– – 12 182 848

The loans are unsecured and bear interest at the repo rate less 2%, with no fixed term for repayment.

In order to assist the company to comply with the Financial Resources Requirements of the JSE Limited, 
in terms of Rule 4.55 read with the directives DC, the abovementioned Shareholders agreed to subordinate 
their loan accounts for the benefit of the other creditors of the company. The subordination agreements 
were effective from 4 April 2012 for a minimum of two years

form the date thereof unless the Director: Surveillance of the JSE Limited, gives written approval for the 
subordination claim to be paid in whole or in part prior to such date. The subordination agreements were 
cancelled with the written approval of the Director: Surveillance of the JSE during the course of the year 
ended 26 April 2013.

Non-current liabilities – – (9 952 296)
Current liabilities – – (2 230 552)

– – (12 182 848)
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18. PROVISIONS

Reconciliation of provisions – 2015
Opening
 balance Additions

Utilised 
during the 

year Total

Leave pay 1 532 011 1 108 018 (238 261) 2 401 768
Straight lining of leases 365 562 206 363 – 571 925

1 897 573 1 314 381 (238 261) 2 973 693

Reconciliation of provisions – 2014
Opening
 balance Additions

Utilised 
during the

 year Total

Leave pay 1 099 836 688 731 (256 566) 1 532 011
Straight lining of leases 91 915 273 647 – 365 562

1 191 751 962 378 (256 556) 1 897 573

Reconciliation of provisions – 2013
Opening
 balance Additions

Utilised 
during the 

year Total

Leave pay 1 193 147 – (93 311) 1 099 836
Straight lining of leases 9 568 82 347 – 91 915

1 202 715 82 347 (93 311) 1 191 751

2015 2014 2013

Non-current liabilities 571 925 365 562 91 915
Current liabilities 2 401 768 1 532 011 1 099 836

2 973 693 1 897 573 1 191 751

The leave pay provision represents management’s best estimate of the company’s liability of the amount 
that would be payable to all employees were they not to take leave as at year-end date, but were instead 
to be paid out their leave entitlement in cash.
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19. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of financial liabilities presented in the statement of financial position relate to the 
following measurement categories as defined in IAS 39:

Financial 
liabilities at
 amortised 

cost

Non-
financial 

Instruments

Financial 
instruments –

 held for 
trading Total

Group – 2015
Amounts payable in respect of 
stockbroking activities 214 618 344 – – 214 618 344
Financial liabilities held for trading – – 14 107 966 14 107 966
Bank overdraft 2 272 457 – – 2 272 457
Trade and other payables 17 501 772 854 904 – 18 356 676

234 392 573 854 904 14 107 966 249 355 443

Group – 2014
Amounts payable in respect of 
stockbroking activities 331 818 857 – – 331 818 857
Trade and other payables 13 623 212 158 521 – 13 781 733

345 442 069 158 521 – 345 600 590

Group – 2013
Loans from Shareholders 12 182 848 – – 12 182 848
Amounts payable in respect of 
stockbroking activities 26 366 741 – – 26 366 741
Financial liabilities held for trading – – 3 117 297 3 117 297
Trade and other payables 9 675 226 669 460 – 10 344 686

48 224 815 669 460 3 117 297 52 011 572

20. AMOUNTS PAYABLE IN RESPECT OF STOCKBROKING ACTIVITIES

2015 2014 2013

Stockbroking payables 183 222 022 331 818 857 26 366 741
Broker netting account 30 967 058 – –
Stock account 427 301 – –
Loan agreement 1 963 – –

214 618 344 331 818 857 26 366 741

21. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING

2015 2014 2013

Stock account 14 107 966 – 3 117 297

The balance relates to the stock account in the company’s records reflecting the company’s proprietary 
provisions in securities and financial instruments.
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2015 2014 2013

Trade payables 2 515 021 489 637 235 952
Other payables 14 986 751 13 133 575 9 439 274
VAT 854 904 158 521 669 460

18 356 676 13 781 733 10 344 686

23. REVENUE

2015 2014 2013

Brokerage income 118 775 613 91 867 531 42 600 701
Research services 15 105 573 9 529 223 13 802 774
Other income 5 342 124 – –

139 223 310 101 396 754 56 403 475

24. COST OF SALES

2015 2014 2013

Brokerage fees 5 535 066 3 483 385 1 281 243
FNB settlement and custody charges 978 092 779 026 498 708
JSE and other related charges 16 987 493 10 835 657 6 167 886
Software expenses 223 009 195 530 100 257
Subscriptions 3 296 630 2 276 362 1 299 387
Telephone and data charges 699 437 414 526 401 199
Technical support 1 605 749 1 294 959 321 634

29 325 476 19 279 445 10 070 314

25. OTHER INCOME

2015 2014 2013

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 33 026 – –
Profit on exchange differences 96 523 – –
Administration and management fees received 6 890 8 610 2 450
Other income 4 680 5 614 185 434
Gain on bargain purchase (note 35) 1 085 027 – –

1 226 146 14 224 187 884

26. OPERATING PROFIT

2015 2014 2013

Operating profit for the year is stated after accounting for 
the following:

Income from subsidiaries
Dividends – 135 832 –

Operating lease charges
Premises 3 335 289 2 884 881 1 779 362

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 1 410 593 821 847 472 432

Employee costs 63 284 832 43 441 661 28 840 551
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27. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2015 2014 2013

Dividend revenue
Subsidiaries – Local – 135 832 –
Listed financial assets – Local – – 44 737

– 135 832 44 737

Interest revenue
Bank 835 795 699 988 490 209
Interest on margin 251 485 242 3 555
Other 183 657 100 790 44 494
SARS 24 824 – –
Standard Bank collateral 1 144 589 849 293 816 826

2 440 350 1 650 313 1 355 084

2 440 350 1 786 145 1 399 821

28. FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

2015 2014 2013

Accounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities (930) – –
Financial assets held for trading (96 978) – (2 414 597)
Financials liabilities held for trading (280 928) – –

(378 836) – (2 414 597)

The fair value adjustment relates to the stock accounts in the company’s records reflecting the company’s 
proprietary provisions in securities and financial instruments.

29. FINANCE COSTS

2015 2014 2013

Bank – 489 22
Shareholders 3 063 282 753 310 244
Other payables 35 639 53 762 11 801

38 702 337 004 322 067
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30. TAXATION

2015 2014 2013

Major components of the tax expense
Current
Local income tax – current period 9 135 334 8 525 903 3 098 771
STC – – 502 600

9 135 334 8 525 903 3 601 371

Deferred
Deferred tax (694 472) (196 015) (11 906)

8 440 862 8 329 888 3 589 465

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax 
expense:

Accounting profit 32 368 387 29 590 505 8 726 874

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2014: 28%; 
2013: 28%) 9 063 148 8 285 341 2 443 525

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
STC – – 502 600
Tax losses carried forward or utilised (906 392) 2 404 (64 015)
Dividends received – (38 033) –
Profit on disposal of assets (42 017) – –
Penalties and interest 6 572 23 064 14 238
Legal fees – Capital expenditure 317 214 57 112 4 010
Recoupment on disposal of assets 2 337 – –
Donations – – 13 020
Fair value adjustment – – 676 087

8 440 862 8 329 888 3 589 465
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31. ANALYSIS OF THE STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Amounts presented in the SOCI relating to financial instruments are analysed in the table below:

Note
Loans and 

Receivables

Liabilities at
 Amortised 

cost

Non – 
financial 

instruments
Balance in 

the SOCI

Group 2015
Interest income – normal and 
deemed 27 2 231 869 – 208 481 2 440 350
Interest income – on impaired 
financial assets 27 – – – –
Interest expense – normal and 
deemed 29 – 38 702 – 38 702
Impairment – – – –
Dividend revenue 27 – – – –
Amounts payable i.r.o. stockbroking 
activities 28 (930) – – (930)
Financial assets held for trading 28 (96 978) – – (96 978)
Financial liabilities held for trading 28 (280 928) – – (280 928)

Group 2014
Interest income – normal and 
deemed 27 1 549 523 – 100 790 1 650 313
Interest income – on impaired 
financial assets 27 – – – –
Interest expense – normal and 
deemed 29 – 337 004 – 337 004
Impairment – – – –
Dividend revenue 27 – – 135 832 135 832
Fair value adjustments 28 – – – –

Group 2013
Interest income – normal and 
deemed 27 1 307 390 – 44 994 1 352 384
Interest income – on impaired 
financial assets 27 – – – –
Interest expense – normal and 
deemed 29 – 322 067 – 322 067
Impairment – – – –
Dividend revenue 27 44 737 – – 44 737
Financial assets held for trading 28 (2 414 597) – – (2 414 597)
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32. PER SHARE INFORMATION

2015 2014 2013

Earnings per Share ZAR cents ZAR cents ZAR cents
Basic earnings per Share 1 398.69 701.48 144.82
Diluted earnings per Share 1 398.69 701.48 144.82
Headline earnings per 
Share 1 333.56 701.48 144.82

The weighted average number of Shares  No. Shares  No. Shares  No. Shares
Ordinary Shares 1 700 981 3 599 315 3 538 772
Ordinary Shares issued during year 18 072 – 8 791
Cancellation of Shares (2 579) (568 498) –

Basic Shares 1 716 474 3 030 817 3 547 563
Dilutive ordinary Shares – – –

Diluted Shares 1 716 474 3 030 817 3 547 563

Headline earnings

Headline earnings per Share has been calculated in accordance with the South African Circular 2/2015.

The adjustments made to arrive at headline earnings are as follows:

Profit for the year 24 008 233 21 260 617 5 137 409
Adjusted for:
Gain on bargain purchase (1 085 027) – –
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (33 026) – –

22 890 180 21 260 617 5 137 409

Headline earnings 
reconciliation 2015 2014 2013

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Profit attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of 
the parent entity 24 008 233 21 260 617 5 137 409

Less undeclared 
cumulative preference 
Share dividends and related 
taxation – – –

IAS 33 earnings 24 008 233 21 260 617 5 137 409
Less: IAS 16 gain on the 
disposal of property, plant 
and equipment (33 026) (33 026) – – – –
Less: IFRS 3 gain from a 
bargain purchase (1 085 027) (1 085 027) – – – –

Headline earnings 22 890 180 21 260 617 5 137 409

Dividends per Share ZARcents ZARcents ZARcents

Final dividend 115 – –

There were no dividends proposed or declared before the financial statements were authorised for issue, 
but not recognised as a distribution to equity holders during the years ended 30 April 2013, 2014 and 2015.

Before being acquired as a subsidiary, dividends were declared by Avior Number 2 Proprietary Limited on 
1 March 2012. These dividends were paid and recognised in the 2013 financial year end for the Group.
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33. CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS

2015 2014 2013

Profit before taxation 32 368 387 29 590 505 8 726 874
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 1 410 593 821 847 472 432
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (33 026) – –
Foreign exchange translation 80 708 –
Dividends received – (135 832) (44 737)
Investment revenue (2 440 350) (1 650 313) (1 355 084)
Finance costs 38 702 337 004 322 067
Fair value adjustments 378 836 – 2 414 597
Movements in provisions 1 076 120 705 822 (472 124)
Gain on bargain purchase (1 085 027) – –
Changes in working capital:
Amounts receivable in respect of stockbroking activities 144 951 005 (305 777 513) (30 924 645)
Movements in margin and collateral accounts (44 251 939) (4 417 791) (8 081 940)
Trade and other receivables (2 976 961) (238 172) (1 723 481)
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities (117 444 947) 305 452 116 17 105 612
Trade and other payables 1 760 944 3 424 300 4 149 164

13 833 045 28 111 973 (9 411 265)

34. TAX PAID

2015 2014 2013

Balance at beginning of the year (271 366) 259 161 (395 176)
Current tax and STC for the year recognised in profit or loss (9 135 334) (8 525 903) (3 601 371)
Balance at end of the year (179 665) 271 366 (259 161)

(9 586 365) (7 995 376) (4 255 708)

35. DIVIDENDS PAID

2015 2014 2013

Dividends (2 000 000) – (5 026 000)
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

2015 2014 2013

Avior Capital Markets International Limited

On Saturday, 31 January 2015 the Group acquired 100% of Avior Capital Markets International Limited 
which resulted in the Group obtaining control over Avior Capital Markets International Limited.

Avior Capital Markets International Limited is principally involved in the financial services industry. As a 
result of the acquisition, the Group is expecting to be a leading provider of financial services in South 
Africa, Africa and the United Kingdom. It is also expecting to reduce costs through economies of scale. 
The year end of the subsidiary is different than that of the Group. The subsidiary’s year end is 31 March 
2015. This difference of one month is not considered significant and thus the financial information for the 
year ended 31 March 2015 of the subsidiary was used to consolidate the subsidiary.

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Property, plant and equipment 1 198 – –
Trade and other receivables 2 877 976 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 2 769 028 – –
Trade and other payables (2 814 001) – –

Total identifiable net assets 2 834 201 – –
Gain on acquisition (1 085 027) – –

1 749 174 – –

Acquisition date fair value of consideration paid
Cash (1 749 174)

Net movement in cash acquired
Cash and cash equivalent acquired 2 769 028
Cash consideration paid (1 749 174)

1 019 854

Gain on acquisition

A gain of R1 085 027 was recognised on acquisition. The entity acquired was in the process of winding 
down. Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited stepped in and offered to buy the entity and gave a cash 
injection and since then the company has started a turn around with the support of Avior Capital Markets 
Proprietary Limited. The gain has been included in the other income line item in comprehensive income.

Revenue and profit or loss of Avior Capital Markets International Limited

Revenue of R3 984 955 and profit of R2 128 413 of Avior Capital Markets International Limited have been 
included in the Group’s results since the date of acquisition.

Group revenue and profit or loss for full year

Had all the business combinations taken place at the beginning of the reporting year, the revenue for the 
Group would have been R145 734 547 (2014: R nil; 2013: R nil) and the net loss would have been R21 666 
329 (2014: R nil loss; 2013: R nil loss).
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37. MOVEMENT IN INVESTMENTS (INCL SUBS, JVS AND ASSOC)

2015 2014 2013

Fair value of assets acquired
Property, plant and equipment – – –
Trade and other receivables – – –
Trade and other payables – – –
Cash and cash equivalents – – –

Total net assets acquired – – –

Repayment of Share premium – – (10 404 827)
Surplus recognised as profits – – –

– – (10 404 827)

Consideration paid/received
Cash – – (10 404 827)

Net cash outflow on acquisition/reduction

Cash consideration paid/received – – (10 404 827)

38. COMMITMENTS

2015 2014 2013

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Minimum lease payments due:
– within one year 3 295 058 2 478 993 1 075 979
– in second to fifth year inclusive 5 460 364 6 427 507 8 045 334

8 755 422 8 906 500 9 121 313

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties. 
Leases are negotiated for an average term of five years and rentals are fixed for an average of five years. 
No contingent rent is payable.
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39. RELATED PARTIES

Relationships
Subsidiaries Refer to note 4

Shareholders with significant influence Burrell, SL
Mattison, KS
Zazomia Trust

Companies controlled directly or indirectly by Directors CheetahFIX Limited
Tauri Proprietary Limited

Members of key management Burrell, SL
Koutromanos, P
Mattison, KS
Tilly, N

2015 2014 2013

Related party balances
Loan accounts – owing (to)/by related parties
Avior Number 2 Proprietary Limited – – –
Britz, C – – (382 224)
Burrell, SL – – (1 770 280)
Koutromanos, P – – (3 767 837)
Mattison, KS – – (134 201)
Zazomia Trust – – (6 128 306)

Related party transactions
Interest paid to/(received from) related parties
Britz, C – 5 603 11 829
Burrell, SL – 50 737 54 792
Mattison, KS – 77 240 83 160
Noeth, D – 3 852 4 148
Zazomia Trust – 144 790 156 315

Purchases from related parties
CheetahFIX Limited 422 370 263 900 –

Management fees paid to related parties

Avior Number 2 Proprietary Limited – – –

Compensation to Directors and other key 
management

Short-term employee benefits 16 349 000 12 981 065 8 326 000
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40. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Executive Emoluments
Travel

 allowance Annual bonus Total

2015
Burrell, SL 2 480 000 – 1 082 000 3 562 000
Koutromanos, P 3 770 000 – 1 817 000 5 587 000
Mattison, KS 2 456 000 24 000 1 640 000 4 120 000
Tilly, N 1 500 000 – 1 580 000 3 080 000

10 206 000 24 000 6 119 000 16 349 000

2014
Burrell, SL 1 995 000 – 1 250 000 3 245 000
Koutromanos, P 3 045 805 20 000 1 100 000 4 165 805
Mattison, KS 1 803 000 22 000 1 205 260 3 030 260
Tilly, N 1 140 000 – 1 400 000 2 540 000

7 983 805 42 000 4 955 260 12 981 065

2013
Burrell, SL 1 610 000 – 330 000 1 940 000
Koutromanos, P 2 694 000 24 000 1 174 000 3 892 000
Mattison, KS 1 586 000 24 000 794 000 2 404 000
Tilly, N 90 000 – – 90 000

5 980 000 48 000 2 298 000 8 326 000

41. RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for Shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings (excluding derivative 
financial liabilities) disclosed in notes 17 and 21 cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 11, and equity 
as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

JSE Limited Financial Resources Requirements Rule 4.55, read with directives DC, requires a minimum 
capital resource of 13/52 weeks annual expenditure. The Group monitors its capital adequacy requirements 
on a monthly basis.

These requirements have been complied with at year end.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance 
or externally imposed capital requirements from the previous year.

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: liquidity risk, cash flow interest rate risk, 
fair value interest rate risk, market risk, credit risk and foreign exchange risk.
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Exposure

The Group is exposed to credit risk, interest rate risk, market risk, foreign exchange risk and liquidity risk 
as follows:

Financial instrument
Credit 
risk

Liquidity 
risk

Cash flow
interest 
rate risk

Fair value 
interest 
rate risk

Market 
risk

Foreign 
exchange
 risk

Other financial assets Yes No No No No No
Amounts receivable in respect of 
stockbroking activities Yes No No No Yes No
Margin and collateral accounts Yes No No No No Yes
Cash and cash equivalents Yes No No No No Yes
Trade and other receivables Yes No No No Yes Yes
Amounts payable in respect of 
stockbroking activities Yes Yes No No No No
Bank overdraft No Yes No No No No
Trade and other payables No Yes No No No No
Loans from Shareholders No Yes No No No No
Financial assets held for trading No No No No Yes No
Financial liabilities held for trading Yes Yes No No No No

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to pay an amount as it becomes due. The Group’s 
risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments.

The Group’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to ensure that we are in a position to meet its settlement 
and payment obligations at all times.

The Group manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities. 
The Group also maintains experienced administration and a good relationship with bankers.

Listed instruments are marketable and can be used as collateral for short-term facilities.

The Group’s liabilities have remaining contractual maturities (including interest payments where applicable) 
as summarised below:

Less than 
30 days

Less than 
1 year

At 30 April 2015
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities 214 618 344 –
Financial liabilities held for trading 14 107 966 –
Trade and other payables 18 356 676 –
Bank overdraft – 2 272 457

At 30 April 2014
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities 331 818 857 –
Trade and other payables 13 781 733 –

At 30 April 2013
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities 26 366 741 –
Financial liabilities held for trading 3 117 297 –
Trade and other payables 10 344 686 –
Loans from Shareholders – 2 230 552

Interest rate risk

Two types of interest rate risk arise on interest-bearing Financial Instruments recognised in SOFP:
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 – Cash flow interest rate risk – the risk that the cash flows will change because the interest rate has 
changed.

 – Fair value interest rate risk – the risk that the fair value of the instrument will change because the 
interest rate has changed.

The Group’s exposure is limited primarily to amounts it deposits and borrows at floating interest rates in 
the normal course of business.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for 
non-derivative instruments at the statement of financial position date. For floating rate liabilities, the 
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the statement of financial position 
date was outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis points (2014: 100 basis points, 2013: 100 basis 
points) increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

2015 2014 2013

Cash balances 84 085 534 34 601 819 24 331 533
Loans to Shareholders 3 255 822 1 296 889 1 140 718
Loans from Shareholders – – (12 182 848)

87 341 356 35 898 708 13 289 403

Increase Decrease

Interest rate (Prime) 9.50% 9.25% 8.50% 9.50% 9.25% 8.50%
Change 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% (1.00%) (1.00%) (1.00%)
New interest rate 10.50% 10.25% 9.50% 8.50% 8.25% 7.50%
Interest on old rate 8 297 429 3 320 630 1 129 599 8 297 429 3 320 630 1 129 599
Interest on new rate 9 170 842 3 679 618 1 262 493 7 424 015 2 961 643 996 705
Profit change 873 414 358 987 132 894 (873 414) (358 987) (132 894)
Tax 28% 28% 28% 28% 28% 28%
After tax profit 
change 628 858 258 471 95 684 (628 858) (258 471) (95 684)

Market risk

Market risk is defined as the risk of economic losses resulting from price changes in the capital markets 
on our proprietary positions and positions resulting from misdeals. Market risk includes price risk, which 
is the risk of securities price movements that the Group is exposed to as a result of trading on the stock 
market. The Group’s conservative approach has mitigated its exposure to market risk.

Market risk is managed on a Group basis as follows:

 – Large positions requires pre-approval from Exco and smaller positions responding to market positions 
are initiated by unanimous agreement by the management.

 – Mainly low risk trading strategies such as arbitrage (long or short the derivative, opposite side 
on 110:110 underlying), pairs trading (long a security, short a related security), corporate events 
(discounted market price) compared to the corporate event and vice versa).

In the unfortunate event of a misdeal, the Group adheres to the “first loss is the best loss” principle. 
All positions are reported daily by the head of the trading desk and monitored by internal audit.

Credit risk

This relates to the risk that the Group may not yet recover amounts it is owed.

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis.

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade 
debtors. The Group only deposits cash with major banks with high-quality credit standing and limits 
exposure to any one counterparty. The Group used First National Bank, Rand Merchant Bank, JP Morgan 
and Societé Générale and these banks have an A credit rating.
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The Group is exposed to credit risk in its trading activities, brokering activities, portfolio management 
activities, research activities, as well as when it acts as an intermediary on behalf of clients and third 
parties. In these activities, credit risk arises because of the possibility that a counterparty will default 
either prior to settlement or will fail to settle in terms of previously contracted transactions.

The amount that best represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows:

 – Granting of loans and receivables to customers and other parties – the maximum exposure to credit 
risk is the carrying amount of the related financial assets (i.e. net of any impairment losses recognised 
in accordance with IAS 39).

 – Placing deposits with banks – the maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of the 
related financial assets.

The Group mitigates this risk by requiring all clients to sign legally binding mandates prior to trading on 
behalf of such client, and performing credit inquiries on all new client accounts.

No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period, and management does not expect any losses 
from non-performance by these counterparties.

The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar and the UK Pound. Foreign exchange risk arises from 
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.

To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risks, foreign exchange cash flows are monitored.

Operational risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, 
incidents caused by the actions of personnel or system malfunctions, or external events.

The Group manages operation risks as follows:

 – Policies, procedures and checklists
 – Selector risk management system
 – Daily review of trading activity
 – Employment of experienced staff
 – BCP, cloud computing, redundancy of JSE data lines

42. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The disclosure of certain comparative figures has changed from prior year in order to enhance disclosure. 
The margin and collateral accounts are now disclosed separately as per note 8 to the financial statements. 
In addition, the open positions on trading stock held at year end, were split between the long and short 
positions and disclosed separately as Financial assets held for trading and Financial liabilities held for 
trading respectively. This was done since the assets and liabilities did not meet the requirements of 
IAS 32 for offsetting financial instruments.

2015 2014 2013

Statement of Financial Position
Amounts receivable in respect of stockbroking activities – (540 292) (16 141 178)
Financial assets held for trading – – 7 945 829
Margin and collateral accounts – 24 950 146 20 532 355
Trade and other receivables – (2 139 332) (12 747)
Cash and cash equivalents – (22 270 522) (17 165 538)
Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities – – 1 711 235
Financial liabilities held for trading – – 3 117 297
Trade and other payables – – 12 747

– – –
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43. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

In identifying its operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines, which 
represent the main products and services provided by the Group. Each of these operating segments is 
managed separately as each of these service lines requires different technologies and other resources as 
well as marketing approaches.

The measurement policies the Group uses for segment reporting under IFRS 8 are the same as those 
used in its financial statements, except that certain items are not included in arriving at the operating 
profit of the operating segments (post-employment benefit expenses, expenses relating to Share-based 
payments, research costs and items relating to investment property). In addition, corporate assets which 
are not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating segment are not allocated to a 
segment.

No individual assets are held by the business segments.

2015 2014 2013

Business segment
Revenue:
Brokerage income 118 775 613 91 867 531 42 600 701
Research services 15 105 573 9 529 223 13 802 744
Other 5 342 124 – –

139 223 310 101 396 754 56 403 445

44. FAIR VALUE INFORMATION

The fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities compared to their carrying amounts are as 
follows:

Note
Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2015
Assets
Other financial assets 5 750 000 – – – 750 000
Financial assets held for trading 9 13 973 564 13 973 564 13 973 564 – –
Liabilities
Loans from Shareholders 
– non current 17 – – – – –
Loans from Shareholders 
– current 17 – – – – –
Financial liabilities held for 
trading 21 14 107 966 14 107 966 14 107 966 – –

2014
Assets
Other financial assets 5 750 000 403 749 – – 750 000
Liabilities
Loans from Shareholders 
– non current 17 – – – – –
Loans from Shareholders 
– current 17 – – – – –
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Note
Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2013
Assets
Other financial assets 5 – – – – –
Financial assets held for trading 9 7 945 829 7 945 829 7 945 829 – –
Liabilities
Loans from Shareholders 
– non current 17 9 952 296 9 952 296 – 9 952 296 –
Loans from Shareholders 
– current 17 2 230 552 2 230 552 – 2 230 552 –
Financial liabilities held for 
trading 21 3 117 297 3 117 297 3 117 297 – –

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are further considered 
in the following notes:

Fair value measurement methods

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged 
compared to the previous reporting period. Measurement methods for financial assets and liabilities 
accounted for at amortised cost are described below. Methods applied for items accounted for at fair 
value are described in the fair value hierarchy.

Trade and other receivables

All trade and other receivables are short-term in nature. The carrying amount of trade and other receivables 
is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Trade and other payables

All trade and other payables are short-term in nature. The carrying amount of trade and other payables is 
considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents, margin and collateral accounts and bank overdrafts

The carrying amount is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Other financial assets

Other financial assets comprise of a loan granted to AISA Enterprise Development Fund.

The fair value is representative of the present value of the loan discounted at prime interest rate of 9.5% 
(2014: 9.25%).

Amounts receivable/payable in respect of stockbroking activities

These amounts are short-term in nature. The carrying amount is considered a reasonable approximation 
of fair value.

Financial assets/liabilities held for trading

These amounts are short-term in nature. The carrying amount is considered a reasonable approximation 
of fair value.

Fair value hierarchy

For financial assets recognised at fair value, disclosure is required of a fair value hierarchy which reflects 
the significance of the inputs used to make the measurements.

This hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three levels based on the significance of inputs 
used in measuring the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the 
following levels:

 – Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
 – Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
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 – Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level 
of significant input to the fair value measurement.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged 
compared to the previous reporting period.

There have been no transfers into or out of Level 1, 2 or 3 during the year under review.

Fair value measurements in Level 3

The Group’s financial assets and liabilities classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques based on 
significant inputs that are not based on observable market data. The following assets are classified as 
Level 3:

Assets
Other financial assets 435 087 403 749 –

There have been no transfers into or out of level 3 in the reporting periods under review.

45. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the reporting period, Avior Capital Markets has stated its intention to list on the JSE AltX. 
This is expected to occur in the first half of the 2016 calendar year. Per this decision, additional disclosure 
where requested by the JSE which resulted in the annual financial statements to be re-issued with 
additional disclosures are follows:

•	 IFRS 7 and IFRS 13 where the notes where enhanced
•	 Note 7 Deferred tax
•	 Note 8 Financial assets by category
•	 Note 10 Financial assets held for trading
•	 Note 14 Current tax payable (receivable)
•	 Note 20 Financial liabilities by category
•	 Note 21 Amounts payable in respect of stockbroking activities
•	 Note 22 Financial liabilities held for trading
•	 Note 32 Analysis of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
•	 Note 33 Per Share information
•	 Note 42 Risk management
•	 Note 44 Segment information
•	 Note 45 Fair value information
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ANNEXURE 8

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORTS ON THE AUDITED 
HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS

The Directors
Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited
Suite 1003, 1st Floor
82 on Maude
82 Maude Street
Sandton
2196

23 May 2017

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION OF AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS PROPRIETARY LIMITED (“AVIOR”) FOR THE YEARS 
ENDED 30 APRIL 2015 AND 30 APRIL 2014

Introduction

We have audited the historical financial information of PFF for the three years ended 30 April 2014 and 2015 
as set out in Annexure 7 of the Pre-Listing Statement to be issued on or about 14 May 2017 (“the Pre-Listing 
Statement”) in compliance with the JSE Limited (“JSE”) Listings Requirements.

The financial information comprises the statement of financial position as at 30  April 2014 and 2015, the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 
12 month periods ended 30 April 2014 and 2015, and the notes thereto, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our Independence and Quality Control

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of the Code of Professional Conduct 
for Registered Auditors issued by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors (“IRBA Code”), which is 
founded on fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality 
and professional behaviour. The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Part A and B).

The firm applies International Standard on Quality Control 1 and, accordingly, maintains a comprehensive 
system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical 
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Historical Financial Information

The company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation, contents and presentation of the Pre-Listing 
Statement and the fair presentation of the historical financial information in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair representation of financial statements that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Reporting Accountants’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion or conclusion on the historical financial information of Avior, included 
in the Pre-Listing Statement, based on our audit of the financial information of Avior for the years ended 
30 April 2014 and 2015.

This report of historical financial information has been prepared in accordance with and by applying (i) IFRS; 
(ii)  the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial 
Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council; and (iii) the accounting policies of 
the Company.
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We conducted our audit of the historical financial information of Avior for the two years ended 30 April 2014 
and 2015 in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and report the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial information. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
information, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial information in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial information.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Audit Opinion

In our opinion, the historical financial information of Avior for the years ended 30 April 2014 and 30 April 2015 
presents fairly, in all material respects, for the purposes of the Circular, the financial position of Avior at that 
date and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa and the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

Consent

We consent to the inclusion of this report, which will form part of the Pre-Listing Statement to the Shareholders 
of Avior in the form and context in which it appears.

Yours faithfully

Grant Thornton Cape
Chartered Accountants (SA)
Registered Auditors

Per B. van der Walt
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditors
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ANNEXURE 9

PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AVIOR HOLDINGS

The pro forma statement of financial position as at 31 October 2016 is set out below.

The Directors of Avior Holdings are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the pro forma financial 
information of Avior Holdings, which has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and because of its nature 
may not fairly present the Group’s financial position, changes in equity, results of operations or cash flows. The 
pro forma financial effects are based on the assumption that the Listing occurred on 31 October 2016 for 
statement of financial position purposes, and on 1 May 2016 for statement of comprehensive income purposes. 
The pro forma financial effects have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, the requirements of the Companies 
Act 71 of 2008 and the SAICA guide on pro forma financial information.

The independent reporting accountants’ report on the pro forma financial information is set out in Annexure 10 
to this Pre-Listing Statement.

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 October 2016

Avior 
Holdings1

 R

 Avior 
Capital 

Markets2 
 R

Pro forma
 adjustments 

 R
Total

 R

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 785 579 3 785 579
Deferred tax 17 690 667 17 690 667

– 21 476 246 – 21 476 246

Current assets
Financial asset 750 000 750 000
Operating lease asset 404 046 404 046
Amounts receivable in respect of 
stockbroking activities 141 638 974 141 638 974
Current tax receivable 889 707 889 707
Margin and collateral accounts 18 629 096 18 629 096
Loans to Directors, managers and 
employees 3 342 749 3 342 749
Financial assets held for trading 1 277 138 1 277 138
Trade and other receivables 4 349 155 4 349 155
Cash and cash equivalents 120 71 202 616 (12 761 647)3, 5, 6 58 441 089

120 242 483 481 (12 761 647) 229 721 954

Total assets 120 263 959 727 (12 761 647) 251 198 200

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 120 17 156 (3070)5  14 206
Reserves (8 263 462) (8 663 700)6  (16 897 162)
Retained income 107 530 531 (30 586 337)3  76 994 194

120 99 284 225 (39 223 107) 60 061 238
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Avior 
Holdings1

 R

 Avior 
Capital 

Markets2 
 R

Pro forma
 adjustments 

 R
Total

 R

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Amounts payable in respect of 
stockbroking activities 139 800 596
139 800 596
Trade and other payables 20 698 983 26 461 4606 47 190 443
Financial liabilities held for trading 1 211 881 1 211 881
Provisions 2 964 042 2 964 042

– 164 675 502 26 461 460 191 136 962

Total liabilities – 164 675 502 26 461 460 191 136 962

Total equity and liabilities 120 263 959 727 (12 761 647) 251 198 200

Total number of Shares in issue4, 5 120 1 715 628 (252 777)7 146 285 1004

Net asset value per Share (cents) 5 787.05 41.06
Tangible net asset value per Share (cents) 4 755.90 28.96

Notes:

1. Extracted without adjustment from the audited interim financial statements of Avior Holdings for the six months ended 31 October 
2016 as set out in Annexure 1.

2. Extracted without adjustment from the reviewed interim financial statements of Avior Capital Markets for the six months ended 
31 October 2016 as set out in Annexure 3.

3. For statement of financial position purposes, transaction costs of R1.8 million, as set out in paragraph 13.8 of this Pre-Listing 
Statement, have been incurred in respect of the Listing and is assumed to have been settled from existing cash resources on 
31 October 2016, which is assumed to have a once-off effect.

4. The Avior Group Restructuring has occurred prior to the Listing, in terms of which each Shareholder of Avior Capital Markets 
exchanged each of their Shares in Avior Capital Markets for 100 Shares in Avior Holdings, which is assumed to have a continuing 
effect.

5. Due to Avior Holdings not having any operations as a result of Avior Holdings being a dormant shelf company since its incorporation 
on 19 March 2015, the stated capital of R120 has been eliminated.

6. The Avior Group repurchased all the Shares of a material Shareholder for a total consideration of R28 789 347 and funded the 
repurchase through the issue of Shares of a total amount of R8 633 700, Shareholders’ loan of R9 194 200 and existing cash 
resources of R10 961 527.

7. The Avior Group repurchased a total number of 310 335 Shares at a price of R95 from Shareholders and re-issued 57 558 Shares 
at a price of R150 prior to the Listing.

8. These pro forma statements only show the implications of the listing and does not include the implications of any other events 
occurring after the listing, either controlled or non-controlled.
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the six months ended  
31 October 2016

Avior 
Holdings1

 R

 Avior 
Capital 

Markets2

 R

Pro forma 
adjustments 

 R
Total

 R

Revenue 100 371 191 100 371 191
Cost of sales (24 659 564) (24 659 564)

Gross profit 75 711 627 75 711 627
Other income 1 067 918 1 067 918
Operating expenses (60 064 432) (1 800 000)3 (61 864 432)

Operating profit 16 715 113 (1 800 000) 14 915 113
Investment revenue 1 259 025 (405 176)3, 7 853 849
Finance costs (27 586) (988 190)6 (1 015 776)

Profit before taxation 17 946 522 (3 193 366) 14 753 186
Taxation 7 902 495 (242 345)6, 7 7 660 150 

Profit for the year 25 849 047 (2 951 021) 22 413 336

Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences on translating 
foreign operations (8 263 462) (8 263 462)

Total comprehensive income for the 
year 17 585 585 14 149 874

Headline earnings reconciliation
Profit attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent entity 17 585 585 14 149 874

Headline earnings 17 585 585 14 149 874

Weighted average number of Shares4, 5 120 1 715 628 (252 777)8 146 285 1004

Earnings per Share (cents) 1 025.02 9.67
Headline earnings per Share (cents) 1 025.02 9.67

Notes:
1. Extracted without adjustment from the audited interim financial statements of Avior Holdings for the six months ended  

31 October 2016 as set out in Annexure 1. As a result of Avior Holdings being a dormant shelf company since its incorporation on 
19 March 2015, there have been no operations for statement of comprehensive income purposes.

2. Extracted without adjustment from the reviewed interim financial statements of Avior Capital Markets for the six months ended 
31 October 2016 as set out in Annexure 3.

3. For statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income purposes, transaction costs of R1.8 million, as set out in 
paragraph 13.8 of this Pre-Listing Statement, have been incurred in respect of the Listing and is assumed to have been settled 
from existing cash resources on 1 May 2016. These transaction costs are expensed in the statement of profit and loss and other 
comprehensive income and will lead to a loss of interest income which has been calculated as R57 150 (based on the prevailing 
interest rate of 6.35% as earned on the Company’s collateral account held at Société Général), resulting in a tax saving tax of R16 
002 (28%), all of which is expected to have a once-off effect.

4. The Avior Group Restructuring is assumed to have occurred prior to the Listing, in terms of which each Shareholder of Avior Capital 
Markets exchanged each of their Shares in Avior Capital Markets for 100 Shares in Avior Holdings, which is assumed to have a 
continuing effect.

5. Due to Avior Holdings not having any operations as a result of Avior Holdings being a dormant shelf company since its incorporation 
on 19 March 2015, the stated capital of R120 has been eliminated.

6. For statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income purposes, the finance cost of R988 190 was accrued on the 
Shareholder loans to fund the Shareholder repurchase from a material Shareholder as well as finance cost paid to the Shareholder 
between settlement date and payment date, which has been assumed to have been settled from existing cash resources on  
1 May 2016. These finance costs were calculated at prime +2% with a resulting tax saving of 28% (R160 899).

7. For statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income purposes, there is an opportunity cost of R348 026, part of 
the repurchase from a material Shareholder has been settled from existing cash resources (R10 961 527) on 1 May 2016. These 
opportunity costs will lead to a loss of interest income which has been calculated as R348 026 (based on the prevailing interest rate 
of 6.35% as earned on the Company’s collateral account held at Société General Bank), resulting in a tax loss of R97 447 (28%), all 
of which is expected to have a once-off effect.

8. The Avior Group repurchased a total number of 310 335 Shares from Shareholders and re-issued 57 558 Shares prior to the Listing.
9. These pro forma statements only show the implications of the listing and does not include the implications of any other events 

occurring after the listing, either controlled or non-controlled.
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ANNEXURE 10

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON THE PRO FORMA 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AVIOR HOLDINGS

“The Directors
Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited
Suite 1003 1st Floor
82 Maude Street
Sandton
2196

23 May 2017

Dear Sirs,

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS’ ASSURANCE REPORT ON THE COMPILATION OF THE 
PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS HOLDINGS LIMITED 
(“AVIOR” OR “THE COMPANY”)

We have completed our assurance engagement to report on the compilation of the pro forma financial 
information of Avior by the Directors. The pro forma financial information, as set out in paragraph 9 and 
Annexure 9 of the Circular to Avior’s Shareholders to be issued on or about 25 May 2017 (“the Circular”), 
consists of the pro forma statement of financial position and related notes. The pro forma financial information 
has been compiled on the basis of the applicable criteria specified in the JSE Limited (“JSE”) Listings 
Requirements.

The pro forma financial information has been compiled by the Directors to illustrate the impact of the listing 
and related transactions as described in the Circular, on the company’s financial position as at 31 October 
2016, and the company’s financial performance for the period then ended, as if the transactions had taken 
place at 31 October 2016 for purposes of the pro forma statement of financial position and at 1 May 2016 for 
the purposes of the pro forma statement of comprehensive income. As part of this process, information about 
the company’s financial position and financial performance has been extracted by the Directors from the 
company’s financial information for the six months ended 31 October 2016.

Responsibilities

Directors’ Responsibility for the Pro Forma Financial Information

The Directors are responsible for compiling the pro forma financial information on the basis of the applicable 
criteria specified in the JSE Listings Requirements and described in paragraph 9 and Annexure  9 of the 
Circular.

Our Independence and Quality Control

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirement of the Code of Professional Conduct 
issued by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors, which is founded on fundamental principles of 
integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour.

The firm applies International Standard on Quality Control 1, and accordingly maintains a comprehensive 
system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical 
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Reporting Accountants’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion about whether the pro forma financial information has been 
compiled, in all material respects, by the Directors on the basis specified in the JSE Listings Requirements 
based on our procedures performed. We conducted our engagement in accordance with the International 
Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3420, Assurance Engagements to Report on the Compilation of 
Pro Forma Financial Information Included in a Circular which is applicable to an engagement of this nature. This 
standard requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform our procedures to obtain 
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reasonable assurance about whether the pro forma financial information has been compiled, in all material 
respects, on the basis specified in the JSE Listings Requirements.

For purposes of this engagement, we are not responsible for updating or reissuing any reports or opinions on 
any historical financial information used in compiling the pro forma financial information, nor have we, in the 
course of this engagement, performed an audit or review of the financial information used in compiling the 
pro forma financial information.

As the purpose of pro forma financial information included in a Circular is solely to illustrate the impact of a 
significant corporate action or event on unadjusted financial information of the entity as if the corporate action 
or event had occurred or had been undertaken at an earlier date selected for purposes of the illustration, we 
do not provide any assurance that the actual outcome of the event or transaction would have been as presented.

A reasonable assurance engagement to report on whether the pro forma financial information has been 
compiled, in all material respects, on the basis of the applicable criteria involves performing procedures to 
assess whether the applicable criteria used in the compilation of the pro forma financial information provides 
a reasonable basis for presenting the significant effects directly attributable to the corporate action or event, 
and to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about whether:

•	 the related pro forma adjustments give appropriate effect to those criteria; and
•	 the pro forma financial information reflects the proper application of those adjustments to the unadjusted 

financial information.

Our procedures selected depend on our judgment, having regard to our understanding of the nature of the 
company, the corporate action or event in respect of which the pro forma financial information has been 
compiled, and other relevant engagement circumstances.

Our engagement also involves evaluating the overall presentation of the pro forma financial information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the pro forma financial information has been compiled, in all material respects, on the basis of 
the applicable criteria specified by the JSE Listings Requirements and described in paragraph 9 and  
Annexure 7 of the Circular.

Consent

This report on the pro forma financial information is included solely for the information of the Avior Shareholders. 
We consent to the inclusion of our report on the pro forma financial information, and the references thereto, 
in the form and context in which they appear in the Circular.

Yours faithfully

PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants
Chartered Accountants (S.A.)

Per: Mr. H. Nieuwoudt
Partner
Registered Auditor
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ANNEXURE 11

EXTRACTS FROM THE MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION OF EACH OF AVIOR 
HOLDINGS AND AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS

This Annexure 11 contains extracts of various provisions from the Memorandum of Incorporation of each of 
Avior Holdings and Avior Capital Markets, as required under the JSE Listings Requirements. In each case, the 
numbering and wording below corresponds to the applicable provisions in the Memorandum of Incorporation 
of Avior Holdings or Avior Capital Markets, as the case may be.

For a full appreciation of the provisions of the Memorandum of Incorporation of each of Avior Holdings and 
Avior Capital Markets, Shareholders are referred to the full text of each Memorandum of Incorporation, which 
are available for inspection, as provided for in paragraph 13.10 of the Pre-Listing Statement.

EXTRACTS FROM AVIOR HOLDINGS MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION

“4 Rules

The Board is prohibited from making any rules and the authority of the Board in this regard is hereby 
excluded.

7 Limitation of Liability

No Person shall, solely by reason of being an incorporator of the Company, Shareholder or Director, 
be liable for any liabilities or obligations of the Company.

9 Rights of the Ordinary Shares

Each Ordinary Share ranks pari passu with, and is identical in all respects to, every other Ordinary Share in 
respect of all rights, and entitles its holder to –

9.1 the right to be entered into the Securities Register as the registered holder of an Ordinary Share;

9.2 exercise one vote on any matter to be decided by Shareholders (other than matters which are, in 
terms of this MOI or the Companies Act, to be decided solely by the holders of any other class/es 
of Share(s)); and

9.3 participate equally with every other Ordinary Share in any Distribution (excluding any payment in lieu 
of a capitalisation Share and any consideration payable by the Company for any of its own Shares or 
for any Shares of a another company within the same Group of Companies as contemplated in 
paragraphs (a)(ii) and (a)(iii) of the definition of Distribution in the Companies Act) to Ordinary 
Shareholders, whether during the existence of the Company or upon its dissolution.

10 Variation of Shares

10.1 Notwithstanding section 36(3), the Board shall not have the power to –

10.1.1 increase or decrease the number of authorised Shares of any class of the Shares;

10.1.2 reclassify any classified Shares that have been authorised but not issued;

10.1.3 classify any unclassified Shares that have been authorised but not issued; or

10.1.4 determine the preferences, rights, limitations or other terms of any Shares,

which powers shall only be capable of being exercised by the Shareholders, as contemplated 
in article 10.3.

10.2 Each Share issued by the Company shall entitle its holder to vote on any proposal to amend the 
preferences, rights, limitations or other terms associated with that Share.
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10.3 The Shareholders may, by amendment to this MOI by way of a Special Resolution of the Shareholders 
adopted in accordance with the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, –

10.3.1 increase or decrease the number of authorised Shares of any class;

10.3.2 reclassify any classified Shares that have been authorised but not issued;

10.3.3 classify any unclassified Shares that have been authorised but not issued;

10.3.4 determine or vary the preferences, rights, limitations or other terms of any Shares which 
have been authorised but not yet issued;

10.3.5 create any class of Shares;

10.3.6 convert one class of Shares into one or more other classes of Shares;

10.3.7 convert par value Shares into no par value Shares, subject to compliance with regulation 31;

10.3.8 consolidate any number of Shares of the same class into a lesser number of Shares of the 
same class or subdivide any Share into a number of Shares of the same class;

10.3.9 vary any preferences, rights, limitations or other terms of any class of Shares already in 
issue, but no such variation shall be implemented unless it has been approved –

10.3.9.1 by a Special Resolution of the Shareholders of that class of Shares;

10.3.9.2 if there is any other class/es of Shares in issue, it has also been approved by a 
Special Resolution of the Shareholders adopted by the holders of all Shares 
entitled to vote thereon, which Special Resolution shall only be proposed after the 
Special Resolution referred to in article 10.3.9.1 has been passed; or

10.3.9.3 in such other manner as may be provided for in the rights of that class of Shares.

10.4 The preferences, rights, limitations or any other terms of any class of Shares shall not be varied in 
response to any objectively ascertainable external fact or facts as provided for in sections 37(6) and 
37(7) and the powers of the Board are limited accordingly.

11 Issue of Securities

11.1 The Company may only issue Securities that are freely transferable and within the classes and to 
the extent that those Securities have been authorised by or in terms of this MOI.

11.2 Notwithstanding section 40(5), all Company Securities for which a listing is sought on the JSE must, 
unless otherwise required by any statute, only be issued after the Company has received the 
consideration approved by the Board for the issuance of such Company Securities.

11.3 The Board may only authorise the issue of any Company Securities to any Person/s –

11.3.1 in accordance with the Companies Act and, in particular, with the approval by way of a 
Special Resolution of the Shareholders, if required by section 41;

11.3.2 in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, particularly for any issue for cash of 
Shares, options or convertible Securities;

11.3.3 in accordance with this MOI and, in particular, any rights specifically conferred on any class 
of issued Company Securities;

11.3.4 if such Company Securities, being Shares, have first been offered to all existing holders of 
Shares of that class of Shares (or, if there are no Shares of that class in issue, to the Ordinary 
Shareholders) in the same proportions as their existing holdings of those Shares (or, if there 
are no Shares of that class in issue, of Ordinary Shares) at a subscription price which 
(ignoring any commission referred to in article 13 or any discount not exceeding 10% which 
may be granted instead of such commission) is not higher than the subscription price at 
which they will be issued to that Person/s; provided that the pre-emptive right stipulated in 
this article 11.3.4 shall not apply to any issue of Shares in consideration of the acquisition by 
the Company of any assets, including any Securities in another company. Save as provided 
for in this article 11.3.4 or specifically included as one of the preferences, rights, limitations 
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or other terms upon which any class of Shares is issued, no Shareholder shall have any 
pre-emptive or other similar preferential right to be offered or to subscribe for any additional 
Company Securities issued by the Company; and

11.3.5 subject to the remaining provisions of this article 11.3, with the approval of an Ordinary 
Resolution of the Shareholders. Any such Ordinary Resolution or Special Resolution of the 
Shareholders required by any other provision of this article 11.3 may authorise the Board to 
issue Company Securities at any time and/or grant options to subscribe for Company 
Securities as the Directors in their discretion think fit; provided that such transaction/s 
has/have been approved by the JSE and comply/ies with the JSE Listings Requirements.

13 Commission

The Company shall not pay commission exceeding 10% to any Person as consideration for their subscribing 
or agreeing to subscribe, whether absolutely or conditionally, for any Company Securities.

16 Capitalisation Shares

16.1 The Board shall –

16.1.1 have the power and the authority to approve the issuing of any authorised Shares as 
capitalisation Shares; and

16.1.2 subject to article 16.2, have the power and the authority to resolve to permit the Shareholders 
to elect to receive a cash payment in lieu of a capitalisation Share,

but the Board shall not have the power or authority to issue Shares of one class as 
capitalisation Shares in respect of the Shares of another class unless specifically authorised 
by way of an Ordinary Resolution of the Shareholders authorising the specific transaction 
contemplated. The authority of the Board to issue capitalisation Shares in accordance with 
section 47(1) is, accordingly, limited and restricted by this MOI.

16.2 The Board may not resolve to offer a cash payment in lieu of awarding a capitalisation Share, as 
contemplated in article 16.1.2, unless the Board –

16.2.1 has considered the Solvency and Liquidity Test as required by section 46, on the assumption 
that every such Shareholder would elect to receive cash; and

16.2.2 is satisfied that the Company would satisfy the Solvency and Liquidity Test immediately 
upon the completion of the Distribution.

16.3 If, on any capitalisation issue, Shareholders would, but for this article 16, become entitled to fractions 
of Shares, such fractional entitlements shall be dealt with in accordance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements.

17 Acquisition of Shares issued by the Company

Subject to the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, the Company may acquire any issued 
Shares on the basis that –

17.1 all or a portion of the price payable on such acquisition may be paid out of the funds of or available 
to the Company whether or not such payment results in a reduction of the Share capital, stated 
capital, reserves, any capital redemption reserve fund and/or any other account of the Company;

17.2 the Shares so acquired shall be restored to the status of unissued Shares and the authorised Shares 
shall remain unaltered;

17.3 the Board may determine that the Company acquire a number of its own Shares; and

17.4 the Board of any subsidiary of the Company may determine that such subsidiary acquire Shares of 
the Company, but –

17.4.1 not more than 10% (ten percent), in aggregate, of the number of issued Shares of any class 
may be held by, or for the benefit of, all of the subsidiaries of the Company, taken together; 
and
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17.4.2  no voting rights attached to those Shares may be exercised while the Shares are held by that 
subsidiary and it remains a subsidiary of the Company.

18 Debt Instruments

18.1 The Board may authorise the Company to issue secured or unsecured Debt Instruments as set out 
in section 43(2); provided that the Board shall not be entitled, unless specifically authorised by way 
of a Special Resolution of the Shareholders and in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, 
to issue any Debt Instruments that grant the holder thereof any rights –

18.1.1 regarding attending and voting at Shareholders’ Meetings and/or the appointment of 
Directors; or

18.1.2 to receive anything other than repayment of the capital amount thereof and payment of 
interest thereon, all in cash. Without limiting the foregoing, it is recorded that a Debt 
Instrument may not confer on its holder any right to receive any Shares or other Company 
Securities or Securities of any other Entity or any other property (whether on conversion or 
redemption or repurchase of the Debt Instrument or otherwise) unless specifically authorised 
by way of a Special Resolution of the Shareholders.

18.2 The authority of the Board to authorise the Company to issue secured or unsecured Debt Instruments, 
as set out in section 43(2), is accordingly, limited and restricted by this MOI.

26 Shareholders’ Meetings

26.1 The Company shall not be required to hold any meetings of Shareholders other than those required 
by the Companies Act and/or the JSE Listings Requirements.

26.2 Without limiting the foregoing, the Company shall hold a Shareholders’ Meeting in the circumstances 
contemplated in section 61(2).

26.3 The Board, or any Prescribed Officer of the Company authorised by the Board or any Shareholder 
holding 10% or more of the issued Shares of the Company is entitled to call a Shareholders’ Meeting 
at any time.

26.4 The Board shall determine the location for any Shareholders’ Meeting and the Company may hold 
any such meeting in South Africa or any foreign country and, accordingly, the authority of the Board, 
as contemplated in section 61(9), is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

26.5 The Company shall convene Annual General Meetings of its Shareholders within the time periods 
referred to in section 61(7), at which meetings the business referred to in section 61(8) shall, at a 
minimum, be transacted.

31 Shareholder Resolutions

31.1 At any Shareholders’ Meeting, any Person who is Present at the Meeting, whether as a Shareholder 
or as a proxy for a Shareholder, shall be entitled to exercise the number of Voting Rights associated 
with the Shares held by such Shareholder, which Voting Rights shall be determined in accordance 
with the preferences, rights, limitations and other terms of the Shares, as set out in this MOI.

31.2 Any holder of Company Securities (“Other Security Holder”) other than Ordinary Shares 
(“Other Securities”) shall not be entitled to vote on any resolution at a meeting of Shareholders, 
except –

31.2.1 during any period while any dividend, any part of any dividend on such Other Securities or 
any redemption payment thereon remains in arrears and unpaid, it being recorded that such 
period shall commence on the due date of the dividend or redemption payment in question 
or, where no due date is specified, the expiry of the sixth month after the end of the financial 
year of the Company in respect of which such dividend accrued or such redemption payment 
became due; and/or

31.2.2 in regard to any resolution proposed for the winding up of the Company or the reduction of 
its capital.
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31.3 If the Other Security Holders are entitled to vote at the meeting of Ordinary Shareholders as 
contemplated in article 31.2, then the Other Security Holders shall be entitled to one vote for every 
Other Security held; provided that the total Voting Rights of the Other Security Holders in respect of 
the Other Securities shall not exceed 24.99% of the total votes (including the votes of the Ordinary 
Shareholders) exercisable at that meeting (and numbers of votes of the Other Security Holders shall 
be reduced to the extent necessary to give effect to this proviso, with any cumulative fraction of a 
vote in respect of any Other Securities held by Other Security Holders rounded down to the nearest 
whole number and on the basis that after such reduction the numbers of votes of each Other 
Security Holder shall bear the same proportion to the votes of all Other Security Holders as it did 
before such reduction).

31.4 In order for –

31.4.1 an Ordinary Resolution to be approved, it must be subject to a minimum notice period of 
15 Business Days and must be supported by a Majority of the Voting Rights exercised on the 
resolution, as contemplated in section 65(7); or

31.4.2 a Special Resolution to be approved, it must be supported by 75% of the Voting Rights 
exercised on the resolution, as contemplated in section 65(9),

at a quorate Shareholders’ Meeting which is quorate in relation to that resolution; provided 
that this article 31.4 shall not detract from the Shareholders’ ability to adopt resolutions by 
written vote as referred to in article 32.

31.5 If any Shareholder abstains from voting in respect of any resolution, that Shareholder will, for the 
purposes of determining the number of votes exercised in respect of that resolution, be deemed 
not to have exercised a vote in respect of that resolution.

31.6 Except for those matters which require the approval or authority of a Special Resolution in terms of 
section 65(11), any other section of the Companies Act or any provision of the Regulations or the 
approval or authority of a Special Resolution of the Shareholders in terms of this MOI or the JSE 
Listings Requirements, no other matters which the Company may undertake require the approval or 
authority of a Special Resolution of the Shareholders.

32 Written Resolutions by Shareholders

32.1 A resolution that could be voted on at a Shareholders’ Meeting (other than a resolution in respect of 
business that is required to be conducted at an Annual General Meeting of the Company) may 
instead be adopted by written vote, as contemplated in section 60, if it is –

32.1.1 submitted to all Shareholders entitled to exercise Voting Rights in relation to the resolution; 
and

32.1.2 supported by sufficient Voting Rights which are entitled to be exercised on the resolution, 
for it to have been adopted, in terms of the Companies Act and this MOI, as an Ordinary or 
Special Resolution, as the case may be, at a properly constituted and quorate Shareholders’ 
Meeting.

32.2 Unless the contrary is stated in the resolution, any such resolution shall be deemed to have been 
adopted on the last day of the 20 Business Day period referred to in section 60(1)(b) (or, if applicable, 
any earlier date on which the Company received the written vote of the Shareholder or the proxy of 
the Shareholder whose vote resulted in the resolution by being supported by sufficient votes for its 
adoption irrespective of any votes received thereafter).

32.3 This article 32 shall not apply to any Shareholders’ resolution which is required for the purposes of 
the JSE Listings Requirements and which may not be proposed as a written resolution in terms of 
section 60 or any resolution for the election of a Director.

33 Authority of the Board of Directors

33.1 The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board, 
which shall have the authority to exercise all of the powers and perform all of the functions of the 
Company, except to the extent that the JSE Listings Requirements, the Companies Act or this MOI 
provides otherwise.
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33.2 The Board may delegate to any one or more Persons any of its powers, authority and functions 
(including the power to sub-delegate).

33.3 If the Company Securities are no longer listed on the JSE and the Company has only one Director, 
then –

33.3.1 subject to articles 34.12 and 34.13, that Director may exercise any power and perform any 
function of the Board at any time, without notice or compliance with any other internal 
formalities;

33.3.2 sections 71(3) to (7) and sections 73 and 74 shall not apply to the governance of the 
Company; and

33.3.3 articles 40 (Directors’ Meetings) and 41 (Written Resolutions by Directors) shall not apply.

34 Appointment of Directors

34.1 The Board shall comprise at least four Directors, –

34.1.1 all of whom satisfy the requirements of section 94(4)(b) and (c) and any other requirements 
of the Companies Act for members of an audit committee; and

34.1.2 one of whom satisfies the requirements of regulation 43 and any other requirements of the 
Companies Act for a member of a social and ethics committee.

34.2 All of the Directors and any Alternate Directors shall be elected by an Ordinary Resolution of the 
Shareholders at a Shareholders’ Meeting. Section 68(2) shall apply to the election of Directors; 
provided that a Director may not be elected by a written vote in accordance with article 32.

34.3 There shall be no ex officio Directors, as contemplated in section 66(4)(a)(ii), and no Person shall 
have the right to effect the direct appointment of one or more Directors as contemplated in 
section 66(4)(a)(i).

34.4 The Board may appoint a Person who satisfies the requirements for election as a Director to fill any 
vacancy and serve as a Director on a temporary basis until the earlier of the date of the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company and the date on which the vacancy has been filled by election in 
terms of article 34.2. During that period, any Person so appointed has all of the powers, functions 
and duties, and is subject to all of the liabilities, of any other Director. The authority of the Board in 
this regard is not limited or restricted by this MOI.

34.5 The Directors shall retire from office as follows –

34.5.1 at each Annual General Meeting, all Directors are to retire office and, accordingly, 
life Directorships and Directorships for an indefinite period are not permissible;

34.5.2 a retiring Director may, if eligible, be re-elected and, if re-elected, shall be deemed for all 
purposes other than article 34.5.1, not to have vacated his office;

34.5.3 no Person other than a retiring Director shall be eligible for election as a Director at any 
Annual General Meeting unless –

34.5.3.1 the Directors recommend such other Person for election; or

34.5.3.2 that Person has been nominated in accordance with article 34.7; and

34.5.4 a retiring Director shall continue to act as Director throughout the Annual General Meeting 
at which he retires and his retirement shall become effective only at the end of such meeting.

34.6 The Board may in the notice of the meeting at which the re-election of a retiring Director is proposed, 
provide the Shareholders with a recommendation as to which retiring Directors should be re-elected, 
taking into account that Director’s past performance and contribution.

34.7 Any Shareholder shall be entitled to nominate any Person for election as a Director at any 
Shareholders’ Meeting; provided that such nomination, together with the consent of that Individual 
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to be elected as a Director, shall be received by the Company no later than 20 Business Days prior 
to the date of such Shareholders’ Meeting.

34.8 The Company may not permit a Person to serve as Director if that Person is ineligible or disqualified 
in terms of the Companies Act.

34.9 In addition to the grounds of ineligibility and disqualification of Directors as contained in section 69, 
a Director shall cease to be eligible to continue to act as a Director if –

34.9.1 he absents himself from all meetings of the Board occurring within a period of six consecutive 
months without the leave of the Board, and the Board resolves that his office shall be 
vacated; provided that this article 34.9 shall not apply to a Director who is represented by an 
Alternate Director who does not so absent himself; and

34.9.2 a majority of his co-Directors sign a written notice in which he is requested to vacate his 
office and lodge it at the Company’s principal place of business, (which shall come into 
effect upon the lodging thereof at such principal place of business), but without prejudice to 
any claim for damages.

34.10 This MOI does not impose any minimum Shareholding or other qualifications to be met by the 
Directors in addition to the ineligibility and disqualification provisions of the Companies Act and 
article 34.9.

34.11 Section 70 shall apply to any vacancy on the Board which may arise from time to time.

34.12 If the number of Directors falls below the minimum number specified in article 34.1, the remaining 
Directors shall, as soon as possible, but in any event within three months after the date on which 
the number of Directors fell below such minimum (“Vacancy Period”), fill the vacancy/ies by –

34.12.1 making an appointment/s in accordance with article 34.4; or

34.12.2 conducting an election in accordance with article 34.2;

provided that, if there is no Director able and willing to act, then any Shareholder may 
convene a Shareholders’ Meeting for the purposes of conducting such an election.

34.13 The failure by the Company to have the minimum number of Directors specified in article 34.1 
during the Vacancy Period does not limit or negate the authority of the Board or invalidate anything 
done by the Board or the Company. If, and for so long as, the number of Directors remains below 
the minimum number after the expiry of the Vacancy Period, the Director/s in office may act only for 
the purpose of filling vacancies in their body in terms of articles 34.2 or 34.4 or of convening a 
Shareholders’ Meeting.

34.14 Save to the extent otherwise agreed in writing by the Company and any Person who is employed 
as an employee of the Company, each Person appointed as a Director or Alternate Director shall, 
prior to his appointment becoming effective, execute a written acknowledgement in which he –

34.14.1 acknowledges and agrees that –

34.14.1.1 he shall not be an employee of the Company; and

34.14.1.2 he shall not have any claims against the Company for remuneration or compensation 
for services rendered to the Company or for reimbursement of expenses incurred 
in the business of the Board other than such remuneration or reimbursement, if 
any, as may be approved in the manner contemplated in article 43; and

34.14.2 furnishes the Company with a postal address, facsimile number and e mail address at which 
notice of meetings shall be given to him.

36 Board Committees

36.1 The Board shall appoint such committees, with such powers and duties, as may be required by the 
Companies Act, and may in addition –



144

36.1.1 appoint any number of committees of Directors;

36.1.2 delegate to any committee any of the authority of the Board (including the authority to 
sub-delegate); and

36.1.3 include any Person who is not a Director of the Company in any such committee, 

and, accordingly, the authority of the Board in this regard is not limited or restricted by this 
MOI.

36.2 The authority and power of any committees established by the Board is not limited or restricted by 
this MOI, but may, subject to the requirements of the Companies Act in respect of committees 
required to be established by the Companies Act, be restricted by the Board when establishing any 
committee or by subsequent resolution.

37 Audit Committee

An audit committee shall be elected at each Annual General Meeting of the Company and section 94 shall 
apply in relation to such committee.

41 Written Resolutions by Directors

41.1 A decision that could be voted on at a meeting of the Board may instead be adopted by a written 
resolution that has been submitted to all of the Directors and signed by at least a Majority of 
Directors (or their Alternate Directors).

41.2 Any such resolution shall be as valid and effective as if it had been adopted by a duly convened and 
constituted meeting of Directors and shall be inserted in the Company’s minute book for meetings 
and resolutions of Directors.

41.3 Unless the contrary is stated in the resolution, any such resolution shall be deemed to have been 
passed on the date on which it was signed by or on behalf of the Director (or Alternate Director) 
whose vote resulted in that resolution being supported by sufficient votes for that resolution to be 
adopted in accordance with article 41.1, irrespective of any votes received thereafter.

41.4 The resolution may consist of one or more counterpart documents, each signed by one or more 
Directors (or their Alternates).

41.5 An Alternate Director shall only be entitled to sign such a written resolution if permitted to do so in 
terms of article 35.2.1.2.

44 Borrowing Powers

The –

44.1 borrowing powers of the Company; and

44.2 powers of the Company to mortgage or encumber its undertaking and property or any part thereof 
and to issue debentures or debenture stock (whether secured or unsecured), whether outright or as 
security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any third party,

shall be unlimited and shall be exercised by the Directors.

47 Financial Assistance

47.1 Financial assistance for subscription for or purchase of Securities.

The Board may, as contemplated in section 44 and subject to the requirements of that section, 
authorise the Company to provide financial assistance by way of a loan, guarantee, the provision of 
security or otherwise, to any Person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription for 
any option, or any Securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a Related or Inter-related 
company, or for the purchase of any such Securities. The authority of the Board in this regard is, 
accordingly, not limited or restricted by this MOI.
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47.2 Financial assistance to Directors, Prescribed Officers and Related and Inter-Related Companies.

The Board may, as contemplated in section 45 and subject to the requirements of that section, 
authorise the Company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance to a Director or prescribed 
officer of the Company, or of a Related or Inter-related company, or to a Related or Inter-Related 
company or corporation, or to a Member of a Related or Inter-Related corporation, or to a Person 
Related to any such company, corporation, Director, prescribed officer or Member. The authority of 
the Board in this regard is, accordingly, not limited or restricted by this MOI.

48 Distributions and Other Payments

48.1 Subject to the Companies Act and this MOI, the Board may declare any Distribution.

48.2 All Distributions shall comply with the JSE Listings Requirements.

48.3 The Company may transmit any Distribution or other money payable in respect of a Company 
Security –

48.3.1 by electronic bank transfer to such bank account as the holder of such Company Security 
may have notified to the Company in writing for this purpose; or

48.3.2 if the Security Holder referred to in article 48.3.1 has not notified the Company of a bank 
account in terms of article 48.3.1, by ordinary post to the postal address of such Security 
Holder (or, where two or more Persons are registered as the joint holders of a Company 
Security, to the address of the joint holder whose name stands first in the Securities 
Register) recorded in the Securities Register or such other address as such Security Holder 
may previously have notified to the Company in writing for this purpose,

and the Company shall not be responsible for any loss in transmission.

48.4 Any Distribution or other money payable in respect of a Company Security –

48.4.1 which is unclaimed may be retained by the Company and held in trust indefinitely until 
claimed by the holder thereof or until such Security Holder’s claim therefor prescribes in 
terms of article 48.4.2;

48.4.2 may only be claimed for such period as may be applicable to such Security Holder’s claim 
therefor in terms of the laws of prescription from the date on which it accrued to such 
Security Holder, after which period such Security Holder’s claim therefor shall prescribe and 
that Distribution or other money shall, unless the Board decides otherwise, be forfeited for 
the benefit of the Company; and

48.4.3 shall not bear interest against the Company,

and the Board shall, for the purpose of facilitating the winding up or deregistration of the 
Company before the date of any such prescription, be entitled to delegate to any bank, 
registered as such in accordance with the laws of South Africa, the liability for payment of 
any such Distribution or other money, the claim for which has not been prescribed in terms 
of the foregoing.”

EXTRACTS FROM AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION

Variation of Rights

“9 If at any time the Share capital is divided into different classes of Shares, the rights attached to any class 
(unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue of the Shares of that class) may be varied with the 
consent in writing of the holders of three-fourths of the issued Shares of that class or with the sanction 
of a resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of the Shares of the class, and the 
provisions of section 199 of the Act shall mutatis mutandis apply to the said resolution and meeting as if 
the resolution were a special resolution. To every such general meeting the provisions of these articles 
relating to general meeting shall mutatis mutandis apply but so that the necessary quorum, unless the 
company has only one member, shall be two persons holding or representing by proxy at least one-third 
of all the issued Shares of the class.
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Alteration of Capital, Acquisition by Company of Own Shares

29(a) The company may from time to time by special resolution increase the Share capital by such sum divided 
into Shares of such amount, or may increase the number of its Shares of no par value to such number, 
as the resolution shall prescribe.

(b) The company may increase its Share capital constituted by Shares of no par value by transferring reserves 
or profits to the stated capital, with or without a distribution of Shares.

(c) New Shares shall be subject to the same provisions as to transfer, transmission and otherwise as the 
Shares in the original capital.

(d) The company may acquire Shares issued by itself in terms of section 85 of the Act, or to make payments 
to its Shareholders in terms of section 90 of the Act.

30 The company may, by special resolution:

(a) consolidate and divide all or any of its Share capital into Shares of larger amount than its existing Shares 
or consolidate and reduce the number of the issued Shares of no par value;

(b) increase the number of its issued no par value Shares without an increase of its stated capital;

(c) sub-divide its existing Shares or any of them into Shares of smaller amount that is fixed by its 
memoRandum;

(d) convert all of its ordinary or preference Share capital consisting of Shares having a par value into stated 
capital constituted by Shares of no par value;

(e) convert its stated capital constituted either by ordinary or preference Shares of no par value into Share 
capital consisting of Shares having a par value;

(f) cancel any Shares which, at the date of passing of the resolution, have not been taken by any person, or 
which no person has agreed to take;

(g) reduce its Share capital, stated capital, any capital redemption fund or any Share premium account in any 
manner and with, and subject to, any incident authorised, and consent required by law.

(h) subject to the provisions of section 99 of the Act, convert its issued preference Shares into Shares which 
can be redeemed;

(i) the company is expressly authorised to convert all or any part of a particular class of Shares, whether 
issued or not into Shares of another class in terms of section 75(1)(i).

General Meetings

31 The company shall hold its first annual general meeting within eighteen months after the date of its 
incorporation and shall thereafter in each year hold an annual general meeting: Provided that not more 
than 15 months shall elapse between the date of one annual general meeting and that of the next and 
that an annual general meeting shall be held within nine months after the expiration of the financial year 
of the company.

32 Other general meetings of the company may be held at any time.

33 Annual general meetings and other general meetings shall be held at such time and place as the Directors 
shall appoint or at such time and place as is determined if the meetings are convened under section 
179(4), 181, 182 or 183 of the Act.

Votes of Members

47 Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any other class of classes of Shares, 
on a show of hands every member present in person or by a proxy and if a member is a body corporate, 
its representative shall have one vote, and on a poll every member present in person or by proxy shall 
be entitled to exercise the voting rights determined by section 195 of the Act.

48 In the case of joint holders the vote of a person whose name appears first in the register of members 
and who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes 
of the other joint holders.

49 The parent of guardian of a minor, and the curator bonis of a lunatic member, and also any person 
entitled under the transmission clause to transfer any Shares, may vote at any general meeting in respect 
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of thereof in the same manner as if he were the registered holder of those Shares: Provided that at least 
48 hours before the time of holding the meeting at which he proposes to vote he shall satisfy the 
Directors that he is such parent, guardian or curator or that he is entitled under the transmission clause 
to transfer those Shares, or that the Directors have previously admitted his right to vote in respect of 
those Shares. Co-executors of a deceased member in whose name Shares stand in the register shall, 
for the purposes of this article, be deemed to be joint holders of those Shares.

Directors

54 The number of Directors shall not be less than one and the names of the first Directors may be determined 
in writing by a majority of the subscribers of the memoRandum. Until Directors are appointed, whether 
or not the Directors have been named by a majority of subscribers of the memoRandum every subscriber 
of the memoRandum shall be deemed for all purposes to be a Director of the company.

55 The remuneration of the Directors shall from time to time be determined by the company in general 
meeting.

56 If any Director be called upon to perform extra services or to make special exertions in going or residing 
abroad, or otherwise, for any purposes of the company, the company may remunerate that Director 
either by a fixed sum or by a percentage of profits or otherwise as may be determined, and such 
remuneration may be either in addition to, or in substitution for, the remuneration determined under 
article 55.

57 A Director shall not be required to hold a Share of the company.

Powers and Duties of Directors

60 The business of the company shall be managed by the Directors who may pay all expenses incurred in 
promoting and incorporating the company, and may exercise all such powers of the company as are not 
by the Act, or by these articles, required to be exercised by the company in general meeting, subject to 
these articles, to the provisions of the Act, and to such regulations, not inconsistent with the aforesaid 
articles or provisions, as may be prescribed by the company in general meeting, but no regulation 
prescribed by the company in general meeting shall invalidate any prior act of the Directors which would 
have been valid if such regulation had not been made.

Borrowing Powers

61 The Directors may exercise all the powers of the company to borrow money and to mortgage or bind its 
undertaking and property or any part thereof, and to issue debentures, debenture stock and other 
securities whether outright or as security for any debt, liability or obligation of the company or of any 
third party.

Disqualification of Directors

66 The office of Director shall be vacated if the Director:

(a) ceases to be a Director or becomes prohibited from being a Director by virtue of any provision of the Act; 
or

(b) without consent of the company in general meeting holds any other office of profit under the company 
except that of managing Director or manager; or

(c) resigns his office by notice in writing to the company and the Registrar; or

(d) for more than six months is absent without permission of the Directors from meetings of Directors held 
during that period; or

(e) is directly and indirectly interested in any contract or proposed contract with the company and fails to 
declare his interest and the nature thereof in the manner required by the Act.

Dividends and Reserve

83 The company in annual general meeting may declare dividends but no dividend shall exceed the amount 
recommended by the Directors.

84 The Directors may from time to time pay to the members such interim dividends as appears to the 
Directors to be justified by the profit of the company.
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85 No dividend shall be paid otherwise than out of profits or bear interest against the company.

86 The Directors may, before recommending any dividend, set aside out of the profits of the company such 
sums as they think fit as a reserve or reserves, which shall, at the discretion of the Directors, be applicable 
for any purpose to which the profits of the company may be properly applied and, pending such application 
may, at the like discretion, either be employed in the business of the company or be invested in such 
investments (other than Shares in the company) as the Directors may from time to time think fit. The 
Directors may also without placing the same to reserve carry forward any profits which they may think 
prudent not to divide.

87 Notice of any dividend that may have been declared shall be given in the manner hereinafter provided to 
the persons entitled to Share therein.

88 Every dividend or other moneys payable in cash in respect of Shares may be paid by cheque, warrant, 
coupon or otherwise as the Directors may from time to time determine, and shall, if paid otherwise than 
by coupon, either be sent by post to the registered address of the  members who were entitled thereto 
or be given to him personally, and the receipt or endorsement on the cheque or warrant of the person 
whose name appears in the register as the Shareholder, or his duly authorised agent, or the surrender 
of any coupon shall be a good discharge to the company in respect thereof. Any one of two or more joint 
holders may give effectual receipts for any dividends or other moneys payable in respect of the Shares 
held by them as joint holders.

89 The company shall not be responsible for the loss in transmission of any cheque, warrant, coupon, or 
other document sent through the post to the registered address of any member, whether or not it was 
sent at his request.

Winding-Up

105 If the company be wound up, the assets remaining after payment of the debts and liabilities of the 
company and the costs of the liquidation shall be applied as follows:

(a) to repay to the members the amount paid up on the Shares respectively held by each of them; and

(b) the balance (if any) shall be distributed amongst the members in proportion to the number of Shares 
respectively held by each of them;

provided that the provisions of this article shall be subject to the rights of the holders of Shares (if any) 
issued upon special conditions.

106 In a winding-up, any part of the assets of the company, including any Shares or securities of other 
companies may, with the sanction of a special resolution of the company, be paid to the members of the 
company in specie, or may, with the same sanction, be vested in trustees for the benefit of such 
members, and the liquidation of the company may be closed and the company dissolved.”
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ANNEXURE 12

KING CODE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors of Avior Holdings endorse King III and recognise their responsibility to conduct the affairs of 
Avior Holdings with integrity and accountability in accordance with generally accepted corporate practices. 
This includes timely, relevant and meaningful reporting to its Shareholders and other stakeholders, providing 
a proper and objective perspective of the Group.

It should be noted that Avior Holdings was a private company prior to the Listing and has therefore not been 
obliged to comply with King III. However, in anticipation of the Listing, certain aspects of corporate governance 
have been introduced and King III will be applied going forward in accordance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements for companies listed on the AltX. The Directors have, accordingly, established procedures and 
policies appropriate to the Group’s business in keeping with its commitment to best practices in corporate 
governance. These procedures and policies will be reviewed by the Directors from time to time.

The Directors of Avior Holdings will adopt the principles of the King Code, being fairness, accountability, 
responsibility and transparency.

The formal steps taken by the Directors to ensure that the Group adheres to good corporate governance 
practises as recommended by King III are as follows:

1.1 Directors

The Board and Company Secretary

The Board of Directors shall meet regularly and disclose the number of Board meetings held each 
year in its annual report, together with the attendance at such Board meetings. A formal record shall 
be kept of all conclusions reached by the Board on matters referred to it for its consideration. Should 
the Board require independent professional advice, procedures have been put in place by the Board 
for such advice to be sought at the Group’s expense.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of Ateeqah Khan, which fulfils the role of the 
in-house Company Secretary. The Board is satisfied that Ateeqah Khan has the requisite attributes, 
experience and qualifications to fulfil its commitments as Company Secretary effectively. This 
assessment is based on the experience and qualifications of the Company Secretary, as well as the 
fact that she has extensive experience with other listed companies. The appointment or dismissal 
of the Company Secretary shall be decided by the Board as a whole and not one individual Director. 
The assessment of the Company Secretary shall be done by the Board on an ongoing basis and 
the Board shall report back to the Shareholders on the outcome of the assessment every year 
in the Group’s integrated annual report. In addition, the Board has satisfied itself that there is an 
arm’s-length relationship with the Company Secretary, due to the fact that the secretary is not a 
Director of the Group.

Directors are expected to maintain their independence when deciding on matters relating to 
strategy, performance, resources and standards of conduct. On first appointment, all Directors 
will be expected to undergo appropriate training as to the Group’s business, strategic plans and 
objectives, and other relevant laws and regulations. This will be performed on an ongoing basis 
to ensure that Directors remain abreast of changes and/or amendments in regulations and the 
commercial environment.

The Board is responsible for relations with stakeholders, as well as being accountable to them for 
the performance of the Group, and reporting thereon in a timely and transparent manner.

In accordance with JSE Listings Requirements for AltX-listed companies, the Directors are required 
to attend the Directors Induction Programme, hosted by the Institute of Directors. The three 
Executive Directors of Avior Holdings have attended the course in October 2015. Arrangements 
will be made for the remaining Directors to attend this course as soon as possible.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The offices of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer shall be fulfilled by two different individuals, 
in order to ensure a balance of power and authority at Board level so that no one person has 
unfettered decision-making powers. The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are therefore 
separated, with the Chairman being a Non-Executive Director. Marilyn Ramplin is the Independent 
Non-Executive Chairman of Avior Holdings while Peter Koutromanos is the Chief Executive Officer.

Board balance

The Board shall include both Executive and Non-Executive Directors in order to maintain a balance 
of power and ensure independent unbiased decisions and that no one individual has unfettered 
powers of decision-making. The Board of Directors of Avior Holdings consists of six members, 
three of whom are independent Non-Executive Directors.

Supply of information

The Board will meet on a regular basis where possible, but at a minimum, every three months. 
The Directors will be briefed properly in respect of special business prior to Board meetings and 
information will be provided timeously to enable them to give full consideration to all the issues 
being dealt with.

Furthermore, management shall supply the Board with the relevant information needed to fulfil its 
duties. Directors shall make further enquiries where necessary, and thus shall have unrestricted 
access to all Group information, records, documents and property. Not only will the Board look at 
the quantitative performance of the Group, but also at issues such as customer satisfaction, market 
Share, environmental performance and other relevant issues. The Chairman must ensure that all 
Directors are briefed adequately prior to Board meetings.

Delegation of duties

Directors have the authority to delegate certain of their duties, either externally or internally, in order 
that they perform their duties fully. The Chief Executive Officer shall review these delegations and 
report on this to the Board.

Appointments to the Board

Any member of the Board can nominate a new appointment to the Board, which will be considered 
at a Board meeting. The nominated Director’s expertise and experience will be considered by 
the Board as a whole in a formal and transparent manner, as well as any needs of the Board in 
considering such appointment. In accordance with the requirements for AltX listed companies, a 
nomination committee is not required and the size of the Group does not warrant the establishment 
of a nomination committee. A general meeting of the Directors shall have the power from time 
to time to appoint anyone as a Director, either to fill a vacancy, or as an additional Director. The 
Group’s MOI does not provide for a maximum number of Directors. Any interim appointments will 
be subject to approval at the Group’s next General or Annual General Meeting.

The Board recognises and values the unique contribution people can make because of their individual 
background, different skills, experience, perspectives, demographics and gender. To this end, the 
Board currently comprises of one female Director, M Ramplin, the Independent Chairman. All new 
appointments to the Board will be conducted to ensure promotion of gender diversity in accordance 
with its Employment Equity Plan, which embodies the principle of gender and race equality, and 
which details the employment equity goals, objectives and action plans to achieve them.

1.2 Directors’ Remuneration

Remuneration policy

Avior Holdings does not currently have a remuneration committee as this is not an AltX requirement.

The remuneration policy in place is to remunerate Executive Directors primarily on an incentive 
basis through profit Share. Where monthly remuneration is paid, this is market-related.

Avior Holdings strives to be the industry leader in its field of providing capital market services. 
This requires a remuneration strategy that is attractive, within reason, to attract individuals with the 
required skills to contribute to the Group’s success.
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This policy will define general guidelines for the Group’s incentive pay to the Directors and Executive 
management.

In accordance with King III, Shareholders will be requested annually to endorse the Group’s 
remuneration policy by way of a non-binding advisory vote.

Executive and Non-Executive Directors remuneration currently comprise of the following elements:

Basic salary (is subject to annual reviews by the Board and dependant on Group performance)

Additional fees (will be payable for attendance of Board meetings and additional time spend on the 
behalf of the Group)

Benefits

Bonuses (will be a discretionary payment and paid twice a year)

Other benefits (will be granted at the discretion of the Board)

Employment agreements and compensation

Avior Holdings has entered into standard employment agreements with all of its Executive Directors, 
which agreements contain terms and conditions which are standard for agreements of that nature. 
In accordance with King III, service letters have been concluded with all Non-Executive Directors. 
All Executive and Non-Executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by 
Shareholders annually in accordance with the MOI.

1.3 Accountability and Audit

Incorporation

Avior Holdings is duly incorporated in South Africa and operates in conformity with its MOI and all 
applicable laws of South Africa.

Financial reporting

The Board is responsible for the Group’s systems of internal financial and operational control, as well 
as for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the Group’s auditors. The Board is responsible 
for presenting a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s financial position with 
respect to all financial and price sensitive reports on the Group.

Internal control

The Directors shall conduct an annual review of the internal controls, and report their findings to 
Shareholders. This review will cover financial, operational and compliance controls, as well as a 
review of the risk management policies and procedures. An internal audit function is in place to 
oversee the effective functioning of the internal controls.

Audit and risk committee

A combined Audit and Risk Committee has been established, whose primary objective is to provide 
the Board with additional assurance regarding the efficacy and reliability of the financial information 
used by the Directors, to assist them in discharging their duties. The committee is required to 
provide comfort to the Board that adequate and appropriate financial and operating controls are 
in place, that significant business, financial and other risks have been identified and are being 
suitably managed, that the financial Director has the appropriate expertise and experience and that 
satisfactory standards of governance, reporting and compliance are in operation. The committee 
will set the principles for recommending the use of the external auditors for non-audit services.

The following independent Non-Executive Directors have been appointed to the combined Avior 
Holdings Audit and Risk Committee: Mark Collier (Chairman), Marilyn Ramplin and Elias Masilela.

The Audit and Risk Committee will meet, at a minimum, three times per annum to consider interim 
results, year-end results and the annual report.

External auditors

The auditors of the Group up until the 2015 financial year were Grant Thornton and they have 
performed an independent and objective audit of the Group’s financial statements. The statements 
are prepared in terms of the IFRS. Interim reports are not audited. PKF has been appointed as the 
auditors of the Group for the 2016 financial year.
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1.4 Code of Ethics

Avior Holdings subscribes to the highest ethical standards and behaviour in the conduct of its 
business and related activities. A Social and Ethics Committee is not mandatory at this point in time 
as the Group’s public interest score is below the prescribed minimum level. This committee will be 
established in due course.

1.5 Relations with Shareholders

Avior Holdings intends to meet with its Shareholders and investment analysts, and to provide 
presentations on the Group and its performance.

The Board shall ensure that Shareholders are supplied with all the necessary information in order 
that they may make considered use of their votes, and assess the corporate governance of the 
Group.

1.6 Dealing in Securities by Directors

The Board has established procedures regarding the legislation which regulates insider trading, 
whereby there is a closed period from the date of the financial year end to the earliest publication 
of the preliminary report, the abridged report or the provisional report in the case of results for a full 
period and from the date of the interim period end to the date of the publication of the interim results, 
which periods are known as closed periods. In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, no 
Director or the Company Secretary or their associates shall deal in the securities of Avior Holdings 
during a closed or prohibited period as well as whilst the Group is trading under a cautionary. All 
Directors and the Company Secretary shall obtain clearance to deal from the Chairman of the Group 
prior to dealing, and the Company Secretary shall keep a register of such clearances in terms of the 
JSE Listings Requirements.

The Company Secretary or such person as may be nominated by him from time to time shall keep 
a record of all dealings by Directors in the securities of the Group.

1.7 Company Secretary

The Company has appointed Ateeqah Khan to act as the Company Secretary. The Board of 
Directors has considered and satisfied itself on the competence, qualifications and experience of 
the Company Secretary. In considering this assessment, the Directors considered the experience 
and qualifications of the Company Secretary. The Directors will assess the ongoing competency of 
the Company Secretary on an annual basis and in compliance with section 3.84(i) of the JSE Listing 
Requirements, and will report thereon in the annual report.

1.8 Financial Director

The financial Director, N Tilly CA(SA), CFA, is appointed as a full-time Executive Director. The Audit 
and Risk Committee has confirmed his experience and expertise at its meeting and has issued a 
confirmation thereof to the JSE.

1.9 King III Checklist

Principles contained in King III not complied with and the reasons for non-compliance

The Board endorses the principles contained in the King Report on Corporate Governance and 
confirms its commitment to those principles where, in the view of the Board, they apply to the 
Group. Compliance is monitored regularly and the Board will undertake an internal review process 
to determine compliance. In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements AltX companies are only 
required to comply with Chapter 2, Board and Directors (Role and Function of the Board) of King III. 
Where areas of non-compliance or partial compliance have been identified these have been listed 
below, together with the reasons therefore, as is required by the King Code. It should be noted 
that compliance with the King III was not a requirement of a private company and thus many of the 
principles are only now being introduced.
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King Code 
Ref King Code Principle

Comply/
Partially 
Comply/
Do Not 
Comply Commentary

CHAPTER 2 – BOARDS AND DIRECTORS

Principle 2.1 The Board should act as 
the focal point for and 
custodian of corporate 
governance

Comply The Board will ensure that the Group 
applies the governance principles 
contained in the King Code and 
continues to further entrench and 
strengthen recommended practices 
through the Group’s governance 
structures, systems, processes and 
procedures.

Principle 2.2 The Board should 
appreciate that strategy, 
risk, performance and 
sustainability are 
inseparable

Comply The Board, as a whole and through 
its committees, will approve and 
monitor the implementation of the 
strategy and business plan of the 
Group, will set objectives, review 
key risks and will evaluate 
performance against the background 
of economic, environmental and 
social issues relevant to the Group 
and global economic conditions.

Principle 2.3 The Board should provide 
effective leadership based 
on an ethical foundation

Comply In accordance with the Board Charter 
the Board is the guardian of the 
values and ethics of the Group.

Principle 2.4 The Board should ensure 
that the company is and is 
seen to be a responsible 
corporate citizen

Comply The Board will report to Shareholders 
and will reflect Avior Holdings’ 
commitment to responsible 
corporate citizenship.

Principle 2.5 The Board should ensure 
that the company’s ethics 
are managed effectively

Comply The Board is responsible for ensuring 
that the Group acts ethically in all 
regards.

Principle 2.6 The Board should ensure 
that the company has an 
effective and independent 
audit committee

Comply An Audit and Risk Committee 
comprising of three independent 
Non-Executive Directors has been 
established.

Principle 2.7 The Board should be 
responsible for the 
governance of risk

Comply The Board is responsible for the 
governance of risk and the Audit and 
Risk Committee will assist the Board 
with this responsibility.

Principle 2.8 The Board should be 
responsible for information 
technology (IT) governance

Comply The Board together with the 
Executive Committee is responsible 
for IT governance.

Principle 2.9 The Board should ensure 
that the company 
complies with applicable 
laws and considers 
adherence to non-binding 
rules, codes and standards

Comply The Board, Audit and Risk committee 
and Company Secretary will review 
the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Group’s procedures on an 
ongoing basis to ensure compliance 
with legal and regulatory 
responsibilities.
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King Code 
Ref King Code Principle

Comply/
Partially 
Comply/
Do Not 
Comply Commentary

Principle 2.10 The Board should ensure 
that there is an effective 
risk-based internal audit

Comply An effective internal audit function 
has been established.

Principle 2.11 The Board should 
appreciate that 
stakeholders’ perceptions 
affect the company’s 
reputation

Comply Avior Holdings engages with the 
relevant stakeholders and this allows 
the Group to manage issues 
effectively and timeously and 
reduces the likelihood of reputational 
risks.

Principle 2.12 The Board should ensure 
the integrity of the 
company’s integrated 
report

Do not 
comply

The Board will be responsible for the 
integrity of the integrated report. 
This was not previously a requirement 
as a private company, but will be 
introduced from the 2016 financial 
year.

Principle 2.13 The Board should report 
on the effectiveness of the 
company’s system of 
internal controls

Comply The internal audit function reports to 
the Executive Committee and the 
Board on the effectiveness of the 
internal controls.

Principle 2.14 The Board and its 
Directors should act in the 
best interests of the 
company

Comply Directors are mindful of their 
fiduciary duties and their duty to act 
in accordance with applicable 
legislation. Records of Directors 
financial interests are kept and 
updated on an ongoing basis.

The Board as a whole acts as a 
steward of the Group and each 
Director acts with independence of 
mind in the best interests of the 
Group and its stakeholders. In its 
deliberations, decisions and actions, 
the Board is sensitive to the 
legitimate interests and expectations 
of stakeholders.

Principle 2.15 The Board should consider 
business rescue 
proceedings or other 
turnaround mechanisms 
as soon as the company is 
financially distressed as 
defined in the Companies 
Act

Comply The Board is aware of the 
requirements of the Companies Act 
regarding business rescue. The 
Company will establish a risk 
management process that will 
evaluate controllable and non-
controllable risks continuously, as 
well as threats and opportunities to 
ensure that the Company is operating 
optimally and is not in distress. 
Management will assess the 
solvency and liquidity of Avior 
Holdings on a regular basis.
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King Code 
Ref King Code Principle

Comply/
Partially 
Comply/
Do Not 
Comply Commentary

Principle 2.16 The Board should elect a 
Chairman of the Board 
who is an independent 
Non-Executive Director. 
The CEO of the company 
should not also fulfil the 
role of Chairman of the 
Board

Comply The Chairman of Avior Holdings is an 
independent Non-Executive Director.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer are separate and 
clearly defined.

Principle 2.17 The Board should appoint 
the Chief Executive Officer 
and establish a framework 
for the delegation of 
authority

Partially 
comply

While retaining overall accountability 
and subject to matters reserved to 
itself, the Board has delegated 
authority to the Chief Executive 
Officer and other Executive Directors 
to run the day-to-day affairs of the 
Group.

An approval framework is yet to be 
agreed upon. P Koutromanos is 
appointed as CEO. A delegation of 
authority document will be prepared 
by the Executive Committee and will 
be reviewed and approved by the 
Audit and Risk Committee and the 
Board during the 2017 financial year.

Principle 2.18 The Board should 
comprise a balance of 
power, with a majority of 
Non-Executive Directors. 
The majority of Non-
Executive Directors should 
be independent

Comply The Board has a majority of 
Non-Executive Directors, all of 
whom are independent. There are 
three Executive Directors.

Principle 2.19 Directors should be 
appointed through a 
formal process

Comply To ensure a transparent process, any 
new appointment of a Director is 
considered by the Board as a whole. 
The selection process involves 
considering the existing balance of 
skills and experience on the Board 
and a continual process of assessing 
the needs of the Group. Directors 
are appointed in terms of the MOI 
and these interim appointments are 
confirmed at the next annual general 
meeting.

Principle 
2.20

The induction of and 
ongoing training and 
development of Directors 
should be conducted 
through formal processes

Comply New appointees to the Board are 
familiarised with the Group 
appropriately through an induction 
programme and ongoing training will 
be provided when needed.
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King Code 
Ref King Code Principle

Comply/
Partially 
Comply/
Do Not 
Comply Commentary

Principle 
2.21

The Board should be 
assisted by a competent, 
suitably qualified and 
experienced company 
secretary

Comply The Company Secretary is appointed 
by the Board in accordance with the 
Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements and is evaluated 
annually. The Board is satisfied that 
the Company Secretary is 
independent and is properly qualified 
and experienced to competently 
carry out the duties and 
responsibilities of Company 
Secretary.

Principle 
2.22

The evaluation of the 
Board, its committees and 
the individual Directors 
should be performed 
every year

Comply The performance of the Board as a 
whole and the Board Committees 
individually is evaluated on an annual 
basis.

Principle 
2.23

The Board should delegate 
certain functions to 
well-structured 
committees but without 
abdicating its own 
responsibilities

Comply The Board has delegated certain 
functions without abdicating its own 
responsibilities to the Audit and Risk 
committee.

Principle 
2.24

A governance framework 
should be agreed between 
the Group and its 
subsidiary Boards

Comply The governance framework between 
Avior Holdings and each of its 
subsidiaries is set out in Shareholders 
agreements, where applicable, and 
related agreements. The governance 
of wholly-owned subsidiaries is 
handled by Board and Board 
Committee resolutions.

Principle 
2.25

Companies should 
remunerate Directors and 
Executives fairly and 
responsibly

Comply The Executive Committee will 
oversee the remuneration of the 
Executive Directors and Senior 
Executives and will make the 
determination taking into account 
market conditions, expert advice 
from remuneration specialists and in 
accordance with the remuneration 
policy. Non-Executive Directors fees 
will be submitted annually to 
Shareholders for approval at the 
Annual General Meeting.

Principle 
2.26

Companies should 
disclose the remuneration 
of each individual Director 
and certain senior 
Executives

Comply The remuneration of Directors and 
Prescribed Officers will be included 
in the Directors report of the 
Integrated Annual Report.
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King Code 
Ref King Code Principle

Comply/
Partially 
Comply/
Do Not 
Comply Commentary

Principle 
2.27

Shareholders should 
approve the company’s 
remuneration policy

Comply The Group’s remuneration policy, 
approved by the Board, will be tabled 
for a non-binding advisory vote at 
each annual general meeting of 
Shareholders.
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ANNEXURE 13

DIRECTOR AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Directors

Executive Directors:

Panayoti “Peter” Koutromanos (48)
Chief Executive officer
MBA, CFA, B.Comm (Econ Science) (Hons), JSE Member, JSE Registered Securities Trader, a member of 
South African Institute of Stockbrokers and South African Investment Analysts’ Society.

Summary of professional experience:

•	 1995 – 1996: Coronation Asset Management
Peter worked as an Investment Analyst responsible for the mining sector, obtained experience and 
knowledge as to what the requirements of institutional investors are for research services.

•	 1998 – 2001: Investec Securities South Africa
He worked at Investec in Equity Sales, during which time he worked within a top rated stockbroker. 
The company provided research and trading capabilities to local and international institutional asset 
managers.

•	 2001 – 2005: Merrill Lynch South Africa
He worked at Merrill Lynch in Equity Sales and as a Research Analyst. During his employment at Merrill 
Lynch he worked within a top rated stockbroker. The company provided research and trading capabilities 
to local and international institutional asset managers.

•	 2005 – present: Avior Capital Markets
He co-founded Avior Research in 2005. The company is well regarded in the South African investment 
community and he has been rated by the Financial Mail survey as a Gaming Analyst.

Appointed to the Board on 19 March 2015.

Kevin Stirling Mattison (47)
Managing Director
MBA, CFA and JSE Member

Summary of professional experience:

•	 1989 – 1996: Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
Kevin gained experience in “C” programming, network and application design. He was also the product 
manager for corporate cash management products.

•	 1998 – 2005: Investec Securities South Africa
He worked in Equity Sales and research positions. Kevin managed large institutional equity accounts, and 
provided fundamental research in IT, media, telecommunications and the electronics sectors.

•	 2005 – present: Avior Capital Markets
Co-founded Avior Research with Peter. Kevin in an equities analyst, securing top rated rankings in 
the Financial Mail survey in the Innovative Research, Media, Electronics and Information Technology 
categories.

Appointed to the Board on 19 March 2015.
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Naeem Tilly (34)
Financial Director
CA(SA), CFA

Summary of professional experience:

•	 2005 – 2006: PricewaterhouseCoopers
Naeem completed his articles at PWC where he prepared financial statements and developed audit 
strategies after gaining an understanding of clients. He also critically analysed internal control systems 
and applied audit tests.

•	 2007: RMB Private Equity
He joined RMB as a financial accountant where he was responsible for the preparation of the financial 
accounts for the division. He reported to Group accounting and followed up on accounting-related queries, 
and conducted risk evaluations of potential investments.

•	 2007 – present: Avior Capital Markets
Naeem joined Avior Capital Markets as a research analyst, where he develop a detailed understanding 
of the property sector in South Africa. He creates financial models to forecast company earnings, values 
companies using various valuation methodologies and writes research reports explaining the investment 
thesis. He also presents ideas to local and offshore investors. Naeem was appointed as a Director of Avior 
Capital Markets in March 2013, overlooking accounting, audit, human resources and operational issues. 
He was recently rated the #1 listed property analyst by the Financial Mail. Naeem is the full-time Financial 
Director and oversees the property research analyst team.

Appointed to the Board on 19 March 2015.

Non-Executive Directors:

Marilyn Ramplin (41)
Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Board
Derivatives and Regulatory Qualification – UK Securities Institute

Marilyn holds several independent Non-Executive Board and committee positions and has a background as a 
hedge fund trader, investment banker with JPMorgan and an entrepreneur. Marilyn has served as technical 
advisor to regulators both in South Africa and internationally, including the FSB and National Treasury. Marilyn 
is the founder of Hedge Fund Academy in South Africa and globally recognised as a specialist on credit 
counterparty risk and advised clients such as the Bank of International Settlements. Board and committee 
positions include Investment Solutions, JSE Clear, Strate, various Ashburton Investments entities and RMB 
CIS Manco.

Appointed to the Board with effect from 24 April 2017.

Mark D Collier (62)
Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee
SAID Business School, Oxford UK, WABC Certified Business Coach, HND/BA Business Studies, Bournemouth 
University.

Mark is a highly experienced Non-Executive Director, entrepreneur and business leader with an extensive 
international track-record in developing and building winning financial services businesses. Mark has a rare mix 
of business, strategic, sales and marketing, people and financial management skills and is a regular speaker 
at industry conferences.

As a Non-Executive Director Mark is the Lead Independent Director of Alexander Forbes Group Holdings 
– a leading African Financial Services Group listed on the stock exchange operated by the JSE Limited, an 
independent Director of Sigma Pension Limited, Nigeria and Actis Golf Nigeria Limited and a Director of Bajaj 
Capital Limited in India. To these Boards he brings his depth of management and corporate governance 
experience as Chairman of Remuneration, Nomination, Risk Committees and as a member of the Audit 
Committee.

Appointed to the Board with effect from 24 April 2017.
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Elias Masilela (51)
Independent Non-Executive Director
BA Social Science (Economics and Statistics), MSc (Economic Policy and Analysis, Money, Banking and 
International Economics)

Elias is the Executive Chairman of DNA Economics as well as a member of the 1st and 2nd National Planning 
Commission. He is also Chairman of the V&A Waterfront as well as a member of the Multichoice SA Board and 
Audit Committee. He holds a Master of Sciences in Economic Policy from Addis Ababa University and a 
BA degree in Social Sciences from the University of Swaziland. He is a widely published author and economics 
commentator.

He is the former CEO of the Public Investment Corporation and has sat on the Boards of the South African 
Reserve Bank, Government Employees Pension Fund and the United Nations Global Compact.

Appointed to the Board with effect from 24 April 2017.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT:

Petrus Bosman (36)
Fixed Income, Derivatives, Bonds
B.Bus.Sc (Actuarial Science), M.Sc (Financial Mathematics), CFA charter holder, FRM charter holder

Rated derivatives research analyst since 2006. Part of top-rated derivatives dealing teams since 2005. 
Headed up the fixed income team that won best agency broker house Spire award in 2013 and 2014.

Claudio Marchetti (40)
Stockbroking

Twenty years trading experience, across several asset classes, including local and international markets.

Rob Brownlee (48)
Africa

B.Soc Sc., B Comm (Hons)

JSE sales trader for six years (two years buy side at Old Mutual, four years sell side at Fergusson Bros/
Investec). Five years corporate finance experience in London at Noble, SpringBoard, Merchant SECS). Head of 
I-Net Bridge’s data division and news room for a year-and-a-half. Established and headed pan-African trading 
desk as well as setting up brokerages in Africa for African Alliance for six years. Head of Avior Africa business 
for last three-and-a-half years.

Dana Becker (51)
United Kingdom and Europe

B.Comm (Hons), Member of ISB on JSE

Various roles as Emerging Markets Producer and Head of Research and Sales in London and Johannesburg. 
Prior to Avior Capital Markets, six years at BJM/NOAH as Country Head and Head of Sales (London). Merrill 
Lynch, 10 years as Producer and Head of EM Sales – Johannesburg and London. Prior to broking, ‘87 to ’96, 
Institutional Portfolio Manager at UAL Merchant Bank.

Tersia Lister (34)
Corporate Finance

CA(SA), JSE Approved Executive

Nine years corporate finance experience, including roles as Corporate Finance Officer in the Issuer Regulation 
Division of the JSE and as corporate financier at Grindrod Corporate Finance, advising Main Board and AltX 
listed companies.

Irvin Mariemuthoo (49)
Financial Manager

B.Comm (Accounting)

Financial Manager of Avior Capital Markets for four years. Accounting experience of 27 years. 
Previous companies include BJM, BOE and Hurtz Foods.

Vijay Koselea (38)
In-House Compliance Officer

Vijay joined Avior in January 2017. He has nine years of experience in the market regulation industry. He also 
has certifications and practical experience in the operations side of the business which allows him to understand 
the compliance concerns from both sides.
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ANNEXURE 14

OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS

The table below sets out the names of the companies and other entities of which Avior Holdings Directors, 
as well as the Directors of its Major Subsidiaries are or have been Directors, members or partners during the 
five years preceding the Last Practicable Date.

Director Name of Company or Entity Capacity Status

P Koutromanos Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited Director Active
Avior Capital Investments (RF) Proprietary Limited Director Active
Stately Horse Properties Proprietary Limited Director Active
Avior ETF Funds Proprietary Limited Director Active
A-Trade Proprietary Limited Director Active
CheetahFIX Limited Director Active
Groombridge Nominees Proprietary Limited Director Active

KS Mattison Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited Director Active
Avior ETF Funds Proprietary Limited Director Active
Avior Capital Markets International Limited Director Active
Avior Capital Investments (RF) Proprietary Limited Director Active
Lezmin 1021 (Pty) Ltd. Director Dormant

N Tilly Avior Capital Markets Proprietary Limited Director Active
Avior ETF Funds Proprietary Limited Director Active

M Ramplin Alexander Forbes Life Limited Director Active
Alexander Forbes Insurance Company Limited Director Active
FNB CIS Manco (RF) (Pty) Limited Director Active
Strate Proprietary Limited Director Active
Investment Solutions Holdings Limited Director Active
Investment Solutions Unit Trusts Limited Director Active
Ashburton Pension and Provident Fund Director Active
Ashburton Investments Proprietary Limited Director Active
Ashburton Nominees (RF) (Pty) Limited Director Resigned
SEB Prime Solutions Limited Director Resigned

MD Collier Alexander Forbes Group Holdings Limited Director Active
Alexander Forbes Emerging Markets Proprietary Limited Director Active
Alexander Forbes Insurance Company Proprietary Limited Director Active
Investment Solutions Holdings Proprietary Limited Director Active
Alexander Forbes Financial Services Holdings Proprietary Limited Director Active
Alexander Forbes Life Proprietary Limited Director Active
Bajaj Capital Limited Director Active
Mark Collier Limited Director Active
XGP Capital Limited Director Active
Sigma Pensions Limited Director Active
Actis Golf B.V Director Active

 E Masilela DNA Economics Proprietary Limited Director Active
Multichoice SA Proprietary Limited Director Active
Alternative Prosperity Holdings Director Active
V&A Waterfront Proprietary Limited Director Active
V&A Waterfront Holdings (Pty) Limited Director Active
V&A Waterfront Marina (Pty) Limited Director Active
V&A Waterfront Developments (Pty) Limited Director Active
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Director Name of Company or Entity Capacity Status

Victoria and Alfred Waterfront (Pty) Limited Director Active
Ingagaru Holdings (RF) (Pty) Limited Director Active
Ingagaru Vision (RF) (Pty) Limited Director Active
Ingagaru Investments (Pty) Limited Director Active
Buma Consulting (Pty) Limited Director Active
Apros Special Vehicle (Pty) Limited Director Active
Alternative Prosperity Strategic Investments (Pty) Limited Director Active
Alternative Prosperity BEE Investments (Pty) Limited Director Active
Alternative Prosperity Advisory and Products (Pty) Limited Director Active
Fairtree Impact Capital (Pty) Limited Director Active
EP Investments (Pty) Limited Director Active
ABSA Asset Management (Pty) Limited Director Active
Capital Harvest (Pty) Limited Director Active
Newshelf 904 (Pty) Limited Director Active
Thanduxolo Transport Services (Pty) Limited Director Resigned
Airports Company South Africa SOC Limited Director Resigned
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ANNEXURE 16

DETAILS REGARDING PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES OCCUPIED

Principle immovable property leased are set out below:

Owner Property Type Location
Rental 

(excl VAT)
Unexpired 

term of lease Area

Redefine 
Properties 
Limited

Offices Suite 1003,
1st Floor,
82 on Maude,
82 Maude Street, 
Sandton, 2916

R215 944 6 months 951 m2

Abkor 
Construction CC

Offices 3rd Floor,
The Hudson,
28 Hudson 
Street,
Cape Town, 8001

R202 490 3 months 456 m2

Fox-Davies  
Capital Limited

Offices 5th Floor,
1 Tudor Street, 
London,
EC4Y 0AH

£3 300 3 months 60 m2

There are no principle immovable properties which are owned by Avior Holdings.

Owner Property Type Location
Rental 

(excl VAT)
Unexpired 

term of lease Area

The Trustees for 
the time being of 
The 140 West 
Street Trust*

Offices 140 West Street, 
Sandton, 2916

R329 636 84 months 1,207 m2

*  Avior Capital Markets entered into a new lease with The 140 West Street Trust on 13 December 2016 for the relocation of its Johannesburg 
operations. The current Johannesburg operations will be relocated to The 140 West Street building in Sandton and will take occupancy 
with take effect from 01 October 2017. The office relocation costs is estimated to R10 million. 
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ANNEXURE 17

DIRECTORS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES

The table below contains particulars of the Directors of Avior Holdings’ major subsidiary, Avior Capital Markets:

Full Name Age Capacity Business Address

P Koutromanos 49 Executive Director Suite 1003, 1st Floor, 82 on Maude, 82 Maude Street, 
Sandton, 2916

KS Mattison 46 Executive Director 3rd Floor, The Hudson, 28 Hudson Street, Cape Town, 
8001

N Tilly 34 Executive Director Suite 1003, 1st Floor, 82 on Maude, 82 Maude Street, 
Sandton, 2916
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ANNEXURE 18

RESOLUTIONS ADOPTED

The extracts of the resolutions that have been adopted by Avior Holdings during the 2016 financial year are as 
follows:

Special resolution number 1 – increase in authorised ordinary Share capital

“Resolved that, in accordance with section 36(3)(a) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended 
(“Companies Act”), that the Company be and is hereby authorised to increase its existing authorised ordinary 
Share capital (“Authorised Share Capital Increase”) comprising 4 000 (four thousand) ordinary Shares, each of 
no par value (“Existing Authorised Share Capital”), by the creation of an additional 399 996 000 (three hundred 
and ninety-nine million nine hundred and ninety-six thousand) ordinary Shares, each of no par value, ranking 
pari passu in all respects with the Existing Authorised Share Capital of the Company, such that immediately 
following the Authorised Share Capital Increase, the Company’s authorised Share capital shall comprise a total 
of 400 000 000 (four hundred million) ordinary Shares, each of no par value (“Amended Authorised Share 
Capital”).”

Special resolution number 2 – approval and adoption of the new Memorandum of Incorporation

“Resolved as a Special Resolution that the existing Memorandum and Articles of Association for the Company 
be abrogated in its entirety and replaced with a new Memorandum of Incorporation, which is aligned with the 
requirements in terms of section 16 (1) (c) read with section 16 (5) (a) of the Companies Act, with effect from 
the date of filing thereof at the Companies Intellectual Property Commission.”

Special resolution number 3 – conversion of the company from a private company to a public company

“Resolved as a Special Resolution that, subject to the passing of Special Resolution Number 2, the Company 
be and is hereby converted from a private company to a public company.”

Special resolution number 4 – change of company name

“Resolved as a Special Resolution that, subject to the passing of Special Resolution Number 2 and Special 
Resolution Number 3, the name of the Company be and is hereby changed from “Avior Capital Markets 
Holdings Proprietary Limited” to “Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited.”

Ordinary resolution number 1

“RESOLVED THAT, Marilyn Ramplin, being a new appointment to the Board of Directors of the Company, who 
retires in accordance with the provisions of clause 34.5.1 of the Company’s MOI, and being eligible and 
offering herself available for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as independent, Non-Executive Director 
and Chairman of the Company.”

Ordinary resolution number 2

“RESOLVED THAT, Mark Collier, being a new appointment to the Board of Directors of the Company, who 
retires in accordance with the provisions of clause 34.5.1 of the Company’s MOI, and being eligible and 
offering herself available for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as independent, Non-Executive Director 
of the Company.”

Ordinary resolution number 3

“RESOLVED THAT, Elias Masilela, being a new appointment to the Board of Directors of the Company, who 
retires in accordance with the provisions of clause 34.5.1 of the Company’s MOI, and being eligible and 
offering himself available for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as independent, Non-Executive Director 
of the Company.”

Ordinary resolution number 4

“RESOLVED THAT, the members of the Company’s audit and risk committee as set out below be and are 
hereby appointed, as recommended by the Board of Directors of the Company, each by way of a separate 
vote, until the next annual general meeting of the Company, in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act. 
The membership proposed by the Board of Directors is:
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•	 Mark Collier (Chairperson)
•	 Marilyn Ramplin; and
•	 Elias Masilela

all of whom are independent Non-Executive Directors.”

Ordinary resolution number 4

“RESOLVED THAT, PKF (VGA) Chartered Accountants (with the designated partner being Herman Nieuwoudt) 
be and is hereby re-appointed as auditor of the Company for the ensuing year on the recommendation of the 
audit and risk committee of the Company.”

Special resolution number 1: Inter-company financial assistance

“RESOLVED, in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, that the Board of the 
Company be and is hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or indirect financial 
assistance (“financial assistance” will herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 45(1) of the Companies 
Act) that the Board of the Company may deem fit to any company or corporation that is related or inter-related 
(“related” or “inter-related” will herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies Act) to 
the Company, on the terms and conditions and for amounts that the Board of the Company may determine, 
provided that the aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the next annual general meeting of 
the Company.”

Special resolution number 2: Financial assistance for the subscription and/or purchase of Shares in the 
Company or a related or inter-related company

“RESOLVED, in terms of section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, that the Board of the 
Company be and is hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or indirect financial 
assistance (“financial assistance” will herein have the meaning attributed to it in sections 44(1) and 44(2) of 
the Companies Act), that the Board of the Company may deem fit to any company or corporation that is related 
or inter-related to the company (“related” or “inter-related” will herein have the meaning attributed to it in 
section 2 of the Companies Act) and/or to any financier who provides funding by subscribing for preference 
Shares or other securities in the Company or any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the 
Company, on the terms and conditions and for amounts that the Board of the Company may determine for the 
purpose of, or in connection with the subscription of any option, or any Shares or other securities, issued or to 
be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, or for the purchase of any 
Shares or securities of the Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, provided that the 
aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the next annual general meeting of the Company.”

Special resolution number 3: Share repurchases by Avior Holdings and its subsidiaries

“RESOLVED as a special resolution, that the Company and the subsidiaries of the Company be and are hereby 
authorised, as a general approval, to repurchase any of the Shares issued by the Company, upon such terms 
and conditions and in such amounts as the Directors may from time to time determine, but subject to the 
provisions of sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act, the MOI of the Company, the Listings Requirements 
and the requirements of any other stock exchange on which the Shares of the Company may be quoted or 
listed, including, inter alia, that:

•	 the general repurchase of the Shares may only be implemented through the order book operated by the 
JSE trading system and done without any prior understanding or arrangement between the Company and 
the counterparty;

•	 this general authority shall only be valid until the next annual general meeting of the Company, provided 
that it shall not extend beyond 15 months from the date of this resolution;

•	 an announcement must be published as soon as the Company has acquired Shares constituting, on a 
cumulative basis, 3% of the number of Shares in issue prior to the acquisition, pursuant to which the 
aforesaid 3% threshold is reached, containing full details thereof, as well as for each 3% in aggregate of 
the initial number of Shares acquired thereafter;

•	 the general authority to repurchase is limited to a maximum of 20%, in the aggregate, in any one financial 
year of the Company’s issued Share capital at the time the authority is granted;

•	 a resolution has been passed by the Board of Directors approving the purchase, that the Company has 
satisfied the solvency and liquidity test as defined in the Companies Act and that since the solvency and 
liquidity test was applied there have been no material changes to the financial position of the Company and 
its subsidiaries (“the Group”);
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•	 the general repurchase is authorised by the Company’s MOI;
•	 repurchases must not be made at a price more than 10% above the weighted average of the market value 

of the Shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date that the transaction is effected. 
The JSE will be consulted for a ruling if the Company’s securities have not traded in such five business 
day period;

•	 the Company may at any point in time only appoint one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on the Company’s 
behalf; and

•	 the Company may not effect a repurchase during any prohibited period as defined in terms of the Listings 
Requirements unless there is a repurchase programme in place, which programme has been submitted to 
the JSE in writing and executed by an independent third party, as contemplated in terms of paragraph 5.72(g) 
of the Listings Requirements.”

Special resolution number 4: Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration

“RESOLVED in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, that the Company be and is hereby authorised 
to remunerate its Non-Executive Directors for their services as Directors on the basis set out below, provided 
that this authority will be valid until the next annual general meeting of the Company.”

ANNUAL FEE 
(2017) 

R

Non-Executive Directors fee 150 000
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